

On entropy production of repeated quantum measurements II. Examples

Tristan Benoist, Noé Cuneo, Vojkan Jakšić, Claude-Alain Pillet

▶ To cite this version:

Tristan Benoist, Noé Cuneo, Vojkan Jakšić, Claude-Alain Pillet. On entropy production of repeated quantum measurements II. Examples. Journal of Statistical Physics, 2021, 182 (3), pp.44. 10.1007/s10955-021-02725-1. hal-03046239v2

HAL Id: hal-03046239 https://hal.science/hal-03046239v2

Submitted on 23 Feb 2021

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

On entropy production of repeated quantum measurements II. Examples

T. Benoist¹, N. Cuneo², V. Jakšić³, C-A. Pillet⁴

¹Institut de Mathématiques de Toulouse, UMR5219, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, UPS IMT, F-31062 Toulouse Cedex 9, France

²Laboratoire de Probabilités, Statistique et Modélisation (LPSM) Université de Paris - CNRS - Sorbonne Université, F-75205 Paris Cedex 13, France

³Department of Mathematics and Statistics, McGill University, 805 Sherbrooke Street West, Montreal, QC, H3A 2K6, Canada

⁴Aix Marseille Univ, Université de Toulon, CNRS, CPT, Marseille, France

Dedicated to Joel Lebowitz on the occasion of his 90th birthday

Abstract. We illustrate the mathematical theory of entropy production in repeated quantum measurement processes developed in a previous work by studying examples of quantum instruments displaying various interesting phenomena and singularities. We emphasize the role of the thermodynamic formalism, and give many examples of quantum instruments whose resulting probability measures on the space of infinite sequences of outcomes (shift space) do not have the (weak) Gibbs property. We also discuss physically relevant examples where the entropy production rate satisfies a large deviation principle but fails to obey the central limit theorem and the fluctuation–dissipation theorem. Throughout the analysis, we explore the connections with other, a priori unrelated topics like functions of Markov chains, hidden Markov models, matrix products and number theory.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	2
	1.1	Direct measurements and the time irreversibility of the projection postulate	3
		Setup	
	1.3	Von Neumann instruments	11
	1.4	Probe measurements	12
		1.4.1 One-time measurements	13
		1.4.2 Two-time measurements	13
	1.5	On the role of the thermodynamic formalism	18
	1.6	Miscellaneous remarks	21

2	Exa	mples	22		
	2.1	Positive matrix product measures and instruments	23		
		2.1.1 Basic examples	24		
		2.1.2 The Keep–Switch PMP instrument	26		
		2.1.3 XXZ-spin instruments	28		
		2.1.4 X00-spin instruments	30		
	2.2	The hidden Markov model perspective	33		
	2.3	Rotational instruments	38		
3	Keej	p–Switch instruments	39		
	3.1	Proof of Theorem 2.10, Part (ii)	39		
	3.2	The FM representation	40		
	3.3	The FM entropy production	41		
	3.4	Proof of Theorem 2.10, Parts (iii) and (iv)	44		
	3.5	Proof of Theorem 2.10, Part (v)	47		
	3.6	Proof of Theorem 2.10, Part (vi)	48		
	3.7	Proof of Theorem 2.26	50		
4	Spin	instruments	52		
	4.1	XXZ-spin instruments	52		
		4.1.1 One-time measurements	52		
		4.1.2 Two-time measurements with a thermal probe	54		
		4.1.3 Two-time measurements with random thermal probes	56		
		4.1.4 Two-time measurements with multi-thermal probes	57		
	4.2	X00-spin instruments	60		
		4.2.1 One-time measurements	60		
		4.2.2 Two-time measurements with a thermal probe	61		
		4.2.3 Two-time measurements with random thermal probes	62		
5	Rota	ational instruments	63		
A	Con	tinued fractions	67		
Re	References				

1 Introduction

This paper is a companion to [BJPP18] and its goal is to complement the general theory of repeated quantum measurement processes developed therein. In the present paper, we explore the rich class of invariant probability measures on shift spaces that result from such repeated quantum measurement processes and show that, depending on the physical models and their parameters (sometimes even on the number-theoretic properties of the parameters), very interesting and singular properties arise. We discuss connections with classes of measures that have been widely studied in the literature (Gibbs and weak Gibbs measures, Markov measures, hidden Markov models, matrix product measures, ...). In many physically motivated examples, we obtain explicit expressions for the mean entropy production and the associated entropic pressure.

We refer the reader to the general introduction of [BJPP18] for historical perspectives and physical motivations. We also note that a repeated measurement process can be viewed as a singular kind of repeated interaction process. Recently, the latter have been intensively studied as alternative to

stochastic modeling of thermodynamic behavior in open quantum systems (see the review [BJM14] and references therein). Irrespective of physical motivations, many examples analyzed here might be of interest to researchers in the fields of dynamical systems, probability and statistics; see Section 2.2.

The paper is organized as follows. In Section 1.1, we briefly discuss the nature of time evolution and its reversibility in quantum mechanics, complementing Section 1.1 in [BJPP18]. The following Sections 1.2–1.4 are devoted to a review of the setup and results of [BJPP18], combined with refinements established in [CJPS19]. The role of the thermodynamic formalism in the general theory is discussed in Section 1.5. In Section 1.6 we finish the introduction with some additional remarks. In Section 2 we outline the main results of the paper. The proofs are given in Sections 3, 4, and 5. We postpone a more detailed description of the structure of Sections 2–5 to the beginning of Section 2, after some notation and concepts are introduced.

This paper will be followed by the works [BCJ⁺a, BCJ⁺b], dealing respectively with the statistical mechanics of repeated quantum measurements¹ and with the quantum detailed balance condition.

It is an honour and pleasure to dedicate this work to Joel Lebowitz on the occasion of his 90th birthday. Throughout the years the two senior authors VJ and CAP learned greatly from Joel and benefited from his wisdom, generosity and friendship. They will always remain grateful for that.

Acknowledgments. This research was supported by the *Agence Nationale de la Recherche* through the grant NONSTOPS (ANR-17-CE40-0006-01, ANR-17-CE40-0006-02, ANR-17-CE40-0006-03), and the CNRS collaboration grant *Fluctuation theorems in stochastic systems*. Additionally, this work received funding by the CY Initiative of Excellence (grant "Investissements d'Avenir" ANR-16-IDEX-0008) and was developed during VJ's stay at the CY Advanced Studies, whose support is gratefully acknowledged. The research of TB was supported by ANR-11-LABX-0040-CIMI within the program ANR-11-IDEX-0002-02. NC and TB were also supported by the ANR grant QTRAJ (ANR-20-CE40-0024-01). VJ acknowledges the support of NSERC. The work of CAP has been carried out in the framework of the Labex Archimède (ANR-11-LABX-0033) and of the A*MIDEX project (ANR-11-IDEX-0001-02), funded by the "Investissements d'Avenir" French Government programme managed by the French National Research Agency (ANR). We wish to thank D. Roy and D. Jakobson for useful discussions.

1.1 Direct measurements and the time irreversibility of the projection postulate

According to most introductory textbooks on quantum mechanics (see, e.g., [CTDL77, Chapter III]), and following the initial formulation by von Neumann [vN55], there are two ways the state of a quantum system can evolve. If the system is kept isolated during some period of time, then its state (represented by a density matrix² ρ) is updated according to the deterministic rule

$$\rho \mapsto \rho' = U\rho U^*, \tag{1.1}$$

where U is a unitary operator related to the total energy of the system through the time-dependent Schrödinger equation. The second one is related to measurements: if the system is subject to the direct measurement of a physical observable, then its state after the measurement will depend on the outcome of the measurement, which is a random quantity. A measurement allowing only a finite number of distinct outcomes labeled by a finite alphabet \mathcal{A} can be modeled by a resolution of the identity indexed by \mathcal{A} , *i.e.*, a family $(P_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ of mutually orthogonal projections summing up

¹Many additional examples are considered in [BCJ⁺a].

²A density matrix ρ is a non-negative operator whose trace satisfies tr(ρ) = 1.

to the identity. By the projection postulate, the measurement updates the system state according to the stochastic rule³

$$\rho \mapsto \widetilde{\rho}_a = \frac{P_a \rho P_a}{p_a},\tag{1.2}$$

where $p_a = tr(P_a\rho)$ is the probability for the outcome *a* to occur. As a result, for the observer unaware of this outcome, the state of the system after the measurement is

$$\widetilde{\rho} = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} p_a \widetilde{\rho}_a = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} P_a \rho P_a.$$
(1.3)

As already noticed by von Neumann, the deterministic evolution (1.1) does not increase the statistical uncertainty of the state. More precisely, the von Neumann entropy, $S(\rho) = -\text{tr}(\rho \log \rho)$, remains constant during this first kind of evolution: $S(\rho') = S(\rho)$. In contrast, the stochastic rule (1.2,1.3) increases this statistical uncertainty in the sense that $S(\rho) \ge S(\rho)$, with strict inequality unless each projection P_a commutes with ρ so that $\rho = \rho$. Inspired by a strong analogy with thermodynamics, the peculiar properties of quantum measurements were sometimes proposed to be at the origin of the thermodynamic arrow of time (see for example [vN55, Boh51]).

Note that when the initial state has maximal entropy, any measurement yields $S(\tilde{\rho}) = S(\rho)$, and hence $\tilde{\rho} = \rho$. This applies to systems with finite-dimensional Hilbert spaces when ρ is a multiple of the identity. More generally, if ρ maximizes the entropy under some linear constraints $\operatorname{tr}(\rho C_j) = \gamma_j$, it is easy to see that any measurement such that each projection P_a commutes with all C_j gives a $\tilde{\rho}$ satisfying the same constraints. Hence, again, $\tilde{\rho} = \rho$. This also applies to constraints of the type $\rho = Q_j \rho = \rho Q_j$ where the orthogonal projections Q_j commute with the P_a (thus, in particular, to superselection rules). This is consistent with the commonly encountered assertion that the low entropy of the initial state of the universe is responsible for the observed irreversibility of its evolution.

In this respect, it is worth noticing that in his well-known discussion of the arrow of time and Boltzmann's entropy [Leb93], Lebowitz wrote a section on quantum mechanics where he refers to one of his early works with Aharonov and Bergmann [ABL64]. In the latter, building on Wigner's motto "the laws of quantum mechanics only furnish probability connections between results of subsequent observations carried out on a system" [Wig63], the authors take Born's rule as their starting point and study the reversibility of successive measurements from a statistical ensemble point of view. In a spirit similar to [ABL64], our research program follows the footsteps of Heisenberg and von Neumann, and can be broadly described as the study of the statistical properties of quantum-mechanical probabilistic rules and the resulting irreversibility in the specific setting of repeated quantum measurement processes. Its general description is given in the introduction of [BJPP18], and in the sequel we will occasionally further comment on it.

Returning to [ABL64], in Section 1.3, we reformulate successive direct measurements in our language, and recover the reversibility of the measurement outcome sequence, that is, the first crucial observation made in [ABL64]. From a technical perspective, the other results in [ABL64] are based on the above remarks about states of maximal entropy and on the ability to implement preand post-selection mechanisms by fixing the outcome of the first and the last measurement. We do not discuss these observations in the present article. Compared to [ABL64], we are concerned with the repetition of the same direct or indirect measurement with the possibility of added internal and external dynamical contributions. The introduction of these dynamical contributions may result in

³Such an instantaneous direct measurement is, of course, an idealization, most real measurements are indirect and require some finite time to complete (see [FGH19] for a concrete study).

⁴See [vN55, Section V.3]. In modern parlance, this follows from the operator-convexity of the function $x \mapsto x \log x$, see, e.g., [Car10].

non-zero entropy production and therefore in irreversibility. In an upcoming publication [BCJ⁺b], we provide necessary and sufficient conditions on the measurement to generate non-vanishing entropy production and therefore irreversibility.

1.2 Setup

Throughout the paper we will use the following notations and conventions. \mathcal{H} denotes a Hilbert space of finite dimension d. The inner product of two elements $u, v \in \mathcal{H}$, denoted by $\langle u | v \rangle$, is assumed to be linear in its second argument. $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is the C^* -algebra of linear operators on \mathcal{H} , and $\mathbb{1}$ denotes its unit. A self-adjoint element $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ is positive, written $X \ge 0$, if its spectrum $\operatorname{sp}(X)$ is a subset of $[0, \infty[$. It is strictly positive, written X > 0, if $\operatorname{sp}(X) \subset]0, \infty[$. A linear map $\Phi : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ preserving positivity is called positive. We denote by Φ^* the adjoint of Φ w.r.t. the Hilbert–Schmidt inner product $(Y | X) = \operatorname{tr}(Y^*X)$ on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$. A positive map Φ is called irreducible if the relation $\Phi[P] \le \lambda P$ for some orthogonal projection P and some $\lambda > 0$ holds only for $P \in \{0, 1\}$ (see [EHK78]). A positive map Φ is called positivity improving if $\Phi[X] > 0$ for any $X \ge 0$, $X \ne 0$. Φ is completely positive whenever $\Phi \otimes \operatorname{Id}$ is positive as a map on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \otimes \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K}) \simeq \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{K})$ for any finite-dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{K} .

We shall consider measurements whose possible outcomes can be labeled by a finite alphabet \mathcal{A} . The measurement process itself is described by a pair (\mathcal{J}, ρ) , where $\mathcal{J} := (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ is a quantum instrument on \mathcal{H} , and ρ is the initial state of the system. Here, the Φ_a are completely positive maps on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$\Phi := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a$$

satisfies $\Phi[\mathbb{1}] = \mathbb{1}$, and ρ is identified with a density matrix on \mathcal{H} . We write⁵ $\Omega_T := \mathcal{A}^T$, and denote its elements by $\omega = (\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T)$, and sometimes simply $\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T$. For $\omega \in \Omega_T$, we define

$$\Phi_{\omega} := \Phi_{\omega_1} \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{\omega_T}.$$

The probability measure defined on Ω_T by the mass function

$$\mathbb{P}_T(a_1, \dots, a_T) := \operatorname{tr}\left(\rho\left(\Phi_{a_1} \circ \dots \circ \Phi_{a_T}\right)[\mathbb{1}]\right) \tag{1.4}$$

describes the statistics of the first T outcomes of the repeated measurement process generated by (\mathcal{J}, ρ) ; see [BJPP18] and Section 1.4 for details. By a slight abuse of notation, we shall also use the symbol \mathbb{P}_T to denote this probability measure.

The set of infinite sequences of measurement outcomes is $\Omega := \mathcal{A}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$, and we equip it with the metric $d(\omega, \omega') := \lambda^{k(\omega, \omega')}$, where $\lambda \in]0, 1[$ is fixed and $k(\omega, \omega') := \inf\{t \in \mathbb{N}^* \mid \omega_t \neq \omega'_t\}$. This metric generates the product topology and the pair (Ω, d) is a compact metric space. \mathcal{F} denotes the associated Borel σ -algebra, $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$ the set of probability measures on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) and $\operatorname{supp} \mathbb{P}$ the support of $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(\Omega)$, which consists of all points $\omega \in \Omega$ such that $\mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T) > 0$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We equip $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$ with the topology of weak convergence which turns it into a compact metric space.

The following terminology will also be used in the sequel. We take the convention that Ω_0 contains only the empty word which has length zero and mass $\mathbb{P}_0() = 1$. We denote by

$$\Omega_{\mathrm{fin}} := \bigcup_{T \in \mathbb{N}} \Omega_T$$

⁵For an integer T, A^T denotes the T-fold cartesian product of the set A with itself.

⁶N denotes the set of natural integers including 0, and $\mathbb{N}^* := \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. $\mathcal{A}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ is the set of sequences $\omega = (\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots)$.

the set of finite words from the alphabet \mathcal{A} . For $\omega \in \Omega$ and $S, T \in \mathbb{N}^*, S \leq T$, we set⁷

$$\omega_{\llbracket S,T \rrbracket} := (\omega_S, \dots, \omega_T) \in \Omega_{T-S+1}.$$

Finally, for $a \in \mathcal{A}$, a^T is the word $\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T$ where $\omega_i = a$ for all $i \in [\![1, T]\!]$. The length of $\eta = (\eta_1, \dots, \eta_T) \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ is $|\eta| = T$, the cylinder with base η is the set⁸

$$[\eta] := \left\{ \omega \in \Omega \mid \omega_{\mathbb{I},T\mathbb{I}} = \eta \right\}$$

and $\eta\omega$ denotes the concatenation of η with $\omega \in \Omega_{\text{fin}} \cup \Omega$, *i.e.*,

$$\eta \omega := (\eta_1, \ldots, \eta_T, \omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots)$$

There is a unique $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}(\Omega)$ such that, for all $\eta \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$

$$\mathbb{P}([\eta]) = \mathbb{P}_{|\eta|}(\eta).$$

This measure describes the complete statistics of the repeated measurement process generated by (\mathcal{J}, ρ) . We shall denote by \mathbb{E} the expectation w.r.t. the measure \mathbb{P} . With a slight abuse of terminology, we shall sometimes say that the pair (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a quantum instrument and refer to $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P})$ or simply to \mathbb{P} as its *unraveling*.

Different instruments acting on possibly different Hilbert spaces may have the same unraveling. Given a probability measure \mathbb{P} on (Ω, \mathcal{F}) , we denote by $\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$ the collection of all instruments (\mathcal{J}, ρ) whose unraveling is \mathbb{P} . $\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$ might be empty, but it is never a singleton. Although our analysis is focused on unravelings, their instrumental origin is of central importance regarding the formulation, relevance, and interpretation of our results.

We shall only consider instruments (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfying the following assumption:

Assumption (A)
$$\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$$
 and $\rho > 0$.

It is worth pointing out that assuming $\rho > 0$ in (A) is not a restriction. Setting $\mathcal{K} = \operatorname{Ran} \rho$ and using $\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$, one easily shows that each Φ_a preserves the subspace $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{K})$ of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$, and that the restriction of the instrument \mathcal{J} to \mathcal{K} is also an instrument. By replacing \mathcal{H} with \mathcal{K} one then obtains an instrument with the same unraveling for which (A) holds.

Assumption (A) has several important consequences.

(i) The unraveling $\mathbb P$ of $(\mathcal J,\rho)$ is invariant under the left-shift

$$\phi: \quad \begin{array}{ccc} \Omega & \to & \Omega, \\ (\omega_1, \omega_2, \ldots) & \mapsto & (\omega_2, \omega_3, \ldots), \end{array}$$

i.e., $\mathbb{P} \circ \phi^{-1} = \mathbb{P}$. We denote by $\mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ the set of ϕ -invariant elements of $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$.

(ii) Extending the function \mathbb{P}_T by setting $\Omega \ni \omega \mapsto \mathbb{P}_T(\omega) = \mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T)$, the following upper-decoupling property holds [BJPP18, Lemma 3.4]: for all $T, S \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\mathbb{P}_{T+S}(\omega) \le \lambda_0^{-1} \mathbb{P}_T(\omega) \mathbb{P}_S \circ \phi^T(\omega), \tag{1.5}$$

where $\lambda_0 = \min \operatorname{sp}(\rho) \in [0, 1]$, and ϕ^T denotes the *T*-fold composition of ϕ with itsef.

⁷For any integers $i \leq j$ we set $[\![i, j]\!] = [i, j] \cap \mathbb{Z}$.

⁸By convention, the cylinder with empty base is Ω .

(iii) The so-called *outcome reversal* (abbreviated OR) is well defined. Its construction involves a choice of involution $\theta : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$. Given (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfying (A) with $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$, the pair $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$ with $\widehat{\mathcal{J}} := (\widehat{\Phi}_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ and $\widehat{\rho}$ defined by

$$\widehat{\Phi}_{a}[X] := \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Phi_{\theta(a)}^{*} \left[\rho^{\frac{1}{2}} X \rho^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \rho^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad \widehat{\rho} := \rho,$$
(1.6)

also satisfies (A), and the unraveling $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ of $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$ is determined by

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T) = \mathbb{P}_T(\theta(\omega_T), \dots, \theta(\omega_1)).$$
(1.7)

We shall refer to $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})/\widehat{\mathbb{P}}/\mathfrak{J}_{\widehat{\mathbb{P}}}$ as the OR of $(\mathcal{J}, \rho)/\mathbb{P}/\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$. For additional discussion of the OR, see [Cro08] and [BJPP18, BCJ⁺b]. We emphasize that the OR depends on the choice of the involution θ .

The work [BJPP18] concerned a proposal for the study of the emergence of the quantum arrow of time in repeated quantum measurement processes. This emergence is identified with a suitable degree of *distinguishability* between (\mathcal{J}, ρ) and its OR $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$, and is quantified by the entropic distinguishability of the respective unravelings \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$. This entropic distinguishability is closely linked to notions of entropy production in non-equilibrium statistical mechanics and hypothesis testing in statistics, and was examined in [BJPP18] on two levels:

- I: Asymptotics of relative entropies and mean entropy production rate, Stein error exponent.
- **II**: Asymptotics of Rényi's relative entropies and fluctuations of entropy production, large deviation principle (LDP) and fluctuation theorem, Chernoff and Hoeffding error exponents.

The results of [BJPP18] regarding the LDP and fluctuation theorem were further refined in [CJPS19]. To state the combined set of results, we introduce the remaining assumptions of [BJPP18]. The first of them is a non-triviality assumption (see Section 2.2 in [BJPP18]), which we will always assume to hold without further saying:

Assumption (B) supp $\mathbb{P}_T = \text{supp } \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

The last and central assumption concerns the main technical tool of [BJPP18], the non-additive thermodynamic formalism of dynamical systems⁹, and complements the upper-decoupling property (1.5) with a suitable lower decoupling property. To motivate this assumption, we recall the following result; see [BJPP18, Fen09].

Proposition 1.1. Suppose that the map $\Phi = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a$ is irreducible. Then there exist C > 0 and $\tau \ge 0$ such that for all $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ one can find $\xi, \hat{\xi} \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ satisfying $|\xi| \le \tau$, $|\hat{\xi}| \le \tau$, so that

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega\xi\nu]) \ge C\mathbb{P}([\omega])\mathbb{P}([\nu]), \qquad \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega\xi\nu]) \ge C\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega])\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\nu]). \tag{1.8}$$

Starting with the lower-decoupling property (1.8), one can go quite far in an independent study of the dynamical systems $(\Omega, \phi, \mathbb{P})$ and $(\Omega, \phi, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$. However, our simultaneous analysis of the pair $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ requires (1.8) to hold with $\xi = \widehat{\xi}$.

Assumption (C) There exist C > 0 and $\tau \ge 0$ such that for all $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ one can find $\xi \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ satisfying $0 \le |\xi| \le \tau$, so that

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega\xi\nu]) \ge C\mathbb{P}([\omega])\mathbb{P}([\nu]), \qquad \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega\xi\nu]) \ge C\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega])\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\nu]). \tag{1.9}$$

⁹see [Bar11] for a general introduction to this topic.

Unlike Assumptions (A) and (B) which are assumed throughout, we shall mention explicitly when Assumption (C) is in force.

Remark 1.2. Assumption (C) implies that \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ are ϕ -ergodic; see [CJPS19, Lemma A.2].

Remark 1.3. Assumption (C) was phrased differently in [BJPP18]. However, under Assumption (A) and more precisely condition (1.5), it is easy to show that the present phrasing and the one of [BJPP18] are in fact equivalent.

Remark 1.4. If $\tau = 0$, then Assumption (C) reduces to Assumption (D) of [BJPP18]. In that case, for all $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$, one has

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega\nu]) \ge C\mathbb{P}([\omega])\mathbb{P}([\nu]), \qquad \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega\nu]) \ge C\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega])\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\nu])$$

Remark 1.5. In [BJPP18, Proposition 2.6], it is proven that if the completely positive map $\Psi : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}) \rightarrow \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H})$ defined by

$$\Psi = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a \otimes \widehat{\Phi}_a$$

is irreducible on $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H})$, then Assumption (C) holds.

The central object of study in [BJPP18] was the sequence of random variables

$$\Omega \ni \omega \mapsto \sigma_T(\omega) := \log \frac{\mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T)}{\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T)},$$
(1.10)

which quantifies the irreversibility, or equivalently, the entropy production of the measurement process.¹⁰ We recall that

$$\mathbb{E}(\sigma_T) = S(\mathbb{P}_T | \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T) \ge 0$$

is the relative entropy of the pair $(\mathbb{P}_T, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T)$. The cumulant-generating function at $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$e_T(\alpha) := \log \mathbb{E}\left(e^{-\alpha\sigma_T}\right) = \log \sum_{\omega \in \text{supp } \mathbb{P}_T} \mathbb{P}_T(\omega)^{1-\alpha} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega)^{\alpha} =: S_{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{P}_T | \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T),$$

is the relative Rényi entropy. The next theorem summarizes the main results of [BJPP18] combined with refinements obtained in [CJPS19].

Theorem 1.6. The following results hold.

(i) The (possibly infinite) limit

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) \coloneqq \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \mathbb{E}(\sigma_T)$$
(1.11)

exists and is non-negative. We call it the mean entropy production rate of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) . See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.1] and [CJPS19, Section 6.2].

(ii) The limit

$$\overline{\sigma}(\omega) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sigma_T(\omega)$$

exists \mathbb{P} -almost surely and satisfies $\overline{\sigma} \circ \phi = \overline{\sigma}$. Moreover, $\mathbb{E}(\overline{\sigma}) = \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho)$ and

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left(\left| \frac{1}{T} \sigma_T - \overline{\sigma} \right| \right) = 0$$

holds whenever $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) < \infty$. The number $\overline{\sigma}(\omega)$ is the entropy production rate of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) along the trajectory ω . See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.1].

 $^{^{10}\}sigma_T$ is often called the *log-likelihood ratio* in the framework of hypothesis testing, and *relative information random* variable in information theory.

- (iii) Suppose that the dynamical system $(\Omega, \mathbb{P}, \phi)$ is ergodic.¹¹ Then $\overline{\sigma} = ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho)$ holds \mathbb{P} -almost surely and $\mathbb{P} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}} \iff ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$. See [BJPP18, Proposition 2.2].
- (iv) For any $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$, let

$$s_T(\epsilon) := \min\{\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\mathcal{T}) \mid \mathcal{T} \subset \Omega_T, \mathbb{P}_T(\mathcal{T}^c) \le \epsilon\},\$$

where $\mathcal{T}^c = \Omega_T \setminus \mathcal{T}$. The numbers

$$\underline{s}(\epsilon) := \liminf_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log s_T(\epsilon) \quad and \quad \overline{s}(\epsilon) := \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log s_T(\epsilon)$$

are called the Stein's error exponents of the pair $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ *. If* $(\Omega, \mathbb{P}, \phi)$ *is ergodic, then for any* $\epsilon \in [0, 1]$

$$\underline{s}(\epsilon) = \overline{s}(\epsilon) = -\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho)$$

See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.3].

Suppose now that Assumption (C) holds. We then have the following:

(v) For all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the (possibly infinite) limit

$$e(\alpha) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} e_T(\alpha) \in \left] - \infty, \infty\right]$$
(1.12)

exists. We call it the entropic pressure of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) . The function *e* is convex, satisfies e(0) = e(1) = 0, and the symmetry

$$e(\alpha) = e(1 - \alpha), \qquad \alpha \in \mathbb{R},$$
 (1.13)

holds. Moreover, the function e is non-positive on [0,1], non-negative on $\mathbb{R} \setminus [0,1]$, differentiable on]0,1[, and 12

$$(\partial^{-}e)(1) = -(\partial^{+}e)(0) = \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho).$$
 (1.14)

See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.4, Theorem 2.5] and [CJPS19, Theorem 2.8].

- (vi) If Assumption (C) holds with $\tau = 0$, then e is finite and differentiable on \mathbb{R} . See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.8].
- (vii) Under the law \mathbb{P} , the sequence of random variables $\left(\frac{1}{T}\sigma_T(\omega)\right)_{T\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfies the LDP with a convex rate function $I: \mathbb{R} \to [0, \infty]$ in the sense that for any Borel set $S \subset \mathbb{R}$,¹³

$$-\inf_{s\in \operatorname{int}(S)} I(s) \leq \liminf_{T\to\infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{P}\left(\left\{\omega\in\Omega \mid \frac{1}{T}\sigma_T(\omega)\in S\right\}\right)$$

$$\leq \limsup_{T\to\infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{P}\left(\left\{\omega\in\Omega \mid \frac{1}{T}\sigma_T(\omega)\in S\right\}\right) \leq -\inf_{s\in \operatorname{cl}(S)} I(s).$$
(1.15)

The rate function I is the Fenchel–Legendre transform of the function $\alpha \mapsto e(-\alpha)$, i.e.,

$$I(s) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} (\alpha s - e(-\alpha)), \qquad s \in \mathbb{R},$$

and it satisfies the Gallavotti-Cohen symmetry

$$I(-s) = I(s) + s, \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$
(1.16)

¹¹A sufficient condition for ergodicity is that the completely positive map $\Phi = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a$ is irreducible.

 $^{^{12}\}partial^{\mp}$ denotes the left/right derivative.

 $^{^{13}}$ int(S)/cl(S) denotes the interior/closure of the set S.

*If e is finite in a neighborhood of the origin, then I is a good*¹⁴ *rate function. See* [BJPP18, Theorem 2.11] *and* [CJPS19, Theorem 2.8].

(viii) The Chernoff error exponents of the pair $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ are defined as

$$\underline{c} := \liminf_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log c_T \quad and \quad \overline{c} := \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log c_T,$$

where

$$c_T := \frac{1}{4} \left(2 - \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} \left| \mathbb{P}_T(\omega) - \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega) \right| \right)$$

One then has

$$\underline{c} = \overline{c} = \min_{\alpha \in [0,1]} e(\alpha) = e\left(\frac{1}{2}\right). \tag{1.17}$$

See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.12].

(ix) The Hoeffding error exponents of the pair $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ are defined, for all $s \ge 0$, as

$$\begin{split} \overline{h}(s) &:= \inf_{(\mathcal{T}_T)} \left\{ \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\mathcal{T}_T) \Big| \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{P}_T(\mathcal{T}_T^c) < -s \right\}, \\ \underline{h}(s) &:= \inf_{(\mathcal{T}_T)} \left\{ \liminf_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\mathcal{T}_T) \Big| \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{P}_T(\mathcal{T}_T^c) < -s \right\}, \\ h(s) &:= \inf_{(\mathcal{T}_T)} \left\{ \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\mathcal{T}_T) \Big| \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{P}_T(\mathcal{T}_T^c) < -s \right\}, \end{split}$$

where the infimum is taken over all sequences of tests such that $\mathcal{T}_T \subset \Omega_T$ and the last one is, moreover, restricted to the sequence of tests such that $\lim_{T\to\infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{P}_T(\mathcal{T}_T^c)$ exists. One then has¹⁵

$$\underline{h}(s) = \overline{h}(s) = h(s) = \inf_{\alpha \in [0,1]} \frac{(1-\alpha)s + e(\alpha)}{\alpha}.$$

See [BJPP18, Theorem 2.13].

We refer the reader to [BJPP18] for a discussion of the results stated in Theorem 1.6 in the context of hypothesis testing and the emergence of the arrow of time in repeated quantum measurement processes.

The setting of this section and practically all results of Theorem 1.6 extend to arbitrary pairs of instruments $(\mathcal{J}, \rho), (\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$ defined on possibly different Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H} and $\widehat{\mathcal{H}}$. In fact, the theory of [CJPS19] was already formulated for general pairs of invariant measures $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ on Ω which are not necessarily related by OR (*i.e.*, no relation of the kind (1.7) is assumed). We conclude this section with a discussion of these generalizations.

Consider two arbitrary instruments (\mathcal{J}, ρ) and $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$, with $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ and $\widehat{\mathcal{J}} = (\widehat{\Phi}_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$, both satisfying Assumption (A). Instead of Assumption (B), we shall assume the following weaker condition:

Assumption (B0) supp $\mathbb{P}_T \subset \text{supp } \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

¹⁴We recall that I is a rate function if it is non-negative, lower semicontinuous, and not everywhere infinite. We call I a *good* rate function if, in addition, it has compact level sets.

¹⁵Note that the formula given in [BJPP18] is different, but coincides with this one since $e(\alpha) = e(1 - \alpha)$. The expression given here is convenient in view of the generalizations we discuss at the end of this section.

This assumption ensures that the random variable σ_T , given by (1.10), is well defined \mathbb{P}_T -almost everywhere. Note that when \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ are related by OR, *i.e.*, when (1.7) holds, then supp \mathbb{P}_T and supp $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T$ have the same cardinality, and in that case Assumptions (**B0**) and (**B**) are equivalent.

In this more general setting, we replace the notation $\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho)$ with

$$ep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \mathbb{E}(\sigma_T), \qquad (1.18)$$

since now the right-hand side depends on both measures.

The results of Theorem 1.6 are adapted to this more general setup as follows.

- Parts (i) and (ii) remain valid (with the change of notation (1.18)). The observation that ep(P, P̂) is non-negative can be strengthened: we actually have ep(P, P̂) ≥ -e(1) (which can be strictly positive, see (1.19) below).
- Part (iii) needs to be reformulated as the following two statements:
 - If the dynamical system (Ω, P, φ) is ergodic, then σ̄ = ep(P, P̂) holds P-almost surely.
 This follows from an obvious modification of the proof of [BJPP18, Theorem 2.1].
 - If the dynamical system (Ω, P̂, φ) is ergodic, then P = P̂ ⇔ ep(P, P̂) = 0. Indeed, the argument in the proof of [BJPP18, Proposition 2.2] only gives P ≪ P̂ here, and in order to conclude that P = P̂, one needs (Ω, P̂, φ) to be ergodic.¹⁶
- Part (iv) remains true up to the change of notation (1.18). It should be noted that in the definition of the exponents, one cannot interchange P and P in general.
- Part (v) is changed as follows. For all α ∈ ℝ, the (possibly infinite) limit (1.12) exists. The function α → e(α) is convex, satisfies e(0) = 0, and is differentiable on]0, 1[. However,

$$e(1) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \sum_{\omega \in \text{supp } \mathbb{P}_T} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\text{supp } \mathbb{P}_T)$$
(1.19)

only ensures the inequality $e(1) \leq 0$. In particular, the symmetry (1.13) does not necessarily hold. In order to adapt the proof of [BJPP18, Theorem 2.5], one has, in the notation therein, to replace the expression $f(\mathbb{Q}^{(\alpha)})$ with $f(\mathbb{Q}) - \alpha \lim_{T\to\infty} \frac{1}{T}\mathbb{Q}[\sigma_T]$ in the variational principle (the two expressions coincide if \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ are related by OR).

- Part (vi) remains unchanged.
- All the results in Part (vii) except the symmetry (1.16) hold in the present setup (this is proved in greater generality in [CJPS19]).
- All the conclusions of Part (viii) except for the last equality in (1.17) remain true.
- Finally, all the assertions in Part (ix) remain unchanged.

The modifications to the proofs are minor (and some of them are already provided in [CJPS19]). The hypothesis testing discussion in [BJPP18] is easily adapted to the above more general setting.

1.3 Von Neumann instruments

Measurements of the kind discussed in Section 1.1 are called *projective measurements*. To describe repeated projective measurements, one has to incorporate the unitary propagators $U_{<}$ and $U_{>}$

¹⁶There are pairs of instruments such that $(\Omega, \mathbb{P}, \phi)$ is ergodic and $ep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}) = 0$, yet $\mathbb{P} \neq \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ and $ep(\widehat{\mathbb{P}}, \mathbb{P}) > 0$, even when supp $\mathbb{P}_T = \text{supp } \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$. This happens for example if \mathbb{P}, \mathbb{Q} are two distinct, fully supported ergodic measures, and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{P} + \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Q}$.

describing the pre- and post-measurement time-evolutions. The corresponding instrument can be written as $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ with

$$\Phi_a[X] := U_{<}^* Q_a U_{>}^* X U_{>} Q_a U_{<},$$

 $(Q_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ being a partition of unity on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Setting $P_a = U_> Q_a U_>^*$ and $U = U_> U_<$, this can be rewritten as

$$\Phi_a[X] = U^* P_a X P_a U,$$

 $(P_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ being again a partition of unity and U a unitary on \mathcal{H} . We shall say that such a \mathcal{J} is a von Neumann instrument. Since $\Phi_a^*(\rho) = P_a U \rho U^* P_a$, the maximal entropy state $\rho = 1/d$ always satisfies (A). The unravelling \mathbb{P} turns out to be a Markov process (see Remark 2.4). Given an alphabet involution θ , the induced OR $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$ is again a von Neumann instrument

$$\widehat{\Phi}_a[X] = \widehat{U}^* \widehat{P}_a X \widehat{P}_a \widehat{U}, \qquad \widehat{\rho} = \rho,$$

with $\widehat{U} = U^*$ and $\widehat{P}_a = U^* P_{\theta(a)} U$. We note that if there exists an anti-unitary involution Θ on \mathcal{H} such that $\Theta U \Theta^* = U^*$ and $\Theta P_a \Theta^* = P_{\theta(a)}$, then the unravelings satisfy $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = \mathbb{P}$, so that $\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ and the entropic pressure *e* vanishes identically.

In [ABL64], the discussion on the relationship between the arrow of time and the projection postulate is based on sequential von Neumann measurements of different observables. Assuming the sequence of observables is periodic of period N, the corresponding alphabet is $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}_1 \times \cdots \times \mathcal{A}_N$ with each \mathcal{A}_n being a finite alphabet labelling the outcome of one observable, and the instrument $\mathcal{J} = \{\Phi_a\}_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ is

$$\Phi_{(a_1,\dots,a_N)}[X] := P_{a_N}^N \cdots P_{a_1}^1 X P_{a_1}^1 \cdots P_{a_N}^N,$$

where each $(P_{a_n}^n)_{a_n \in \mathcal{A}_n}$ is a partition of unity by orthogonal projectors. Since

$$\Phi_a^*[\rho] = P_{a_1}^1 \cdots P_{a_N}^N X P_{a_N}^N \cdots P_{a_1}^1,$$

the maximal entropy state $\rho = 1/d$ satisfies (A). Then, setting $\theta(a_1, \ldots, a_N) = (a_N, \ldots, a_1)$ makes the canonical OR instrument $\widehat{\mathcal{J}}$ equal to \mathcal{J} . Hence, $\mathbb{P} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$, so that $\exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ and the entropic pressure *e* vanishes identically. These observations relate our setting to one of the results of [ABL64], namely that the distribution of sequences of outcomes of von Neumann measurements is time-reversal invariant.

1.4 Probe measurements

Ultimately, all measurements to be considered in the forthcoming examples will be of the kind described in Section 1.1. However, from a physical perspective, the distinguished subclass of them describing indirect measurements is central to the interpretation of repeated quantum measurement processes. More specifically, we will be interested in one-time and two-time probe measurements.

Recall that our starting quantum system, which we denote by S here, is described by a finitedimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and a state ρ . In addition to S we are given a countable collection $(\mathcal{P}_t)_{t\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ of independent, identical quantum probes, each of which is described by a finitedimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_p and a state ρ_p . In one-time measurement processes, at time t = 0, Sand the probe \mathcal{P}_1 are coupled and interact for a unit of time. At the end of the interaction period, a von Neumann measurement of a specified probe observable is performed and the state of S is updated according to the outcome of this measurement. Then the procedure is repeated, with Sin the updated state coupled to a probe \mathcal{P}_2 . Two-time measurement processes are similar, except that the probe observable subject to measurement is strongly related to the probe state ρ_p , this observable being measured before and after the interaction period. The details are as follows.

1.4.1 One-time measurements

The Hilbert space of the coupled system is $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p$ and its initial state is $\rho \otimes \rho_p$. The evolution of the coupled system over a unit time interval is described by a unitary operator $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p)$. Let $(P_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ be a partition of unity on \mathcal{H}_p associated to a probe observable, and set¹⁷

$$\Phi_a[X] := \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_p} \left(U^*(X \otimes P_a) U(\mathbb{1} \otimes \rho_p) \right).$$
(1.20)

One easily checks that $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ is a quantum instrument. By Stinespring's dilation theorem [Tak79, Theorem 3.6], this construction has a converse: for any instrument $(\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ on \mathcal{H} , one can find \mathcal{H}_p , ρ_p , U and a partition of unity $(P_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ such that (1.20) holds. Returning to measurements, $\operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\omega_1}^*[\rho])$ is the probability that after the first interaction, the von Neumann measurement of the probe observable yields the outcome ω_1 . After this measurement, the system \mathcal{S} is in the reduced state $\rho_{\omega_1} = \Phi_{\omega_1}^*[\rho]/\operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\omega_1}^*[\rho])$. Repeating the measurement process with the system \mathcal{S} being in the state ρ_{ω_1} , one derives that the probability of observing the sequence of outcomes (ω_1, ω_2) is $\operatorname{tr}((\Phi_{\omega_2}^* \circ \Phi_{\omega_1}^*)[\rho])$. After the two measurements, the system \mathcal{S} is in the state $\rho_{\omega_1\omega_2} = (\Phi_{\omega_2}^* \circ \Phi_{\omega_1}^*)[\rho]/\operatorname{tr}((\Phi_{\omega_2}^* \circ \Phi_{\omega_1}^*)[\rho])$. Continuing in this way, one arrives at the expression (1.4) for \mathbb{P}_T ; see [BJPP18] for additional information and references.

1.4.2 Two-time measurements

In terms of the partition of unity $(P_l)_{l \in \mathcal{L}}$, let the probe state be given by

$$\rho_p := \sum_{l \in \mathcal{L}} \pi_l P_l, \tag{1.21}$$

where the eigenvalues π_l are strictly positive but not necessarily distinct.¹⁸ The map $\theta(l, l') := (l', l)$ defines an involution of the alphabet $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}$. Recall that $U \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p)$ denotes the unitary propagator over a unit interval of time. For $a = (l, l') \in \mathcal{A}$, we set

$$\Phi_a[X] := \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_p} \left((U^*(X \otimes P_{l'})U)(\mathbb{1} \otimes \pi_l P_l) \right).$$
(1.22)

The instrument $\mathcal{J} := (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ describes a two-time indirect measurement (the probe state is measured before and after the interaction). In the following, \mathbb{P} denotes the unraveling of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) for some invariant state ρ . For more information about the two-time measurement protocol see [HJPR18, HJPR17].

Since the particular mathematical structure of repeated two-time measurements was not discussed in [BJPP18] and will play a role in the sequel, we elaborate on this point.

We will assume that the system is time-reversal invariant in the following sense: there exist anti-unitary involutions $\Theta: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$ and $\Theta_p: \mathcal{H}_p \to \mathcal{H}_p$ such that, for all $l \in \mathcal{L}$,

$$\Theta \rho \Theta = \rho, \qquad \Theta_p P_l \Theta_p = P_l, \qquad (\Theta \otimes \Theta_p) U(\Theta \otimes \Theta_p) = U^*.$$
(1.23)

For $a = (l, l') \in \mathcal{A}$, let $\Delta \mathfrak{S}(a) := \log \pi_l - \log \pi_{l'}$. For $(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T) \in \Omega_T$, let

$$\Delta \mathfrak{S}_T(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_T) := \sum_{t=1}^T \Delta \mathfrak{S}(\omega_t).$$

¹⁷tr_{\mathcal{H}_p} denotes the partial trace over \mathcal{H}_p .

 $^{^{18}(}P_l)_{l \in \mathcal{L}}$ is the family of eigenprojections of an observable commuting with ρ_p , not necessarily the ones of ρ_p itself. In particular, we do not assume the projections P_l to be rank one.

Note that

$$\Delta \mathfrak{S}_T = \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} \Delta \mathfrak{S} \circ \phi^t, \qquad (1.24)$$

where, for $\omega \in \Omega$, we have set $\Delta \mathfrak{S}(\omega) := \Delta \mathfrak{S}(\omega_1)$. For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, we define $\Phi(\alpha) : \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ by

$$\Phi(\alpha)[X] := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}(a)} \Phi_a[X].$$

This deformation of $\Phi = \Phi(0)$ is a completely positive map. It is irreducible iff Φ is. In our setting, $\Phi(\alpha)$ will play the role of the transfer operator.

Theorem 1.7. Suppose that (A) holds. Then:

(i) For all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega = (\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T) \in \Omega_T$,

$$\operatorname{tr}(\rho(\Phi_{\omega_1} \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{\omega_T})[\mathbb{1}]) = e^{\Delta \mathfrak{S}_T(\omega)} \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\theta(\omega_T)} \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{\theta(\omega_1)}[\rho])$$

- (ii) Assumption (**B**) holds. If Φ is irreducible, then (**C**) also holds and Theorem 1.6 applies.
- (iii) Let $r_+ := \max \operatorname{sp}(\rho)$, $r_- := \min \operatorname{sp}(\rho)$. Then for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\omega \in \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{P}_T$,

$$\left|\sigma_T(\omega) - \Delta \mathfrak{S}_T(\omega)\right| \le \log \frac{r_+}{r_-}$$

(iv)

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) = \int_{\Omega} \Delta \mathfrak{S} \, \mathrm{d}\mathbb{P} = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Delta \mathfrak{S}(a) \operatorname{tr}(\rho \Phi_{a}[\mathbb{1}])$$

(v)

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) = S(\rho \otimes \rho_p | U^*(\rho \otimes \rho_p) U)$$

where $S(\mu_1|\mu_2) = \operatorname{tr}(\mu_1(\log \mu_1 - \log \mu_2))$ denotes the quantum relative entropy¹⁹ of a pair of density matrices (μ_1, μ_2) . In particular, $\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ if and only if $U^*(\rho \otimes \rho_p)U = \rho \otimes \rho_p$.

(vi) For all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the limit

$$e(\alpha) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \left(\int_{\Omega} e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}_T} d\mathbb{P} \right)$$
(1.25)

exists and $e(\alpha) = \log r(\alpha)$, where $r(\alpha)$ is the spectral radius of $\Phi(\alpha)$. The function $\mathbb{R} \ni \alpha \mapsto r(\alpha)$ is locally a branch of a multivalued analytic function with at worst algebraic singularities.

(vii) For $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$,

$$e(\alpha) \le \min(|\alpha|, |1 - \alpha|) \frac{r_+}{r_-}.$$

 $e(\alpha) \ge -\max(\alpha, 1-\alpha)\frac{r_+}{r_-}.$

For $\alpha \in [0, 1]$,

In the remaining statements we assume that
$$\Phi$$
 is irreducible.

¹⁹All the entropic notions we use are reviewed in [BJPP18, Section 2.1]. We recall that $S(\mu_1|\mu_2) \ge 0$ and that the equality holds iff $\mu_1 = \mu_2$.

- (viii) $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ if and only if $tr(\rho \Phi_a[\mathbb{1}]) = tr(\rho \Phi_{\theta(a)}[\mathbb{1}])$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$.
- (ix) The function $\mathbb{R} \ni \alpha \mapsto e(\alpha)$ is real analytic.
- (x) The sequence of random variables $\left(\frac{1}{T}\Delta\mathfrak{S}_T\right)_{T\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ under the laws \mathbb{P}_T satisfies the LDP with the rate function

$$I(s) = \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} (s\alpha - e(-\alpha)), \qquad s \in \mathbb{R}.$$

(xi) The random variables $(\Delta \mathfrak{S}_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfy the central limit theorem. More precisely, as $T \to \infty$, the random variable

$$\frac{\Delta\mathfrak{S}_T - T\mathrm{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho)}{\sqrt{T}}$$

converges in law to a centered Gaussian with variance e''(0).

Proof. The proof is based on well-known arguments and is relatively simple; see [JPW14, HJPR17, HJPR18]. We sketch the argument for the reader's convenience and later reference.

One checks that for $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$,

$$\Theta \Phi_a[\Theta X \Theta] \Theta = e^{\Delta \mathfrak{S}(a)} \Phi_{\theta(a)}^*[X].$$
(1.26)

This yields (i).

Part (i) immediately gives that (B) holds. If r_{\pm} are as in (iii), the inequalities $r_{-}\mathbb{1} \leq \rho \leq r_{+}\mathbb{1}$ give that

$$\frac{r_{-}}{r_{+}}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_{T}(\omega_{1},\ldots,\omega_{T}) \leq \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\theta(\omega_{T})}\circ\cdots\circ\Phi_{\theta(\omega_{1})}[\rho]) \leq \frac{r_{+}}{r_{-}}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_{T}(\omega_{1},\ldots,\omega_{T}).$$
(1.27)

If Φ is irreducible then, by Proposition 1.1, there exist C > 0 and $\tau \ge 0$ such that for all $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ one can find $\xi \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ satisfying $0 \le |\xi| \le \tau$, so that

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega\xi\nu]) \ge C\mathbb{P}([\omega])\mathbb{P}([\nu]).$$

It then follows from (1.27) and (i) that for the same $\xi \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$,

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega\xi\nu]) \ge C\left(\frac{r_{-}}{r_{+}}\right)^{3}\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega])\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\nu]),$$

and (C) holds. This proves (ii).

Part (iii) follows from (i) and (1.27).

Part (iv) follows from (iii) and (1.24).

To prove (v), we first note that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) &= \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Delta \mathfrak{S}(a) \operatorname{tr}(\rho \Phi_a[\mathbb{1}]) \\ &= \sum_{l,l' \in \mathcal{L}} (\log \pi_l - \log \pi_{l'}) \operatorname{tr}((\rho \otimes \mathbb{1})(U^*(\mathbb{1} \otimes P_{l'})U)(\mathbb{1} \otimes \pi_l P_l)) \\ &= \operatorname{tr}(\rho_p \log \rho_p) - \operatorname{tr}((\rho \otimes \rho_p)U^*(\mathbb{1} \otimes \log \rho_p)U). \end{aligned}$$

On the other hand,

$$\operatorname{tr}((\rho \otimes \rho_p) U^*(\log \rho \otimes \mathbb{1}) U) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho \Phi[\log \rho]) = \operatorname{tr}(\Phi^*[\rho] \log \rho) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho \log \rho),$$

and so

$$ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = tr(\rho_p \log \rho_p) - tr((\rho \otimes \rho_p)U^*(\mathbb{1} \otimes \log \rho_p)U) + tr(\rho \log \rho) - tr((\rho \otimes \rho_p)U^*(\log \rho \otimes \mathbb{1})U) = S(\rho \otimes \rho_p | U^*(\rho \otimes \rho_p)U).$$

The proof of (vi) starts with the identity

$$\operatorname{tr}(\rho\Phi^{T}(\alpha)[\mathbb{1}]) = \int_{\Omega} e^{-\alpha\Delta\mathfrak{S}_{T}} d\mathbb{P}, \qquad (1.28)$$

which yields the bound

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}_T} d\mathbb{P} \le \|\Phi^T(\alpha)\|.$$

Gelfand's formula for the spectral radius gives

$$\limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \left(\int_{\Omega} e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}_T} d\mathbb{P} \right) \le \lim_{T \to \infty} \log \|\Phi^T(\alpha)\|^{1/T} = \log r(\alpha).$$
(1.29)

The Perron–Frobenius theory for positive maps gives that there exists $0 \le X(\alpha) \le 1, X(\alpha) \ne 0$, such that $\Phi(\alpha)X(\alpha) = r(\alpha)X(\alpha)$; see for example [EHK78, Theorem 2.5]. The identity (1.28) then yields

$$\int_{\Omega} e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}_T} d\mathbb{P} \ge r(\alpha)^T \operatorname{tr}(\rho X(\alpha)),$$
$$\liminf \frac{1}{2} \log \left(\int e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}_T} d\mathbb{P} \right) \ge \log r(\alpha). \tag{1.30}$$

and so

$$T \to \infty$$
 $T \to \infty$ $T \to$

Relations an eigenvalue of $\Phi(\alpha)$ and the map $\mathbb{C} \ni \alpha \mapsto \Phi(\alpha)$ is entire analytic, the stated regularity property of the map $\alpha \mapsto r(\alpha)$ follows from analytic perturbation theory [Kat95, Section II.1].

(vii) follows from (vi) and the symmetry $e(\alpha) = e(1 - \alpha)$.

The direction \Rightarrow in (viii) follows from Theorem 1.6 (iii). The direction \Leftarrow follows from Part (iv) and does not require the assumption that Φ is irreducible.

If Φ is irreducible, then so is $\Phi(\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. This observation and the Perron–Frobenius theory [EHK78, Theorem 2.4] give that $r(\alpha)$ is a simple eigenvalue of $\Phi(\alpha)$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. The analytic perturbation theory [Kat95, Section II.1] yields that the map $\alpha \mapsto r(\alpha)$ is real analytic, and Part (ix) follows from the identity $e(\alpha) = \log r(\alpha)$.

Part (x) is an immediate consequence of (vii) and the Gärtner–Ellis theorem [DZ98, Theorem 2.3.6]. The central limit theorem stated in (xi) follows from the result of Bryc [Bry93]; the details are the same as in the proof of [JPW14, Corollary 3.3]. \square

Remark 1.8. It is well known that the time-reversal invariant two-time quantum measurement protocol induces a rich and deep mathematical structure; see [JOPP12, JPW14] for a discussion of this topic, references, and additional information. For the model discussed in this section, this structure emerges from the two elementary identities (1.26) and (1.28), which allow for a simple proof of Theorem 1.6.

Remark 1.9. One of the special aspects of the two-time measurement protocol is the mathematical simplicity of σ_T , captured in Part (iii), contrasting sharply the possible complexity of \mathbb{P} .

Remark 1.10. Continuing with the previous remark, in contrast to Theorem 1.6, the statement and the proof of Theorem 1.7 are deeply linked to the specific form of the reversal transformation. The resulting $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is natural in the context of the main theme of [BJPP18]: the emergence of an arrow of time in repeated quantum measurements. However, if \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ are unravelings of two unrelated two-time measurement instruments with the same alphabet, the structure behind the statement and the proof of Theorem 1.7 is broken.

Remark 1.11. Identifying $\Omega := (\mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L})^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ with $\mathcal{L}^{\mathbb{N}^*} \times \mathcal{L}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$, the marginal of \mathbb{P} with the respect to the second factor is the unraveling of the instrument $((\Phi_l)_{l \in \mathcal{L}}, \rho)$, where

$$\Phi_l[X] := \operatorname{tr}_{\mathcal{H}_p} \left(U^*(X \otimes P_l) U(\mathbb{1} \otimes \rho_p) \right).$$

This instrument corresponds to the one-time probe measurement associated to $(P_l)_{l \in \mathcal{L}}$ with the special feature (1.21). The marginal of \mathbb{P} with respect to the first factor is the Bernoulli measure on $\mathcal{L}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ associated to the mass function $\mathcal{L} \ni l \mapsto p(l) := \pi_l \operatorname{tr}(P_l)$.

We now discuss several special cases of the two-time measurement process that are of particular physical and mathematical interest.

Case 1: Thermal probes. This case corresponds to the choice $\rho_p := e^{-\beta H_p}/Z$, where H_p is the Hamiltonian of the probe, Z is a normalization constant and $\beta > 0$ is the inverse temperature. Let

$$H_p := \sum_{\varepsilon \in \operatorname{sp}(H_p)} \varepsilon P_{\varepsilon}$$

be the spectral resolution of H_p . Setting $\mathcal{L} := \operatorname{sp}(H_p)$ and $\pi_{\varepsilon} := e^{-\beta \varepsilon - \log Z}$ gives the representation (1.21). Note that in this case the π_{ε} are distinct, and that the two-time measurement process corresponds to the measurement of the energy of the probe, before and after the interaction.

Note that if $a = (\varepsilon, \varepsilon')$, then $\Delta \mathfrak{S}(a) = \beta(\varepsilon' - \varepsilon)$ is the entropy variation of the probe due to the measurement process. The function $\Delta \mathfrak{S}_T$ describes the entropy variation in the probe subsystem in the time interval [0, T]. It follows that Part (iii) of Theorem 1.7 relates the information-theoretic entropy production σ_T to the physical entropy variation of the probes described by $\Delta \mathfrak{S}_T$. Thus, the information-theoretic/hypothesis testing interpretation of Theorem 1.6, in terms of the emergence of the quantum arrow of time, is directly related to the thermodynamic interpretation that stems from Theorem 1.7. For example, $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho)$ is the Stein error exponent in the hypothesis testing of the quantum arrow of time and coincides with the expected entropy variation per unit time in the probes. For more information about this link see [JOPP12, JOPS12].

Case 2: Random thermal probes. We start with a collection of $K \ge 2$ probes, each of which is in thermal equilibrium at inverse temperature $\beta_k, k \in [\![1, K]\!]$. The two-time measurement process has the additional feature that, at each time step $t = 0, 1, \ldots$, the system S is coupled to a randomly chosen probe, the k-th probe being chosen with probability $w_k > 0$. Thus,

$$\mathcal{H}_p := \bigoplus_{k=1}^K \mathcal{H}_k, \qquad \rho_p := \bigoplus_{k=1}^K w_k \rho_k, \qquad \rho_k := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\beta_k H_k}}{Z_k}, \qquad \mathcal{L} := \coprod_{k=1}^K \mathrm{sp}(H_k),$$

where \coprod stands for the disjoint union, H_k is the Hamiltonian of the k-th probe and Z_k a normalization constant. Denoting the spectral decomposition of H_k by

$$H_k = \sum_{\varepsilon \in \operatorname{sp}(H_k)} \varepsilon P_{k,\varepsilon} \tag{1.31}$$

and, for $\varepsilon \in \operatorname{sp}(H_k)$, setting $\pi_{\varepsilon} := w_k e^{-\beta_k \varepsilon - \log Z_k}$ and $P_{\varepsilon} := 0 \oplus \cdots \oplus P_{k,\varepsilon} \oplus \cdots \oplus 0$, the representation (1.21) holds. Writing

$$\mathcal{H}\otimes\mathcal{H}_p=igoplus_{k=1}^K\mathcal{H}\otimes\mathcal{H}_k$$

we assume that the unitary propagator over the interaction period has the form $U = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{K} U_k$, where $U_k \colon \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_k \to \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_k$, and we identify the alphabet \mathcal{A} with $\coprod_{k=1}^{K} \operatorname{sp}(H_k) \times \operatorname{sp}(H_k)$. If $(\Phi_a^{(k)})_{a \in \operatorname{sp}(H_k) \times \operatorname{sp}(H_k)}$ denotes the instrument describing the thermal probe two-time measurement with \mathcal{S} coupled only to the k-th probe subsystem, as in Case 1 above, it is immediate that the random thermal probes two-time measurement process is described by the instrument

$$\mathcal{J} := \{ w_k \Phi_a^{(k)} \mid k \in \llbracket 1, K \rrbracket, a \in \operatorname{sp}(H_k) \times \operatorname{sp}(H_k) \},$$
(1.32)

and that for all α ,

$$\Phi(\alpha) = \sum_{k=1}^{K} w_k \Phi^{(k)}(\alpha).$$
(1.33)

Case 3: Multi-thermal probes. In this setting the probe consists of $K \ge 2$ independent subprobes, each of which is in thermal equilibrium at inverse temperature $\beta_k > 0, k \in [\![1, K]\!]$. Hence,

$$\mathcal{H}_p := \bigotimes_{k=1}^K \mathcal{H}_k, \qquad \rho_p := \bigotimes_{k=1}^K \rho_k, \qquad \rho_k := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\beta_k H_k}}{Z_k}, \qquad \mathcal{L} := \bigotimes_{k=1}^K \mathrm{sp}(H_k),$$

 H_k denoting the Hamiltonian of the k-th probe and Z_k a normalization constant. Given the spectral representation (1.31), (1.21) holds with

$$\pi_{\varepsilon} = \mathrm{e}^{-\sum_{k=1}^{K} \beta_k \varepsilon_k + \log Z_k}, \qquad P_{\varepsilon} = \bigotimes_{k=1}^{K} P_{k,\varepsilon_k},$$

for $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_1, \ldots, \varepsilon_K) \in \mathcal{L}$. Note that the π_{ε} 's are not necessarily distinct.

Remark 1.12. Case 3 corresponds to the well-known setting of open quantum systems in nonequilibrium statistical mechanics. However, in the context of repeated quantum measurements, Case 2 is both physically more natural and mathematically simpler to analyze. As we shall see on the example of the spin instruments, relations (1.32) and (1.33) considerably facilitate the computation of the mean entropy production rate $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho)$ and of the entropic pressure $e(\alpha)$. The related computations are much more complicated in Case 3. For these reasons we shall illustrate Case 3 only on the example of the XXZ-spin instrument with K = 2.

Remark 1.13. For a related use of the formalism of Case 2, see [BB20].

1.5 On the role of the thermodynamic formalism

In this section we further discuss Theorem 1.6 in view of the examples we shall study.

The classical Ruelle–Walters thermodynamic formalism [Rue04, Wal82] provides a conceptual framework and powerful technical tools for the study of the questions addressed in Theorem 1.6. However, the application of these tools requires certain regularity assumptions that are natural in

the mathematical theory of classical spin systems, and which may or may not hold for a given repeated quantum measurement process.

The following definition is basic. Let $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$. For $\omega \in \Omega$ and $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ let²⁰

$$\mathbb{Q}_T(\omega) := \mathbb{Q}([\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T]).$$

Consider the subshift $(\operatorname{supp} \mathbb{Q}, \phi)$. The measure \mathbb{Q} is called weak Gibbs if there exist a continuous function $F: \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{R}$ and positive constants $(C_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfying $\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log C_T = 0$, such that for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega \in \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{Q}$,

$$C_T^{-1} e^{-S_T F(\omega)} \le \mathbb{Q}_T(\omega) \le C_T e^{-S_T F(\omega)}, \qquad (1.34)$$

where $S_T F := \sum_{t=0}^{T-1} F \circ \phi^t$. In this context, we shall refer to F as a *potential* for \mathbb{Q} . If the constants C_T can be chosen independent of T, then the measure \mathbb{Q} is called Gibbs. The following criteria are useful.

Theorem 1.14.

(i) Suppose that for some $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ there exist positive constants $(D_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfying $\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log D_T = 0$, and such that, for all $T, S \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega \in \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{Q}$,

$$D_T^{-1}\mathbb{Q}_T(\omega)\mathbb{Q}_S(\phi^T(\omega)) \le \mathbb{Q}_{T+S}(\omega) \le D_T\mathbb{Q}_T(\omega)\mathbb{Q}_S(\phi^T(\omega)).$$

Then \mathbb{Q} is weak Gibbs.

(ii) If $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ is weak Gibbs, then

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sup_{S \in [1, T-1]} \sup_{\omega \in \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{Q}} \left| \log \frac{\mathbb{Q}_T(\omega)}{\mathbb{Q}_S(\omega) \mathbb{Q}_{T-S}(\phi^S(\omega))} \right| = 0.$$

Proof. Part (i) follows from [Cun20, Theorem 1.2] (see also Corollary 4.2 therein for a derivation in the case where supp $\mathbb{Q} = \Omega$). To prove (ii), note that w.l.o.g. we may assume that the constants C_T in (1.34) are non-decreasing. Then the obvious estimates

 $C_T^{-3} \le (C_T C_{T-S} C_S)^{-1} \le \frac{\mathbb{Q}_T(\omega)}{\mathbb{Q}_S(\omega) \mathbb{Q}_{T-S}(\phi^S(\omega))} \le C_T C_{T-S} C_S \le C_T^3$

yield the statement.

Consider an instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfying Assumption (A) and let \mathbb{P} be its unraveling. If \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs, then most of the conclusions of Theorem 1.6 are standard results, as we now briefly discuss. Let $\Omega^+ := \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{P} = \operatorname{supp} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$. First, when \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs, so is $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$. Indeed, a potential \widehat{F} for $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ can be constructed as follows. For all $\omega \in \Omega^+$, let

$$F^{(k)}(\omega) = F^{(k)}(\omega_{\llbracket 1,k \rrbracket}) := \sup\{F(\eta) \mid \eta \in \Omega^+, \eta_{\llbracket 1,k \rrbracket} = \omega_{\llbracket 1,k \rrbracket}\},\$$

where F is a potential for \mathbb{P} . Then $F^{(k)}$ converges uniformly to F on Ω^+ , and we can define a sequence of potentials $(\widehat{F}^{(k)})_{k\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ by $\widehat{F}^{(k)}(\omega) = \widehat{F}^{(k)}(\omega_{[\![1,k]\!]}) := F^{(k)}(\theta(\omega_k), \theta(\omega_{k-1}), \dots, \theta(\omega_1))$ for all $\omega \in \Omega_+$. It is then not hard to prove that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sup_{\omega \in \text{supp}} \left| \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega_{[\![1,T]\!]}) + S_T \widehat{F}^{(k)}(\omega) \right| = 0,$$

and thus [Cun20, Theorem 1.2] provides a potential \widehat{F} with respect to which $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is weak Gibbs. We then have, assuming \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs:

$$\Box$$

 $^{^{20}}$ Note that if \mathbb{Q} is the unraveling of some quantum instrument, then this definition is consistent with the notation introduced in Section 1.2.

- (a) (i)–(ii) follow from the ergodic theorem.
- (b) Regarding (v), the Ruelle–Walters thermodynamic formalism of weak Gibbs measures gives that the limit (1.12) exists and is finite. The formalism, of course, gives much more. The variational principle

$$e(\alpha) = \sup_{\mathbb{Q}\in\mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega^{+})} \left(h_{\phi}(\mathbb{Q}) + \int_{\Omega^{+}} \left(\alpha F + (1-\alpha)\widehat{F} \right) d\mathbb{Q} \right)$$

holds, where $h_{\phi}(\mathbb{Q})$ is the Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy of \mathbb{Q} . The set

$$\mathcal{P}_{eq}(\alpha) := \left\{ \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega^{+}) \mid e(\alpha) = h_{\phi}(\mathbb{Q}) + \int_{\Omega^{+}} \left(\alpha F + (1-\alpha)\widehat{F} \right) d\mathbb{Q} \right\}$$

is a non-empty, convex, compact subset of $\mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega^+)$. It is a Choquet simplex and a face of $\mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega^+)$. The extreme points of $\mathcal{P}_{eq}(\alpha)$ are ϕ -ergodic. If $\mathcal{P}_{eq}(\alpha)$ is a singleton, then *e* is differentiable at α . Whether $\mathcal{P}_{eq}(\alpha)$ is a singleton or not cannot be resolved knowing only that \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs with an unknown potential; see (b') below.

(c) The Level III LDP holds on (Ω^+, ϕ) w.r.t. \mathbb{P} with the rate function

$$\mathbb{I}(\mathbb{Q}) := \begin{cases} \int_{\Omega^+} F \mathrm{d}\mathbb{Q} - h_{\phi}(\mathbb{Q}) & \text{if } \mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega^+); \\ \infty & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

see [Com09, PS18] and [CJPS19, Appendix A.3] (note that Assumption (C) implies the various specification conditions therein). The Level III LDP and the contraction principle yield the LDP for the entropy production observable stated in Part (vii).

(d) The proof of Parts (vii)–(ix) follows the standard route that relies only on the validity of the LDP for the sequence $(\frac{1}{T}\sigma_T(\omega))_{T\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ under the laws \mathbb{P}_T ; see [JOPS12].

In conclusion, whenever the unraveling \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs, all the statements of Theorem 1.6 follow from well-known results via the classical thermodynamic formalism, except for Parts (iii), (iv), and the differentiability properties of e stated at the end of Part (v) and in Part (vi). Although the proofs of Parts (iii) and (iv) are by no means hard, they are not related to the thermodynamic formalism. We will further comment on differentiability issues later in this section.

As we have already mentioned, the unraveling \mathbb{P} of a quantum instrument may or may not be weak Gibbs. In practically all examples that we will consider in the main body of the paper the unraveling will not be weak Gibbs. The interest of Theorem 1.6 is that it applies to such cases. We emphasize that Theorem 1.6 combines results obtained in [BJPP18] and [CJPS19], which provide two very different and complementary routes to the LDP for the entropy production.

The methods of [BJPP18] were based on a non-additive thermodynamic formalism that appears well suited for the study of questions addressed in Theorem 1.6 in the cases where standard thermodynamic formalism fails. More precisely:

- (a') Parts (i)–(ii) follow from Kingman's sub-additive ergodic theorem.
- (b') Parts (v) and (vi) follow from the non-additive thermodynamic formalism. Assumptions (A) and (B) suffice to develop this formalism for α ∈ [0, 1], *i.e.*, to prove a suitable variant of the variational principle and to define P_{eq}(α) which has the same properties as in (b) above. If in addition (C) holds, one also proves that P_{eq}(α) is a singleton for α ∈]0, 1[and hence that e is differentiable on]0, 1[. In comparison to (b), the proof that P_{eq}(α) is singleton for α ∈]0, 1[uses the decoupling properties (1.5) and (1.9) in an essential way. Under the Assumption of Part (vi) these results are global, *i.e.*, hold for all α ∈ ℝ.

- (c') The Gärtner–Ellis theorem and the differentiability of e on]0,1[yield a local version of the LDP stated in Part (vii): the relation (1.15) holds for any $S \subset [(\partial^- e)(0), (\partial^+ e)(1)].$
- (d') The local LDP described in (c') suffices for the proof of Parts (viii)–(ix); see [JOPS12].

As illustrated by the rotational instrument discussed in Sections 2.3 and 5, the methods of [BJPP18] cannot be used to derive the global LDP stated in Theorem 1.6 (vii).

The work [CJPS19] concerns the LDP for so-called selectively decoupled measures that are considerably more general than unravelings of repeated quantum measurement processes considered here. The methods of [CJPS19] bypass the use of thermodynamic formalism and are centered around the so-called Ruelle–Lanford functions. In the context of unravelings, under Assumption (C), [CJPS19] provides a proof of the Level III LDP for \mathbb{P} and the global LDP stated in Theorem 1.6 (vii). We point out that in contrast to (c) above, Part (vii) cannot be deduced from the Level III LDP and the contraction principle, and a separate argument is required; see [CJPS19] for a discussion and additional information.

1.6 Miscellaneous remarks

1 As we have already mentioned, the research program initiated in [BJPP18] can be broadly described as the study of the statistical properties of quantum-mechanical probabilistic rules carried out in the specific setting of repeated quantum measurement processes. Such a program could have been formulated in 1932, the year of publication of von Neumann's classic [vN55]. Needless to say, there is an enormous body of literature on the subject, although the dynamical system/sub-additive thermodynamic formalism perspective developed in [BJPP18] and here appear to be new; see the introduction in [BJPP18] for references and additional information. The program will continue with additional works [BCJ⁺a, BCJ⁺b], dealing with the statistical mechanics of repeated quantum measurements and a study of the quantum detailed balance condition.

We would like to complement the general discussion in [BJPP18] with the following remark. Our own interest in the subject stems from the advent of experimental methods in cavity and circuit QED, and in particular the experimental breakthroughs of the Haroche–Raimond and Wineland groups [Har13, Win13, HR06]. These advances made it possible to sample the classical stochastic process of the unravelings \mathbb{P} for a wide range of quantum instruments. However, there is an essential difference in the questions we study in comparison with those directly related to the experimental setups. While the experiments are focused on the tracking and manipulation of the states of the system S, our focus is on the unravelings. We neither study nor gain any information about S. Rather, we study the possible mathematical and physical richness of the unravelings \mathbb{P} .

There is a large body of literature on the mathematical theory of quantum measurements. The monographs [Dav76, Kra83, Hol03] are classical; see also [BBFF20, BCF⁺18, BFFS16, BCF⁺19, BB11, BBB13, BBT16, BBT15, BFPP19, BCC⁺18, Oza84, MK06, KM04, BB91, BG09, BH95, Bel89, BVHJ07] for some standard results and recent developments.

2 In this work, among the various notions of Gibbsianness introduced in the literature, we emphasize the weak Gibbs viewpoint. Although the notion of weak Gibbs measure was implicit in classical works on thermodynamic formalism of spin systems, its definition was formalized only in 2002 by Yuri [Yur02]. The weak Gibbs notions are particularly well suited as a characterization of the thermodynamic regularity of the unraveling of quantum instruments, and in this context we will continue their study in [BCJ⁺a].

3 Returning to the generalization of Theorem 1.6 discussed at the end of Section 1.2, assume that $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is the uniform measure on Ω , *i.e.*, that $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T(\omega) = |\mathcal{A}|^{-T}$ for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $T \in \mathbb{N}$. Such a measure is obtained, for example, by the instrument $\widehat{\Phi}_a[\mathbb{1}] = \widehat{\Phi}_a^*[\mathbb{1}] = |\mathcal{A}|^{-1}\mathbb{1}$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and the choice $\widehat{\rho} = d^{-1}\mathbb{1}$. Assumption (**B0**) obviously holds. As was already noted in [CJPS19, Remark 2.11], in this case

$$e(\alpha) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \left(\sum_{\omega \in \text{supp } \mathbb{P}_T} \mathbb{P}_T^{1-\alpha}(\omega) \right) - \alpha \log |\mathcal{A}|.$$
(1.35)

Note that the first term under the above limit sign is the Rényi entropy per time step $T^{-1}S_{1-\alpha}(\mathbb{P}_T)$. By declaring

$$\mathcal{E}_T(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_T) := -\log \mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_T)$$

the energy of the configuration $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T)$ and $\beta = 1 - \alpha$ the inverse temperature, the limit (1.35) turns into the pressure of a "spin system" defined by the family of finite-volume Hamiltonians $(\mathcal{E}_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$. The resulting statistical mechanics, with examples that complement those considered in this paper, is developed in [BCJ⁺a].

4 We use the opportunity to correct a minor inaccuracy in [BJPP18]: according to [JOPS12, Proposition 2.5], the statement of [BJPP18, Theorem 2.10 (2)] lacks a non-triviality condition, namely that the entropic pressure $e(\alpha)$ should not vanish identically for $\alpha \in]0, 1[$. This omission propagates to [BJPP18, Theorem 2.12 (2)]. Fortunately, the two omissions do not affect the other results of [BJPP18]. Indeed, as already mentioned, \mathbb{P} is ϕ -ergodic thanks to Assumption (C) while the vanishing of the entropic pressure implies that of the mean entropy production rate. Hence, it follows from [BJPP18, Theorem 2.2 (3)] that $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = \mathbb{P}$ from which one easily concludes that the Stein and Hoeffding exponents vanish. Thus, in cases where the entropic pressure vanishes identically on the interval]0, 1[, the conclusions of Theorem 2.12 (3) and 2.13 in [BJPP18] still hold, despite the failure of [BJPP18, Theorem 2.10 (2) and Theorem 2.12 (2)].

2 Examples

In this section we state our main results. In Section 2.1 we introduce the structural class of the positive matrix product (PMP) measures and instruments. All our examples, except for the rotational instrument discussed in Section 2.3, belong to this category. In Section 2.1.1 we discuss basic examples — Bernoulli instruments and Markov chain instruments. For those instruments Theorem 1.6 is a textbook result. We describe them because of their importance and because they will reappear as special cases in the analysis of more complex examples. The Keep–Switch instrument, our first novel example, is discussed in Section 2.1.2. The spin instruments are discussed in Sections 2.1.3 and 2.1.4. In these two sections the results are stated in the abbreviated form, and the complete formulations are presented in Section 4 where the proofs are given. The farreaching relation between the PMP measures and hidden Markov models is discussed in Section 2.2. Section 2.3 is devoted to the rotational instrument.

The proofs are given in Sections 3, 4, and 5. The spin-instruments proofs, given in Section 4, involve in part tedious straightforward linear algebra computations that we will largely omit. Finally, for the reader's convenience, we collect in Appendix A some basic results about continued fractions that are used in the analysis of the rotational instrument.

2.1 Positive matrix product measures and instruments

Let $(M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ be a collection of $d \times d$ matrices with non-negative entries such that $M := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a$ satisfies $M\mathbf{1} = \mathbf{1}$, where²¹ $\mathbf{1} := [1 \cdots 1]^{\mathsf{T}}$. We write $M_a := [m_{ij}(a)]_{1 \le i,j \le d}$. Let $\mathbf{p} := [p_1 \cdots p_d]$ be a probability vector such that $\mathbf{p}M = \mathbf{p}$, and for $\omega \in \Omega_T$, set

$$\mathbb{P}_T(\omega) := \mathbf{p} M_{\omega_1} \cdots M_{\omega_T} \mathbf{1}$$

There is a unique probability measure $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ such that

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega]) = \mathbb{P}_T(\omega)$$

for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega \in \Omega_T$.

Definition 2.1. We shall call \mathbb{P} the positive matrix product (abbreviated PMP) measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$.

The class of PMP measures is identical to the class of hidden Markov models. This point is both of conceptual and technical importance, and we shall discuss it in Section 2.2.

If \mathbb{P} is a PMP measure, we shall call any element of $\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$ a PMP instrument. The following construction shows that $\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$ is non-empty and exhibits its canonical element. Let \mathcal{H} be a Hilbert space of dimension d and $(v_i)_{1 \leq i \leq d}$ one of its orthonormal bases. Given $u, v \in \mathcal{H}$ we use Dirac's notation $|v\rangle\langle u|$ for the linear map $w \mapsto \langle u|w\rangle v$. Let $\mathcal{J} := (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ and ρ be the quantum instrument and the density matrix on \mathcal{H} defined by

$$\Phi_a[X] := \sum_{i,j=1}^d m_{ij}(a) \langle v_j | X v_j \rangle | v_i \rangle \langle v_i |, \qquad \rho := \sum_{i=1}^d p_i | v_i \rangle \langle v_i |.$$
(2.1)

A simple computation gives that \mathbb{P} is the unraveling of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) . Note that the *d*-dimensional subspace of $\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$ consisting of all operators with a diagonal matrix representation w.r.t. the basis $(v_i)_{1 \le i \le d}$ contains the range of each map Φ_a and Φ_a^* , as well as the density matrix ρ .

In the remaining part of this section, we assume that all entries in \mathbf{p} are strictly positive, which ensures that Assumption (A) holds. This construction of an instrument canonically associated to a PMP measure gives more. Invoking [JPW14, Theorem 2.1], one easily shows that the map $\Phi := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a$ is irreducible iff the right-stochastic matrix M is irreducible.²² Given an involution θ on \mathcal{A} , the OR measure $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is the PMP measure generated by $((\widehat{M}_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, where $\widehat{M}_a := D^{-1}M_{\theta(a)}^{\mathsf{T}}D$, D being the diagonal matrix with entries p_1, \ldots, p_d . Note that the OR instrument $(\widehat{\mathcal{J}}, \widehat{\rho})$ constructed in (1.6) is given by

$$\widehat{\Phi}_a[X] = \sum_{i,j=1}^d \widehat{m}_{ij}(a) \langle v_j | X v_j \rangle | v_i \rangle \langle v_i |, \qquad \widehat{\rho} = \rho,$$

and coincides with the instrument canonically associated to the PMP measure $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$.

Lemma 2.2. Let \mathbb{P} be the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, and denote by (\mathcal{J}, ρ) the instrument canonically associated to it.

(i) If $m_{ij}(a) = 0 \Leftrightarrow m_{ji}(\theta(a)) = 0$ for any index pair ij and all $a \in A$, then Assumption (**B**) *holds.*

²¹We denote the transpose of an arbitrary matrix A, by A^{T} .

 $^{^{22}}M$ is called irreducible whenever, for any index pair ij, there is a power M^n with non-vanishing ij entry.

- (ii) If the matrix $\sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a \otimes \widehat{M}_a$ is irreducible, then Assumption (C) holds.
- (iii) If all entries in M_a are positive entries for all $a \in A$, then Assumption (C) holds with $\tau = 0$, and \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs.

Proof. Part (i) is easily deduced from the fact that, since all entries in **p** are strictly positive, $\mathbf{p}M_{a_1}\cdots M_{a_T}\mathbf{1} = 0$ iff $m_{i_1i_2}(a_1)m_{i_2i_3}(a_2)\cdots m_{i_Ti_{T+1}}(a_T) = 0$ for all indices $i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_{T+1}$. To prove Part (ii), observe that $(\Phi_a \otimes \widehat{\Phi}_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ is the instrument canonically associated to the PMP measure generated by $((M_a \otimes \widehat{M}_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p} \otimes \mathbf{p})$. The result then follows from Remark 1.5. Part (iii) is a variation of [FL02, Theorem 2.1]. Namely, with

$$C := \min_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \min_{i,j} \frac{m_{ij}(a)}{p_j \sum_k m_{ik}(a)},$$

one has $m_{ij}(a) \ge C \sum_k m_{ik}(a) p_j$ for all $a \in \mathcal{A}$ and any pair of indices ij. We can conclude that

$$\mathbb{P}_{T+S}(\omega) \ge C\mathbb{P}_T(\omega)\mathbb{P}_S \circ \phi^T(\omega) \tag{2.2}$$

holds for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $T, S \in \mathbb{N}^*$. A similar estimate clearly holds for the OR measure $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$, which yields Assumption (C) with $\tau = 0$. Together with the upper-decoupling property (1.5), (2.2) allows us to invoke Theorem 1.14 (i) to conclude that \mathbb{P} is weak Gibbs.

Note that if **(B)** holds, then the limit (1.12) is finite for all α .

Our final remark concerns unravelings of two-time measurement processes. If such an unraveling is a PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, then

$$ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Delta \mathfrak{S}(a) \mathbf{p} M_a \mathbf{1}, \qquad e(\alpha) = \log r(\alpha), \tag{2.3}$$

where $r(\alpha)$ is the spectral radius of the matrix

$$M(\alpha) = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} e^{-\alpha \Delta \mathfrak{S}(a)} M_a$$

2.1.1 Basic examples

Bernoulli instruments. Let Q be a probability mass function on the alphabet \mathcal{A} and let \mathbb{P} be the Bernoulli measure generated by Q, *i.e.*, the unique measure on $\Omega = \mathcal{A}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ such that, for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}^T$,

$$\mathbb{P}\left([\omega]\right) = Q(\omega_1) \cdots Q(\omega_T).$$

Any element of $\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$ will be called a Bernoulli instrument generated by Q. \mathbb{P} is a PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, where, for any $d \geq 1$, one can take $M_a := Q(a)\mathbb{1}$, and where \mathbf{p} is an arbitrary probability vector in \mathbb{R}^d with strictly positive entries. Note that, given some involution θ of \mathcal{A} , the OR $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is the Bernoulli measure generated by $\widehat{Q} := Q \circ \theta$ and that Assumptions (A) and (C) obviously hold. Assumption (B) holds iff $Q(a) = 0 \iff \widehat{Q}(a) = 0$. Note also that $M := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a = \mathbb{1}$, and so if d > 1, M is not irreducible.

For a Bernoulli instrument we have

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = S(Q|\widehat{Q}) = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} Q(a) \log \frac{Q(a)}{\widehat{Q}(a)}$$

and

$$e(\alpha) = S_{1-\alpha}(Q \mid \widehat{Q}) = \log\left(\sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} Q(a)^{1-\alpha} \widehat{Q}(a)^{\alpha}\right).$$

Note in particular that $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) > 0$ iff $Q \neq \widehat{Q}$.

Examples of Bernoulli instruments are given in Remark 2.7, Theorems 2.11, 2.15 (i)+(vii)+(ix), 2.18 (i)+(vi), 2.21 (i)+(vi), 4.3, 4.5 (vi), 4.6 (viii); see also Theorem 2.14 (i), and the "trivial case" in Section 4.1.4.

Markov chain instruments. Let $P = [p_{xy}]_{x,y \in \mathcal{A}}$ be a right-stochastic matrix on $\mathbb{R}^{\mathcal{A}}$ and $\mathbf{p} = [p_x]_{x \in \mathcal{A}}$ a probability vector with strictly positive entries satisfying $\mathbf{p}P = \mathbf{p}$. The Markov measure \mathbb{P} generated by (P, \mathbf{p}) is the unique measure on $\Omega = \mathcal{A}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ such that, for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega \in \mathcal{A}^T$,

$$\mathbb{P}\left([\omega]\right) = p_{\omega_1} p_{\omega_1 \omega_2} \cdots p_{\omega_{T-1} \omega_T}.$$
(2.4)

One easily verifies that \mathbb{P} is the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, where M_a has the entries

$$m_{xy}(a) := p_{xy}\delta_{xa}$$

 δ denoting the Kronecker symbol.²³ Obviously, $\sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a = P$. The canonically associated instrument in (2.1) takes the form

$$\Phi_a[X] = \sum_{x \in \mathcal{A}} p_{ax} \langle v_x | X v_x \rangle | v_a \rangle \langle v_a |, \qquad \rho = \sum_{x \in \mathcal{A}} p_x | v_x \rangle \langle v_x |.$$
(2.5)

Given an alphabet involution θ , the OR measure $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is also Markov and is generated by $(\widehat{P}, \widehat{\mathbf{p}})$, where

$$\widehat{p}_x = p_{\theta(x)}, \qquad \widehat{p}_{xy} = \frac{p_{\theta(y)}}{p_{\theta(x)}} p_{\theta(y)\theta(x)}.$$

Theorem 2.3. Suppose that *P* is irreducible and denote by (\mathcal{J}, ρ) the instrument canonically associated to the PMP measure \mathbb{P} . Then:

(i) Assumptions (A) and (C) hold. Assumption (B) holds iff, for all $x, y \in A$,

$$p_{xy} = 0 \iff p_{\theta(y)\theta(x)} = 0.$$

(ii)

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = \sum_{\substack{x, y \in \mathcal{A} \\ p_{xy} > 0}} p_x \log \frac{p_{xy}}{\widehat{p}_{xy}}.$$

In particular, $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ iff, for all $x, y \in \mathcal{A}$,

$$p_x p_{xy} = p_{\theta(y)} p_{\theta(y)\theta(x)}.$$

(iii) For $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, the matrix²⁴

$$P(\alpha) = \left[p_{xy}^{1-\alpha} \widehat{p}_{xy}^{\alpha} \right]_{x,y \in \mathcal{A}}$$

is irreducible and $e(\alpha) = \log r(\alpha)$, where $r(\alpha)$ is spectral radius of $P(\alpha)$. The map $\mathbb{R} \ni \alpha \mapsto e(\alpha)$ is real analytic.

 $^{^{23}}m_{xy}(a) = p_{xy}\delta_{ya}$ is an equally valid choice.

²⁴We use the convention 0/0 = 0.

Remark 2.4. Physically important Markov chain instruments are described in Theorems 4.5 (vii) and 4.6 (ix). A special class of Markov chain instruments is provided by von Neumann instruments with rank-one projections. Indeed, with the notation of Section 1.3, setting $p_{xy} = \text{tr}(P_y U P_x U^*)$ clearly yields a doubly stochastic matrix $P = [p_{xy}]_{x,y \in \mathcal{A}}$, and one easily checks that the Markov measure generated by $(P, \mathbf{1})$ coincides with the unraveling of the associated von Neumann instrument. In fact, the matrix P obtained here is unistochastic (in dimension strictly larger than 2, such matrices form a proper subset of the set of doubly stochastic matrices). Conversely, for any unistochastic matrix P, one can find a von Neumann instrument whose unraveling is the Markov process generated by $(P, \mathbf{1})$.

Remark 2.5. We mention without giving any details that one can, in the same way, describe multistep Markov chains (see for example [BCJ⁺a, FNS92]), *i.e.*, measures of the form

$$\mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_T) := p_{\omega_1\cdots\omega_k} \prod_{j=0}^{T-k-1} p_{\omega_{j+1}\cdots\omega_{j+k};\omega_{j+k+1}}$$

under some standard invariance condition, where $k \ge 1$ (the case k = 1 corresponds to the usual Markov chains discussed above). \mathbb{P} is then a PMP measure, as one sees by choosing M_a acting on \mathbb{R}^d , with $d := |\mathcal{A}|^k$, and \mathbf{p} as

$$M_a := \sum_{y_1, \dots, y_k \in \mathcal{A}} p_{ay_1 \dots y_{k-1}; y_k} |v_{ay_1 \dots y_{k-1}}\rangle \langle v_{y_1 \dots y_k}|, \qquad \mathbf{p} := \sum_{x_1, \dots, x_k \in \mathcal{A}} p_{x_1 \dots x_k} v_{x_1 \dots x_k},$$

where $(v_{x_1\cdots x_k})_{x_1,\ldots,x_k\in\mathcal{A}}$ is an orthonormal basis of \mathbb{R}^d .

2.1.2 The Keep–Switch PMP instrument

This example, studied in Section 3, is the instrument with alphabet $\mathcal{A} := \{K, S\}$ canonically associated to the PMP measure \mathbb{P} generated by $((M_K, M_S), \mathbf{p})$, where

$$M_K := \begin{bmatrix} q_1 & 0\\ 0 & q_2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M_S := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & r_1\\ r_2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{p} := (r_1 + r_2)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} r_2 & r_1 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.6)$$

 q_1, q_2 being two parameters in the interval]0, 1[and $r_1 := 1 - q_1, r_2 := 1 - q_2$. Let θ be the unique non-trivial involution of \mathcal{A} , *i.e.*, $\theta(K) = S$. We will discuss the probabilistic interpretation of the measure \mathbb{P} in Section 2.2.

Remark 2.6. Exchanging q_1 and q_2 (and hence r_1 and r_2) does not change the measure \mathbb{P} .

Remark 2.7. In the case $q_1 = q_2$, \mathbb{P} is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function $Q(K) = q_1$. The case $q_1 = 1 - q_2$ has a long history in the literature; see Section 2.2. To the best of our knowledge, the cases $q_1 \neq 1 - q_2$, $q_1 \neq q_2$, have not been studied before.

Remark 2.8. We have $\mathbb{P} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ iff $q_1 = q_2 = \frac{1}{2}$. The \Leftarrow implication is obvious, and the \Rightarrow implication follows, for example, by writing the two identities $\mathbb{P}_1(K) = \mathbb{P}_1(S)$ and $\mathbb{P}_3(KKK) = \mathbb{P}_3(SSS)$ in terms of q_1, q_2 and solving the resulting system of equations.

Remark 2.9. Replacing θ by the identity would lead to the OR measure satisfying $\widehat{\mathbb{P}} = \mathbb{P}$, see Proposition 3.2. Thus, the central role here is played by the choice of a non-trivial θ , and time-reversal in itself plays no role.

To avoid uninteresting cases, we assume throughout that $q_1 \neq q_2$. Our main result is:

Theorem 2.10.

- (i) Assumptions (A), (B) and (C) hold. In particular, Theorem 1.6 applies.
- (ii) The measure \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs.
- (iii) Let $\gamma = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_1}{q_2}$ and $\eta = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_1q_2}{r_1r_2}$. Then,

$$ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = \frac{(r_2 - r_1)\gamma + (r_1 - 4r_1r_2 + r_2)\eta}{r_1 + r_2} > 0.$$

(iv) The function $\alpha \mapsto e(\alpha)$ is differentiable and strictly convex. It is real analytic on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0, 1\}$, but fails to be twice differentiable at $\alpha \in \{0, 1\}$. Moreover,

$$(\partial^+ e')(0) - (\partial^- e')(0) = (\partial^- e')(1) - (\partial^+ e')(1) = \frac{4r_1r_2}{(q_1 + q_2)(r_1 + r_2)}\gamma^2.$$
 (2.7)

(v) The random variables $(\sigma_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfy a non-Gaussian central limit theorem: as $T \to \infty$,

$$\frac{\sigma_T - T \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho)}{\sqrt{T}} \tag{2.8}$$

converges in law towards $Z_1 - |Z_2|$, where Z_1 and Z_2 are independent, centered normal random variables of variance given by

$$\operatorname{Var}(Z_1) = \frac{4r_1r_2}{(r_1 + r_2)^3} \left((q_1 + q_2)\gamma^2 + 4(q_1 - q_2)\gamma\eta + 4(q_1r_2^2 + q_2r_1^2)\eta^2 \right) > 0,$$

$$\operatorname{Var}(Z_2) = \frac{4r_1r_2}{(q_1 + q_2)(r_1 + r_2)}\gamma^2 > 0.$$

(vi) The fluctuation-dissipation relation fails (see Section 3.6 for a more precise statement).

The proof of Theorem 2.10 is given in Section 3. We remark that Part (i) is easily established. Indeed, (A) is immediate and (B) follows from the observation that $\operatorname{supp} \mathbb{P}_T = \operatorname{supp} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T = \Omega_T$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$. To prove (C), one shows that the matrix $M_K \otimes M_S + M_S \otimes M_K$ is irreducible on $\mathbb{R}^2 \otimes \mathbb{R}^2$ by verifying that all the entries of the matrix $(\mathbb{1} + M_K \otimes M_S + M_S \otimes M_K)^2$ are strictly positive. Thus, we will start the proof of Theorem 2.10 in Section 3 with Part (ii). The proof gives an explicit expression for $e(\alpha)$; see (3.25) and (3.12).

We finish with the following remark. In addition to the canonical PMP instrument $((\Phi_K, \Phi_S), \rho)$ defined in (2.1), $\mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$ contains two instruments that are physically more natural.

The first one is the instrument $((\Psi_K, \Psi_S), \rho)$ on $\mathcal{H} := \mathbb{C}^2$ defined as

$$\Psi_{K}[X] := \begin{bmatrix} \cos \varphi_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \cos \varphi_{2} \end{bmatrix} X \begin{bmatrix} \cos \varphi_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \cos \varphi_{2} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\Psi_{S}[X] := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sin \varphi_{1} \\ \sin \varphi_{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix} X \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \sin \varphi_{2} \\ \sin \varphi_{1} & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and

$$\rho := (r_1 + r_2)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} r_2 & 0\\ 0 & r_1 \end{bmatrix}$$

where φ_1, φ_2 are such that $q_1 = \cos^2 \varphi_1, q_2 = \cos^2 \varphi_2$. One easily checks that $((\Psi_K, \Psi_S), \rho) \in \mathfrak{J}_{\mathbb{P}}$. The canonical OR instrument is $(\widehat{\Psi}_K, \widehat{\Psi}_S) = (\Psi_S, \Psi_K)$.

The second one is the X00-spin instrument with ρ_p a pure state; see Section 2.1.4 and in particular Parts (v) and (vi) of Theorem 2.15.

2.1.3 XXZ-spin instruments

With the notations of Section 1.4, the setting of the probe measurements that leads to the XXZ-spin instruments is the following. The Hilbert spaces are $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_p := \mathbb{C}^2$. We denote by $\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z$ the usual Pauli matrices. The model depends on the parameters $\epsilon > 0$, $\omega > 0$, $\lambda > 0$, $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$, t > 0, and $\eta \in]-1/2, 1/2[$. The Hamiltonians of the system S and the probes are

$$H_{\mathcal{S}} := \frac{\omega}{2} \sigma_z, \qquad H_p := \frac{\epsilon}{2} \sigma_z, \tag{2.9}$$

and the interaction between S and a single probe is described by

$$V := \frac{\lambda}{2} (\sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x + \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y) + \frac{\mu}{2} \sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z.$$
(2.10)

The full Hamiltonian is

$$H := H_{\mathcal{S}} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes H_p + V, \tag{2.11}$$

and the corresponding propagator over a period $t, U := e^{-itH}$, will be computed in Section 4.1. The state of the probes is

$$\rho_p =: \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2} - \eta & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} + \eta \end{bmatrix} = Z_p^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{-\beta_p H_p}, \tag{2.12}$$

where, in the cases of thermal probes, η is linked to the inverse temperature $\beta_p \in \mathbb{R}$ through the relation $\eta = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{th} \frac{\beta_p \epsilon}{2}$. Finally, $\mathcal{L} := \{-, +\}$, and the partition of unity

$$P_{+} := \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad P_{-} := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.13)

is associated to measurements of the probe energy H_p . The time-reversal invariance (1.23) holds with Θ and Θ_p acting as complex conjugation. This setting will be used for the one-time measurement protocol (with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L}$) as well as for two-time measurements with thermal, random thermal, and multi-thermal probes (with $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L}$).

One-time measurements. The instrument $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_-, \Phi_+)$ is described in detail in Section 4.1.1. One shows that $\Phi = \Phi_- + \Phi_+$ is irreducible and that $\rho = \rho_p$ is the unique density matrix for which (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A). Moreover, one has a complete description of the unraveling \mathbb{P} of this instrument.

Theorem 2.11. The unraveling \mathbb{P} is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function $Q(\pm) = \frac{1}{2} \mp \eta$. In particular, \mathbb{P} does not depend on ϵ , ω , λ , μ , and t.

Two-time measurements with a thermal probe. The instrument $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_{++}, \Phi_{+-}, \Phi_{-+}, \Phi_{--})$ is described in Section 4.1.2. We set

$$\delta := \sqrt{\left(\frac{\epsilon - \omega}{2}\right)^2 + \lambda^2}, \qquad s := \left(\lambda \frac{\sin(\delta t)}{\delta}\right)^2. \tag{2.14}$$

Applying Theorems 1.7 and 1.14, the following result will be proved in Section 4.1.2.

Theorem 2.12.

- (i) $\rho = \rho_p$ is the unique density matrix for which (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A).
- (ii) $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ and $e \equiv 0$.
- (iii) The unraveling \mathbb{P} of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a PMP measure.
- (iv) Suppose that $s \in [0, 1[$. Then \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs for any $\beta_p \in \mathbb{R}$.

The surprising aspect of this result is that although \mathbb{P} is not a weak Gibbs measure, its two marginals are Bernoulli measures. This follows from Remark 1.11 and Theorem 2.11.

For additional information see Theorem 4.5.

Two-time measurements with random thermal probes. We now consider the case of XXZspin interactions with K random thermal probes labeled by $k \in [\![1, K]\!]$. At each step the k-th probe, which is in thermal equilibrium at inverse temperature β_k , is selected with probability w_k . The corresponding instrument \mathcal{J} is described in Section 4.1.3, where more details can be found. In particular, we shall prove that there exists a unique density matrix ρ such that (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A). The following theorem only gives the main properties of this instrument.

Theorem 2.13.

(i)

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) = \frac{s}{2} \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_k w_l \frac{((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2) \operatorname{sh}((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_k + \beta_l)\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)},$$

where s is given by (2.14).

- (ii) $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ if and only if s = 0 or $\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \cdots = \beta_K$.
- (iii) The entropic pressure is given by

$$e(\alpha) = \log\left(1 + \frac{s}{2}\left(\sqrt{1 - \Delta(\alpha)} - 1\right)\right),$$

where

$$\Delta(\alpha) := \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_k w_l \frac{\operatorname{sh}(\alpha(\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2) \operatorname{sh}((1 - \alpha)(\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}(\beta_k \epsilon/2) \operatorname{ch}(\beta_l \epsilon/2)}$$

is an entire analytic function such that $\Delta(\alpha) < 1$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

- (iv) The unraveling \mathbb{P} of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a PMP measure.
- (v) Suppose that $s \in [0, 1[$. Then \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs for any $\beta_1, \ldots, \beta_K \in \mathbb{R}$.

Two-time measurements with multi-thermal probes. This is a computationally involved example, and we will consider only the case K = 2. The probe Hilbert space is $\mathcal{H}_p := \mathbb{C}^2 \otimes \mathbb{C}^2$, the Hamiltonian of each sub-probe is $H_k := \frac{\epsilon}{2}\sigma_z$, and

$$H_p := \frac{\epsilon}{2} \left(\sigma_z \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_z \right).$$

The interaction between S and the probes is described by

$$V := \frac{\lambda}{2} (\sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x \otimes \mathbb{1} + \sigma_x \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_x + \sigma_y \otimes \sigma_y \otimes \mathbb{1} + \sigma_y \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_y) \\ + \frac{\mu}{2} (\sigma_z \otimes \sigma_z \otimes \mathbb{1} + \sigma_z \otimes \mathbb{1} \otimes \sigma_z),$$

with coupling constants $\lambda > 0$ and $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. The full Hamiltonian is

$$H := H_{\mathcal{S}} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes H_p + V,$$

and $U := e^{-itH}$, where t > 0. The matrix U and the resulting quantum instrument \mathcal{J} are computed in Section 4.1.4, where we also carry out the complete analysis of the model. Here we state the results in the special case $\epsilon = \omega > 0$, $\mu = 0$.

Theorem 2.14.

(i) If $\lambda t \in \frac{\pi}{2}\mathbb{N}^*$, then any state ρ satisfies $\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$ and the unraveling \mathbb{P} of the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a convex combination of two Bernoulli measures.

In the remaining statements we assume that $\lambda t \notin \frac{\pi}{2} \mathbb{N}^*$.

- (ii) There is a unique state ρ such that (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A), and all the conclusions of Theorem 1.7 hold.
- (iii)

$$ep(\mathcal{J},\rho) = 2s \frac{((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2)\operatorname{sh}((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_1 + \beta_2)\epsilon/2)}$$

Obviously, $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ if and only if $\beta_1 = \beta_2$.

(iv) The entropic pressure is given by

$$e(\alpha) = 2\log\left(1 + s\left(\sqrt{1 - \Delta(\alpha)} - 1\right)\right),$$

where

$$\Delta(\alpha) := \frac{\operatorname{sh}\left(\alpha(\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)\operatorname{sh}\left((1 - \alpha)(\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)}{\operatorname{ch}\left(\beta_1\epsilon/2\right)\operatorname{ch}\left(\beta_2\epsilon/2\right)}$$

is an entire analytic function such that $\Delta(\alpha) < 1$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

- (v) The unraveling \mathbb{P} is a PMP measure.
- (vi) \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs for any $\beta_1 > 0, \beta_2 > 0$.

2.1.4 X00-spin instruments

The models to be considered in this section are similar to the previous XXZ-spin instruments, except for the system–probe interaction which is now given by

$$V := \frac{\lambda}{2} \sigma_x \otimes \sigma_x,$$

and the fact that we also allow for the values $\eta = \pm 1/2$ in the probe state (2.12). The total Hamiltonian is

$$H := H_{\mathcal{S}} \otimes \mathbb{1} + \mathbb{1} \otimes H_p + V, \tag{2.15}$$

with H_S and H_p given by (2.9). The explicit form of the propagator $U := e^{-itH}$ will be given in Section 4.2.

One time measurements. The properties of the instrument $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_-, \Phi_+)$ describing one-time measurements of the X00-spin interaction, as well as that of its unraveling \mathbb{P} are given in the following theorem. We set

$$s_{\pm} := \left(\lambda \frac{\sin\left(\frac{t}{2}\sqrt{\lambda^2 + (\omega \pm \epsilon)^2}\right)}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + (\omega \pm \epsilon)^2}}\right)^2.$$
(2.16)

Theorem 2.15.

(i) If s₋ = s₊ = 0, then any density matrix ρ satisfies Φ*[ρ] = ρ and the unraveling P of the associated instrument (J, ρ) is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function Q(±) = 1/2 ∓ η.

In the following, we assume that $s_{-} + s_{+} > 0$ and set

$$p := \frac{1}{2} + \eta \frac{s_+ - s_-}{s_+ + s_-}.$$
(2.17)

(ii) There is a unique density matrix,

$$\rho \coloneqq \begin{bmatrix} p & 0\\ 0 & 1-p \end{bmatrix},\tag{2.18}$$

such that the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A). The time-reversal invariance (1.23) obviously holds.

- (iii) The unraveling \mathbb{P} of the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a PMP measure.
- (iv) If $s_{-} = 1$ and $s_{+} = 0$, then

$$\mathbb{P} = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right)\delta_{+} + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \eta\right)\delta_{-},$$

where δ_{\pm} is the Dirac measure at $(\pm, \pm, ...)$.

In the remaining statements we assume that $s_{\pm} \in [0, 1[$.

- (v) If $\eta = -\frac{1}{2}$, then \mathbb{P} is the Keep–Switch PMP measure with (K, S) = (+, -) and $(r_1, r_2) = (s_+, s_-)$.
- (vi) If $\eta = \frac{1}{2}$, then \mathbb{P} is the Keep–Switch PMP measure with (K, S) = (-, +) and $(r_1, r_2) = (s_-, s_+)$.
- (vii) If $\eta = 0$, then \mathbb{P} is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function $Q(\pm) = 1/2$.

In the remaining statements we assume in addition that $|\eta| \in [0, 1/2[$.

- (viii) \mathbb{P} is a weak Gibbs measure and the entropic pressure e is a differentiable function on \mathbb{R} .
- (ix) If $\theta(+) = -$, then $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ iff $s_- = s_+ = 1/2$. The latter condition implies that \mathbb{P} is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function $Q(\pm) = 1/2$.
- (x) If $\theta(+) = +$, then $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$.

Remark 2.16. Assumption (A) always holds. Assumptions (B) and (C) hold apart from the trivial boundary cases $(s_-, s_+) \in \{(0, 0), (1, 0)\}$.

Remark 2.17. With regard to (v) and (vi), we emphasize that ρ_p given by (2.12) is a pure state iff $\eta = \pm 1/2$. One easily sees that as the parameters $\omega, \epsilon, \lambda$ and t vary in $]0, \infty[$, the pair (s_-, s_+) can take any value in $[0, 1] \times [0, 1[$. Thus, if $\eta = \pm 1/2$, then for any Keep–Switch PMP measure \mathbb{P} one can find parameters $\omega, \epsilon, \lambda$ and t such that the unraveling of the corresponding X00-spin instrument is equal to \mathbb{P} . The failure of the fluctuation–dissipation relation for the Keep–Switch PMP instruments translates to its failure for the X00-spin instruments with $\eta = \pm \frac{1}{2}$.

Two-time measurements with a thermal probe. The associated instrument \mathcal{J} is described in Section 4.2.2, where we prove the following theorem.

Theorem 2.18.

(i) If s₋ = s₊ = 0, then any diagonal density matrix ρ > 0 satisfies Assumption (A) and the unraveling of (J, ρ) is the Bernoulli measure on {++, --}^{N*} generated by the mass function Q(±±) = e^{∓βε/2}/2 ch(βε/2).

In the following, we assume that $s_{-} + s_{+} > 0$.

- (ii) The map Φ is irreducible and the unique density matrix ρ such that (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A) is given by (2.17) and (2.18) with $\eta := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{th}(\beta \epsilon/2)$.
- (iii) The unraveling \mathbb{P} of the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a PMP measure.
- (iv)

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = \frac{2s_+ s_-}{s_+ + s_-} \beta \epsilon \operatorname{th}(\beta \epsilon/2),$$

and in particular $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) > 0$ iff s_{\pm} are both non-vanishing.

(v) The entropic pressure is given by

$$e(\alpha) = \log\left(1 + \frac{s_+ + s_-}{2}\left(\sqrt{1 - \Delta(\alpha)} - 1\right)\right),$$

where

$$\Delta(\alpha) := \frac{4s_+s_-}{(s_++s_-)^2} \frac{\operatorname{sh}(\alpha\beta\epsilon)\operatorname{sh}((1-\alpha)\beta\epsilon)}{\operatorname{ch}^2(\beta\epsilon/2)}$$

is an entire analytic function such that $\Delta(\alpha) < 1$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

(vi) If $s_+ = s_- = 1/2$, then \mathbb{P} is Bernoulli. In the opposite cases \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs for any $\beta > 0$.

Remark 2.19. As noted in [HJPR17], the invariant state ρ is not the Gibbs state at inverse temperature β and Bohr frequency ϵ unless $s_{-} = 0$, that is, unless $t\sqrt{\lambda^2 + (\omega - \epsilon)^2} \in 2\pi \mathbb{N}^*$.

Remark 2.20. This strict positivity of entropy production stated in Part (iv) has been previously observed [HJPR17, HJPR18].

For additional information see Section 4.2.2.

Two-time measurements with random thermal probes. The corresponding instrument \mathcal{J} is described in Section 4.2.3. The main result is as follows.

Theorem 2.21.

(i) If s₋ = s₊ = 0, then any diagonal density matrix ρ > 0 satisfies Assumption (A) and the unraveling of (*J*, ρ) is the Bernoulli measure on ([[1, K]] × {++, --})^{N*} generated by the mass function Q(k±±) = w_ke^{∓β_kε/2}/2 ch(β_kε/2).

In the following, we assume that $s_{-} + s_{+} > 0$.

(ii) The map Φ is irreducible and the unique density matrix ρ such that (J, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A) is given by (2.17) and (2.18) with

$$\eta := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{K} w_k \operatorname{th}(\beta_k \epsilon/2).$$
(2.19)

(iii) The unraveling \mathbb{P} of the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a PMP measure.

(iv)

$$ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = \frac{s_{+}^{2} + s_{-}^{2}}{s_{+} + s_{-}} \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_{k} w_{l} \frac{((\beta_{k} - \beta_{l})\epsilon/2) \operatorname{sh}((\beta_{k} - \beta_{l})\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_{k} - \beta_{l})\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_{k} + \beta_{l})\epsilon/2)} + \frac{2s_{+}s_{-}}{s_{+} + s_{-}} \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_{k} w_{l} \frac{((\beta_{k} + \beta_{l})\epsilon/2) \operatorname{sh}((\beta_{k} + \beta_{l})\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_{k} - \beta_{l})\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_{k} + \beta_{l})\epsilon/2)}$$

In particular $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) > 0$ if $s_+s_- > 0$ or if there is a pair of indices such that $w_k w_l > 0$ and $\beta_k \neq \beta_l$.

(v) The entropic pressure is given by

$$e(\alpha) = \log\left(1 + \frac{s_+ + s_-}{2}\left(\sqrt{1 - \Delta(\alpha)} - 1\right)\right),$$

where

$$\Delta(\alpha) := \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_k w_l \left(\frac{s_+^2 + s_-^2}{(s_+ + s_-)^2} \frac{\operatorname{sh}(\alpha(\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)\operatorname{sh}((1 - \alpha)(\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}(\beta_k\epsilon/2)\operatorname{ch}(\beta_l\epsilon/2)} + \frac{2s_+s_-}{(s_+ + s_-)^2} \frac{\operatorname{sh}(\alpha(\beta_k + \beta_l)\epsilon/2)\operatorname{sh}((1 - \alpha)(\beta_k + \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}(\beta_k\epsilon/2)\operatorname{ch}(\beta_l\epsilon/2)} \right)$$

is an entire analytic function such that $\Delta(\alpha) < 1$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

(vi) If $s_+ = s_- = 1/2$, then \mathbb{P} is Bernoulli. In the opposite cases \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs for any β_1, \ldots, β_K .

For additional information see Section 4.2.3.

2.2 The hidden Markov model perspective

We show here that the class of PMP measures introduced in Section 2.1 coincides with the standard class of *Hidden Markov models*. For completeness, we start by introducing a third (equivalent) class of measures: *Function Markov measures*.

We denote by \mathcal{L} an auxiliary finite alphabet, and by $\Xi := \mathcal{L}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ the associated path space, equipped with a stationary Markov measure $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Xi)$. Let $f : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{A}$ be onto and define the map $F : \Xi \to \Omega$ by $F : (\xi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}^*} \mapsto (f(\xi_t))_{t \in \mathbb{N}^*}$.

Definition 2.22. The measure $\mathbb{P} := \mathbb{Q} \circ F^{-1} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ is the Function Markov (FM) measure generated by the pair (\mathbb{Q}, f) .

Obviously, the same \mathbb{P} may be generated by many distinct pairs (\mathbb{Q}, f) .

Remark 2.23. If supp $\mathbb{Q} = \Xi$, then \mathbb{P} is Gibbs for a Hölder continuous potential (see, e.g., [Ver11, Sections 2–3]). However, necessary and sufficient conditions on the pair (\mathbb{Q}, f) for the induced FM measure \mathbb{P} to be Gibbs or weak Gibbs are unknown.

It is sometimes convenient to define \mathbb{P} as the law of the process $(f(\xi_t, \ldots, \xi_{t+k-1}))_{t \in \mathbb{N}^*}$, where $f: \mathcal{L}^k \to \mathcal{A}$ is an onto map. This case reduces to Definition 2.22 by considering the stationary Markov Chain $\mathcal{X}_t = (\xi_t, \ldots, \xi_{t+k-1})$ with state space \mathcal{L}^k .

Let $R =: [R_{la}]_{l \in \mathcal{L}, a \in \mathcal{A}}$ be a right-stochastic matrix. For $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T) \in \mathcal{A}^T$, set

$$\mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1,\ldots,\omega_T) := \sum_{(\xi_1,\ldots,\xi_T)\in\mathcal{L}^T} \mathbb{Q}([\xi_1\cdots\xi_T]) \prod_{t=1}^T R_{\xi_t\omega_t}$$

 \mathbb{P}_T induces a probability measure on \mathcal{A}^T and there is a unique probability measure $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ such that $\mathbb{P}([\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T]) = \mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T)$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T) \in \Omega_T$.

Definition 2.24. *The measure* \mathbb{P} *is the Hidden Markov (HM) measure generated by the pair* (\mathbb{Q}, R) *.*

Of course, here again, different pairs (\mathbb{Q}, R) may generate the same \mathbb{P} . It follows from the proof of the next proposition and Remark 2.23 that \mathbb{P} is Gibbs with a Hölder continuous potential provided supp $\mathbb{Q} = \Xi$ and the entries of the matrix R are strictly positive. Sufficient and necessary conditions for \mathbb{P} to be Gibbs or weak Gibbs are not known; see [BV21] for some recent results in this direction. The following result is basic.

Proposition 2.25. Let $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$. The following statements are equivalent.

- (i) \mathbb{P} is an FM measure.
- (ii) \mathbb{P} is an HM measure.
- (iii) \mathbb{P} is a PMP measure.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii). Let the FM measure $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ be generated by the pair (\mathbb{Q}, f) , and set $R_{la} := \delta_{f(l),a}$. The matrix $R := [R_{la}]_{(l,a) \in \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{A}}$ is right-stochastic and \mathbb{P} is the HM measure generated by (\mathbb{Q}, R) .

(ii) \Rightarrow (i). Suppose that the HM measure $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ is generated by the pair (\mathbb{Q}, R) , the Markov measure $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Xi)$ being itself generated by (Q, \mathbf{q}) . Setting $\mathcal{X} := \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{A}$, one easily checks that the pair (P, \mathbf{p}) , where $\mathbf{p} := [q_l R_{la}]_{(l,a) \in \mathcal{X}}$ and $P := [q_{ll'} R_{l'a'}]_{(l,a),(l',a') \in \mathcal{X}}$, generates a Markov measure $\mathbb{L} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\mathcal{X}^{\mathbb{N}^*})$. Defining $f : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{A}$ by f(l, a) := a, one concludes that \mathbb{P} is the FM measure generated by the pair (\mathbb{L}, f) .

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii). Let $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ be the HM measure generated by (\mathbb{Q}, R) , with the Markov measure $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Xi)$ generated by (Q, \mathbf{q}) . For $a \in \mathcal{A}$, define the matrix $M_a := [q_{ll'}R_{l'a}]_{l,l'\in\mathcal{L}}$. Then, \mathbb{P} is the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a\in\mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{q})$.

(iii) \Rightarrow (ii). Suppose that $\mathbb{P} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Omega)$ is the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, where $M_a =: [m_{ij}(a)]_{i,j \in [\![1,d]\!]}$ and $\mathbf{p} =: [p_i]_{i \in [\![1,d]\!]}$. Let $\mathcal{L} := [\![1,d]\!] \times \mathcal{A}$ and consider the Markov measure $\mathbb{Q} \in \mathcal{P}_{\phi}(\Xi)$ generated by (\mathbf{q}, Q) with

$$q_{(i,a)} := \sum_{h=1}^{d} p_h m_{hi}(a), \qquad q_{(i,a)(j,b)} := m_{ij}(b).$$

Then \mathbb{P} is the HM measure generated by (\mathbb{Q}, R) , where $R_{(i,b)a} := \delta_{ab}$.

The equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) goes back to the seminal work [BP66] where the FM/HM measures were introduced. Following [BP66], the subject developed rapidly with applications extending to ecology, automatic speech recognition, communications and information theory, econometrics, biology, to mention some of them. The review article [EM02] is an excellent introduction to the subject from the statistical/information theoretic perspective. For the dynamical system perspective, see the collection of papers in [MPW11].

Although mathematically elementary, we are not aware of the equivalence (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) appearing previously in the literature. The likely explanation for this is that the particular probabilistic intuition behind the FM/HM construction is invisible in the PMP picture.²⁵ On the other hand, from the perspective of our work, it is precisely the PMP representation that plays the central role. The reason for this is the particular quantum mechanical interpretation of the PMP representation which in turn is invisible in the FM/HM picture. From the foundational perspective, this interpretation complements the probabilistic FM/HM construction. We will now argue that it is also useful from the technical perspective.

In the proof of the implication (ii) \Rightarrow (iii) one associates to the generating pair (\mathbb{Q}, R) of the HM measure \mathbb{P} the PMP generating pair ($(M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p}$) with the simple identification

$$m_{ll'}(a) = \mathbb{Q}(\xi_2 = l' \mid \xi_1 = l)R_{l'a}$$

The subadditive thermodynamic formalism of [BJPP18] and the Lanford–Ruelle LDP theory of [CJPS19] then lead to information about the statistics of \mathbb{P} that is of independent interest and might be difficult to prove with other approaches. For example, in [CJPS19] it is proven that if the matrix M is irreducible, then the Level III LDP holds for \mathbb{P} . The results of [BJPP18] give a very general criterion for validity of binary hypothesis testing for a pair $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ of HM measures, as described at the end of Section 1.2. We hope that these results will be of further theoretical use and will find applications in the fields where the HM/FM measure modeling plays an important role.

Turning to the examples, the FM picture of the Keep–Switch PMP measure \mathbb{P} introduced in Section 2.1.2 arises as follows. Consider the stationary Markov chain $(\xi_t)_{t \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ on the state space $\mathcal{L} := \{+, -\}$ generated by the pair (P, \mathbf{p}) with

$$P := \begin{bmatrix} q_1 & r_1 \\ r_2 & q_2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{p} := (r_1 + r_2)^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} r_2 & r_1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(2.20)

Then, in the FM picture, \mathbb{P} is the law of $(f(\xi_t, \xi_{t+1}))_{t \in \mathbb{N}^*}$, where

$$f(\xi,\xi') := \begin{cases} K & \text{if } \xi = \xi'; \\ S & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

see Section 3.2. In the particular case $q_1 = 1 - q_2$, $q_1 \neq 1/2$, the FM measure \mathbb{P} is sometimes called the Blackwell–Furstenberg–Walters–van den Berg (BFWB) measure and has appeared independently in probability theory, dynamical systems, and statistical physics [Bla57, Wal86, Ver16]. The interest in this example is the non-Gibbsian character of \mathbb{P} , which was typically examined on the Dobrushin–Lanford–Ruelle level: the limsup of conditional probabilities

$$\mathcal{C}(\omega) := \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{\mathbb{P}_T(\omega_1, \dots, \omega_T)}{\mathbb{P}_{T-1}(\omega_2, \dots, \omega_T)}$$

is discontinuous *everywhere* on Ω , see [LMVV98, Ver11]. Due to this fact, in the literature the BFWB measure is a canonical toy example illustrating the possible non-Gibbsian character of the HM/FM measures. To the best of our knowledge, the case $q_1 \neq 1 - q_2$ has not been considered previously.

Theorem 2.10 can be viewed as an extension of the BFWB example adapted to the topics studied in this paper. Here it is also important to note that the proof of Theorem 2.10, given in Section 3, is technically centered around the FM representation of \mathbb{P} . But we also emphasize that Parts (v)–(vi)

²⁵We mention here that the link between HM and matrix products was used in [JSS08] for the study of the Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy.

of Theorem 2.15²⁶ shed a different light on the Theorem 2.10 and in particular the BFWB example. Firstly, the probe measurements leading to \mathbb{P} are realized in a physically natural way, singling out its theoretical and experimental relevance. Secondly, the generalization to $q_1 \neq 1 - q_2$ that goes beyond the BFWB example is not only of mathematical interest, but is also motivated by the fact that the parameters of the X00-spin instrument would be unnaturally restricted if the values of q_1 and q_2 were not independent of each other.

In view of other possible applications and in the spirit of the discussion at the end of Section 1.2, it is of interest to consider the case where \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ are two Keep–Switch PMP measures with unrelated parameters (*i.e.*, no time reversal or involution θ is involved here). More precisely, let \mathbb{P} and $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ be the Keep–Switch PMP measures respectively generated by the matrices and probability vectors

$$M_{K} := \begin{bmatrix} q_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & q_{2} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M_{S} := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & r_{1} \\ r_{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \mathbf{p} := (r_{1} + r_{2})^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} r_{2} & r_{1} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\widehat{M}_{K} := \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{q}_{1} & 0 \\ 0 & \widehat{q}_{2} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \widehat{M}_{S} := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \widehat{r}_{1} \\ \widehat{r}_{2} & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \widehat{\mathbf{p}} := (\widehat{r}_{1} + \widehat{r}_{2})^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} \widehat{r}_{2} & \widehat{r}_{1} \end{bmatrix},$$

-

where $0 < q_1, q_2, \hat{q}_1, \hat{q}_2 < 1$ and $r_i := 1 - q_i, \hat{r}_i := 1 - \hat{q}_i, i = 1, 2$. The canonically associated instruments satisfy Assumptions (A), (B) and (C), and the generalization of Theorem 1.6 formulated at the end of Section 1.2 applies to the pair $(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$. We complement it with the following result, in which the numbers

$$\gamma := \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_1}{q_2}, \qquad \qquad \chi := \frac{1}{2} \left(\left| \log \frac{q_1}{q_2} \right| - \left| \log \frac{\widehat{q}_1}{\widehat{q}_2} \right| \right), \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\eta := \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_1 q_2 \hat{r}_1 \hat{r}_2}{r_1 r_2 \hat{q}_1 \hat{q}_2}, \qquad \qquad \delta := \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{r_1 r_2}{\hat{r}_1 \hat{r}_2}, \qquad (2.23)$$

will play a particular role. Unlike in Theorem 2.10, we do not assume here that $\gamma \neq 0$.

Theorem 2.26.

(i) We have

$$ep(\mathbb{P},\widehat{\mathbb{P}}) = \delta + \frac{r_1 - 2r_1r_2 + r_2}{r_1 + r_2}\eta + \frac{|r_1 - r_2|}{r_1 + r_2}\chi$$

(ii) The following four statements are equivalent: (a) $ep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}) = 0$, (b) $\mathbb{P} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$, (c) $(q_1, q_2) = (\widehat{q}_1, \widehat{q}_2)$ or $(q_1, q_2) = (\widehat{q}_2, \widehat{q}_1)$, (d) $\eta = \chi = 0$.

We assume that $ep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}) > 0$ in the remaining statements.

- (iii) The function $\alpha \mapsto e(\alpha)$ is differentiable and strictly convex. If $\chi = 0$, then e is real analytic. If $\chi \neq 0$, then e is analytic on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{|\gamma|/\chi\}$, but not twice differentiable at $|\gamma|/\chi$.
- (iv) If $\chi = 0$ or $\gamma \neq 0$, then the random variables $(\sigma_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfy the central limit theorem²⁷

$$\frac{\sigma_T - T \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})}{\sqrt{T}} \Rightarrow Z$$

where Z is a centered normal random variable of variance

$$\operatorname{Var}(Z) = \frac{4r_1r_2}{(r_1 + r_2)^3} \left((q_1r_2^2 + q_2r_1^2)\eta^2 + 2|r_2 - r_1|\eta\chi + (q_1 + q_2)\chi^2 \right) > 0.$$

²⁶In this context, see also Remark 4.7.

²⁷Here and below, \Rightarrow denotes convergence in law.

(v) If $\chi \neq 0$ and $\gamma = 0$, then the random variables $(\sigma_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfy the non-Gaussian central limit theorem

$$\frac{\sigma_T - T \operatorname{ep}(\mathbb{P}, \widetilde{\mathbb{P}})}{\sqrt{T}} \Rightarrow Z_1 - |Z_2|,$$

where (Z_1, Z_2) is a pair of independent, centered normal random variables with

$$\operatorname{Var}(Z_1) = q_1 r_1 \eta^2, \qquad \operatorname{Var}(Z_2) = \frac{q_1}{r_1} \chi^2 > 0$$

Remark 2.27. Unlike in Theorem 2.26, the measure $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ discussed in context of Theorem 2.10 *is not* a Keep–Switch PMP measure, and the two results are not directly related. However, on the technical level, the proof of Theorem 2.26 is only a slight modification of the proof of Theorem 2.10. We will sketch it in Section 3.7.

Remark 2.28. The proof gives an explicit expression for $e(\alpha)$; see (3.38).

Remark 2.29. Note that $\gamma = 0$ iff $q_2 = q_1$, that is, iff \mathbb{P} is a Bernoulli measure. Moreover, $\chi = 0$ iff $q_1/q_2 = \hat{q}_1/\hat{q}_2$ or $q_1/q_2 = \hat{q}_2/\hat{q}_1$. Thus, the non-standard central limit theorem stated in Part (v) holds iff \mathbb{P} is Bernoulli and $\hat{\mathbb{P}}$ is not. Note also that, unsurprisingly, this coincides with the situation where e is not twice differentiable at $\alpha = 0$.

Remark 2.30. In the case $\hat{q}_1 = \hat{q}_2 = 1/2$, $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ is the symmetric Bernoulli measure on Ω (recall Remark 2.7), and Theorem 2.26 yields information about the specific entropy and the specific Rényi entropy of the Keep–Switch PMP measure \mathbb{P} . More precisely,

$$S(\mathbb{P}) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} S(\mathbb{P}_T) = \frac{r_1 S_2 + r_2 S_1}{r_1 + r_2},$$

where $S_i := -q_i \log q_i - r_i \log r_i$ is the entropy of the measure on \mathcal{A} generated by $Q_i(K) = q_i$. The limit defining the specific Rényi entropy (recall (1.35))

$$r(\alpha) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} S_{\alpha}(\mathbb{P}) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \left[\sum_{\omega \in \text{supp } \mathbb{P}_T} (\mathbb{P}_T(\omega))^{\alpha} \right] = e(1-\alpha) + (1-\alpha) \log 2$$

exists and the function $\alpha \mapsto r(\alpha)$ is differentiable and strictly convex. If $q_1 = q_2$, that is, if \mathbb{P} is Bernoulli, the function r is real analytic, otherwise r is real analytic on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ but not twice differentiable at 0. Let $S_T(\omega) := -\log \mathbb{P}_T(\omega)$. The Shannon–McMillan–Breiman \mathbb{P} -a.s. convergence (recall that \mathbb{P} is ϕ -ergodic),

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{S_T(\omega)}{T} = h_\phi(\mathbb{P}),$$

is accompanied by the central limit theorem

$$\frac{S_T - Th_\phi(\mathbb{P})}{\sqrt{T}} \Rightarrow Z$$

where Z is centered normal random variable with variance

$$\operatorname{Var}(Z) = \frac{4r_1r_2}{(r_1 + r_2)^3} \left((q_1 + q_2)\gamma^2 + 2(r_2 - r_1)\gamma\eta + (q_1r_2^2 + q_2r_1^2)\eta^2 \right),$$

and the LDP which holds with the rate function $I(s) := \sup_{\alpha \in \mathbb{R}} (s\alpha - r(-\alpha))$.

Remark 2.31. There is abundant literature on entropies of hidden Markov models, part of which is devoted to the study of concrete examples; see [MPW11]. In this context Theorem 2.26 gives detailed information for a class of examples which, to the best of our knowledge, have not been studied previously.

The unravelings of spin instruments also give novel classes of FM/HM measures that are not weak Gibbs; see Remark 2 after Theorem 4.4 in [vEFS93] for a related discussion. We will not go into details here since we shall return to the FM/HM/PMP connection in the continuation of this work [BCJ⁺a] where many additional examples are discussed.

2.3 Rotational instruments

Let $\mathcal{H} := \mathbb{C}^2$ and $\mathcal{A} := \{0, 1, 2, 3\}$. Let, moreover, $\Delta \in [0, 2[$ be a parameter. We define the rotational instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) by $\mathcal{J} := (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ and $\rho := \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}$, where

$$\Phi_0[X] := \frac{1}{3} R_\Delta X R_{-\Delta}, \qquad \Phi_1[X] := \frac{1}{12} V X V^*,$$

$$\Phi_2[X] := \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{tr}(X) \mathbb{1} - \Phi_1[X], \qquad \Phi_3[X] := \frac{1}{6} \operatorname{tr}(X) \mathbb{1},$$

with

$$R_{\Delta} := \begin{bmatrix} \cos(\pi\Delta) & -\sin(\pi\Delta) \\ \sin(\pi\Delta) & \cos(\pi\Delta) \end{bmatrix}, \qquad V := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

We note that R_{Δ} is a rotation matrix and that $R_{\Delta}^* = R_{-\Delta}$. Since Φ_3 is positivity improving, so is $\Phi := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a$. In particular, Φ is irreducible. The involution θ is defined by

$$\theta(0) := 2, \quad \theta(1) := 1, \quad \theta(2) := 0, \quad \theta(3) := 3$$

Denote by \mathcal{I} the set of irrational numbers in [0, 2]. In Section 5, we will prove

Theorem 2.32.

- (i) For all $\Delta \in \mathcal{I}$, Assumptions (A), (B), and (C) hold.
- (ii) For a set of Δ 's in \mathcal{I} of full measure, we have $e(\alpha) < \infty$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.
- (iii) For a dense set of Δ 's in \mathcal{I} , we have $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ for all $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$, and

$$(\partial^- e)(1) = -(\partial^+ e)(0) = \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho) < \infty.$$

(iv) For a dense set of Δ 's in \mathcal{I} , we have $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ for all $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$ and

$$(\partial^- e)(1) = -(\partial^+ e)(0) = \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = \infty.$$

Remark 2.33. By Theorem 1.6 (v), e is finite and differentiable on]0, 1[. In Part (ii) the function e is finite on \mathbb{R} , but its differentiability properties outside]0, 1[are not known.

Remark 2.34. Obviously, in Parts (iii) and (iv) the unraveling \mathbb{P} is not PMP²⁸ and is not weak Gibbs. The surprising aspect of these two cases is the extent of this failure, captured by the singularities of *e* at $\alpha = 0, 1$.

²⁸For PMP unravelings $e(\alpha) < \infty$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Remark 2.35. We conjecture that for all Δ in \mathcal{I} the unraveling \mathbb{P} is not PMP and not weak Gibbs. We will return to this point in [BCJ⁺a].

Remark 2.36. With our choice of Φ_0 and Φ_1 one easily computes that

$$\mathbb{P}([10^T 1]) = (288)^{-1} 3^{-T} \sin^2(T\pi\Delta).$$

The quantity $\sin^2(T\pi\Delta)$ plays the central role in the proof of Theorem 2.32 and in the intuition behind the result. Depending on the number-theoretic properties of Δ , $\sin^2(T\pi\Delta)$ can be extremely small yet non-zero for some large values of T. The maps Φ_2 and Φ_3 , on the other hand, play a secondary role and are chosen for easy verification of Assumptions (A), (B), and (C).

Remark 2.37. As with the Keep–Switch instrument, the specific choice of θ here is crucial, as pure time-reversal does not produce the above singularities. To see this, consider the involution

$$\Upsilon[X] := UXU^*, \qquad U := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$

and observe that, for any $a \in \mathcal{A}$, $\Upsilon \circ \Phi_a = \Phi_a^* \circ \Upsilon$. Since $\Upsilon[\mathbb{1}] = \mathbb{1}$ and $\operatorname{tr} \circ \Upsilon = \operatorname{tr}$, one has

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T]) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\Upsilon \circ \Phi_{\omega_1} \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{\omega_T} [\mathbb{1}] \right) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\Phi_{\omega_1}^* \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{\omega_T}^* \circ \Upsilon [\mathbb{1}] \right) \\ = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} \left(\Phi_{\omega_T} \circ \cdots \circ \Phi_{\omega_1} [\mathbb{1}] \right) = \mathbb{P}([\omega_T \cdots \omega_1]),$$

for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\omega \in \Omega_T$.

3 Keep–Switch instruments

Sections 3.1–3.6 are devoted to the proof of Theorem 2.10. Theorem 2.26 is proved in Section 3.7. We shall freely use some standard definitions and results of Large Deviation theory. The classical references for those are [DZ98, Ell85].

In the proof of Theorem 2.10, recalling Remark 2.6 and our standing assumption $q_1 \neq q_2$, we shall also assume that

$$q_1 > q_2.$$
 (3.1)

3.1 Proof of Theorem 2.10, Part (ii)

We have to show that the PMP measure \mathbb{P} generated by $((M_K, M_S), \mathbf{p})$, as defined in (2.6), is not weak Gibbs. For $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, a simple computation gives

$$\frac{\mathbb{P}_{2T+1}(K^T S K^T)}{\mathbb{P}_{T+1}(K^T S) \mathbb{P}_T(K^T)} = 2(r_1 + r_2) \left((1 + r_1) \left(\frac{q_1}{q_2}\right)^T + (1 + r_2) \left(\frac{q_2}{q_1}\right)^T \right)^{-1}.$$

Hence,

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{2T+1} \log \left(\frac{\mathbb{P}_{2T+1}(K^T S K^T)}{\mathbb{P}_{T+1}(K^T S) \mathbb{P}_T(K^T)} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_2}{q_1} < 0,$$

and the statement follows from Theorem 1.14 (ii).

3.2 The FM representation

We mentioned in Section 2.2 that the FM representation suggested by Proposition 2.25 turns out to be an efficient technical tool in the study of PMP or HM measures. We shall exemplify this statement in the proof of the remaining parts of Theorem 2.10.

Let \mathbb{Q} be the Markov measure on $\Xi = \{+, -\}^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ generated by the pair (P, \mathbf{p}) given by (2.20). The reader should keep in mind that + stands for +1 and - for -1, and recall that according to the notation introduced in Section 1.2, $\Xi_T = \{+, -\}^T$ for every integer T. For $a \in \{+, -\}$, we define $\overline{a} = -a$ and we extend this map to arbitrary (finite or infinite) sequences of elements of $\{+, -\}$ in the obvious way.

By the definition of \mathbb{Q} (recall (2.4)), for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\xi \in \Xi_{T+1}$, we have

$$\mathbb{Q}([\xi]) = p_{\xi_1} p_{\xi_1 \xi_2} p_{\xi_2 \xi_3} \cdots p_{\xi_T \xi_{T+1}}.$$
(3.2)

Denoting by $n_{ab}(\xi)$ the number of transitions from a to b in ξ , *i.e.*, the number of indices $t \in [\![1, T]\!]$ such that $(\xi_t, \xi_{t+1}) = (a, b)$, we can rewrite

$$\mathbb{Q}([\xi]) = p_{\xi_1} q_1^{n_{++}(\xi)} q_2^{n_{--}(\xi)} r_1^{n_{+-}(\xi)} r_2^{n_{-+}(\xi)}.$$
(3.3)

Let $f: \Xi_2 \to \mathcal{A}$ be as in (2.21). We let then $F: \Xi_{T+1} \to \Omega_T$ be given by

$$F(\xi) := (f(\xi_1, \xi_2), f(\xi_2, \xi_3), \dots, f(\xi_T, \xi_{T+1})),$$

and with a slight abuse of notation, we also denote by F its obvious extension to infinite sequences. These maps are 2-to-1: It is immediate that $F(\overline{\xi}) = F(\xi)$ for any ξ . Moreover, for any finite or infinite sequence ω , one has $F^{-1}(\{\omega\}) = \{\xi, \overline{\xi}\}$ with

$$\xi_1 := +, \qquad \xi_t := (-1)^{N_t(\omega)}, \qquad N_t(\omega) := |\{s \in [[1, t-1]] \mid \omega_s = S\}|, \qquad t > 1.$$

Proposition 3.1. For all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $\omega \in \Omega_T$,

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega]) = \mathbb{Q}([\xi]) + \mathbb{Q}([\overline{\xi}]) = p_{\xi_1} q_1^{n_{++}} q_2^{n_{--}} r_1^{n_{+-}} r_2^{n_{-+}} + p_{\overline{\xi}_1} q_1^{n_{--}} q_2^{n_{++}} r_1^{n_{+-}} r_2^{n_{+-}}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where $\xi \in F^{-1}(\{\omega\})$ and $n_{ab} = n_{ab}(\xi)$. It follows that

$$\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{Q} \circ F^{-1}.$$

Proof. We denote here the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^2 by (e_+, e_-) and by $[p_{ab}]_{a,b\in\{+,-\}}$ the entries of the matrix P defined in (2.20). One verifies that $e_a^{\mathsf{T}} M_{f(a,b)} = p_{ab} e_b^{\mathsf{T}}$ for $a, b \in \{+, -\}$, and by iterating we obtain that, for any ω, ξ as in the statement,

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega]) = \mathbf{p} M_{\omega_1} \cdots M_{\omega_T} \mathbf{1} = \left(p_{\xi_1} e_{\xi_1}^{\mathsf{T}} + p_{\overline{\xi}_1} e_{\overline{\xi}_1}^{\mathsf{T}} \right) M_{\omega_1} \cdots M_{\omega_T} \mathbf{1} \\ = p_{\xi_1} e_{\xi_1}^{\mathsf{T}} M_{f(\xi_1,\xi_2)} \cdots M_{f(\xi_T,\xi_{T+1})} \mathbf{1} + p_{\overline{\xi}_1} e_{\overline{\xi}_1}^{\mathsf{T}} M_{f(\overline{\xi}_1,\overline{\xi}_2)} \cdots M_{f(\overline{\xi}_T,\overline{\xi}_{T+1})} \mathbf{1} \\ = p_{\xi_1} p_{\xi_1\xi_2} p_{\xi_2\xi_3} \cdots p_{\xi_T\xi_{T+1}} + p_{\overline{\xi}_1} p_{\overline{\xi}_1\overline{\xi}_2} p_{\overline{\xi}_2\overline{\xi}_3} \cdots p_{\overline{\xi}_T\overline{\xi}_{T+1}},$$

which establishes the first equality in (3.4). The second equality follows from (3.3) and the relation $n_{ab}(\bar{\xi}) = n_{\bar{a}\bar{b}}(\xi)$.

As a first application of the obtained FM representation, we prove

Proposition 3.2. The measure \mathbb{P} satisfies $\mathbb{P}([\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T]) = \mathbb{P}([\omega_T \cdots \omega_1])$ for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and any $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T) \in \Omega_T$.

Proof. Observing that $(\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_T) = F(\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{T+1})$ iff $F(\xi_{T+1}, \ldots, \xi_1) = (\omega_T, \ldots, \omega_1)$ and that, as any stationary two-state Markov chain, \mathbb{Q} is reversible in the sense that $\mathbb{Q}([\xi_1 \cdots \xi_T]) = \mathbb{Q}([\xi_T \cdots \xi_1])$, the statement immediately follows from the first equality in (3.4). \Box

3.3 The FM entropy production

Set

$$\widehat{\sigma}_T := \sigma_T \circ F. \tag{3.5}$$

Obviously, the law of σ_T under \mathbb{P} is the same as the law of $\hat{\sigma}_T$ under \mathbb{Q} . Much of our analysis is focused on $\hat{\sigma}_T$. In this section we study the statistics of a family $([U_T \ V_T \ W_T])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ of \mathbb{R}^3 -valued random vectors on (Ξ, \mathbb{Q}) , and we establish the asymptotic form

$$\widehat{\sigma}_T \sim \eta \, U_T + \gamma (|V_T| - |W_T|), \tag{3.6}$$

where

$$\gamma := \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_1}{q_2} > 0, \qquad \eta := \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{q_1 q_2}{r_1 r_2}.$$
(3.7)

As we shall see, the "pathologies" in Theorem 2.10 are the consequences of the absolute values appearing in (3.6).

We start with some computations leading to an expression of $\hat{\sigma}_T$ that allows for the identification of the family $([U_T \ V_T \ W_T])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$.

Since σ_T depends only on $\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T$, $\hat{\sigma}_T$ depends only on $\xi_1 \cdots \xi_{T+1}$. For $\xi \in \Xi_{T+1}$, we rewrite (3.4) as

$$\mathbb{P}([F(\xi)]) = 2 \frac{(q_1 q_2)^{(n_{++} + n_{--})/2} (r_1 r_2)^{(n_{+-} + n_{-+} + 1)/2}}{r_1 + r_2} \operatorname{ch} \left(\gamma(n_{++} - n_{--}) + \delta(\xi)\right), \quad (3.8)$$

where

$$\delta(\xi) := \frac{1}{2} \left((n_{+-} - n_{-+}) \log \frac{r_1}{r_2} + \log \frac{p_{\xi_1}}{p_{\overline{\xi}_1}} \right).$$

Since $2|n_{-+} - n_{+-}| = |\xi_{T+1} - \xi_1| \le 2$, we have a bound

$$\delta(\xi)| \le C,\tag{3.9}$$

for some constant C depending only on q_1, q_2 .²⁹ It follows from Proposition 3.2 that for $\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\sigma_T(\omega) = \log \frac{\mathbb{P}([\omega_1 \cdots \omega_T])}{\mathbb{P}([\theta(\omega_1) \cdots \theta(\omega_T)])}$$

For $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, let $\psi \colon \Xi_T \to \Xi_T$ be given by

$$\psi(\xi_1\xi_2\xi_3\xi_4\cdots\xi_T) := \overline{\xi}_1\xi_2\overline{\xi}_3\xi_4\cdots\begin{cases}\overline{\xi}_T & \text{if } T \text{ is odd;}\\ \xi_T & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

²⁹Recall that $n_{ab} = n_{ab}(\xi)$.

It is immediate that $\psi(\overline{\xi}) = \overline{\psi(\xi)}$. Moreover, for $\xi \in \Xi_{T+1}$ and $\omega = F(\xi) \in \Omega_T$, we find

$$F(\psi(\xi)) = F(\psi(\xi)) = \theta(\omega_1)\theta(\omega_2)\cdots\theta(\omega_T),$$

and hence

$$\widehat{\sigma}_T(\xi) = \sigma_T(F(\xi)) = \log \frac{\mathbb{P}_T(F(\xi))}{\mathbb{P}_T(F(\psi(\xi)))}$$

In order to compute $\mathbb{P}_T(F(\psi(\xi)))$, we need the identifications

$$\begin{split} n_{++}(\psi(\xi)) &= n_{-+}^o(\xi) + n_{+-}^e(\xi), \\ n_{+-}(\psi(\xi)) &= n_{--}^o(\xi) + n_{++}^e(\xi), \\ n_{-+}(\psi(\xi)) &= n_{--}^o(\xi) + n_{++}^e(\xi), \\ \end{split}$$

where $n_{ab}^{o/e}$ is the number of *odd/even* integers $t \in [\![1,T]\!]$ such that $(\xi_t,\xi_{t+1}) = (a,b)$. As a consequence,

$$n_{++}(\psi(\xi)) + n_{--}(\psi(\xi)) = n_{+-}(\xi) + n_{-+}(\xi),$$

$$n_{+-}(\psi(\xi)) + n_{-+}(\psi(\xi)) = n_{--}(\xi) + n_{++}(\xi).$$

It follows from (3.8) that, omitting again the argument ξ of n_{ab} ,

$$\mathbb{P}_{T}(F(\psi(\xi))) = 2\frac{(q_{1}q_{2})^{(n_{+-}+n_{-+})/2}(r_{1}r_{2})^{(n_{++}+n_{--}+1)/2}}{r_{1}+r_{2}}\operatorname{ch}\left(\gamma(\Delta_{+-}-\Delta_{-+})+\delta(\psi(\xi))\right),$$

with $\Delta_{ab} = n^e_{ab} - n^o_{ab}$. This leads to the expression

$$\widehat{\sigma}_{T}(\xi) = \log\left(\left(\frac{q_{1}q_{2}}{r_{1}r_{2}}\right)^{(n_{++}+n_{--}-n_{+-}-n_{-+})/2} \frac{\operatorname{ch}\left(\gamma(n_{++}-n_{--})+\delta(\xi)\right)}{\operatorname{ch}\left(\gamma(\Delta_{+-}-\Delta_{-+})+\delta(\psi(\xi))\right)}\right).$$
(3.10)

We are now ready to define the \mathbb{R}^3 -valued random vectors

$$X_T := \begin{bmatrix} U_T & V_T & W_T \end{bmatrix}$$

on (Ξ, \mathbb{Q}) by setting

$$U_T(\xi) := n_{++}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}) + n_{--}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}) - n_{+-}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}) - n_{-+}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}),$$

$$V_T(\xi) := n_{++}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}) - n_{--}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}),$$

$$W_T(\xi) := \Delta_{+-}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}) - \Delta_{-+}(\xi_{[1,T+1]}).$$

Recalling (3.7), we have

$$\widehat{\sigma}_T = \eta \, U_T + \log \operatorname{ch} \left(\gamma V_T + \delta(\xi_{[1,T+1]}) \right) - \log \operatorname{ch} \left(\gamma W_T + \delta(\psi(\xi_{[1,T+1]})) \right).$$

Using the bound (3.9) and the inequalities $\frac{1}{2}e^{|x|} \le ch(x) \le e^{|x|}$, we conclude that

$$|\hat{\sigma}_T - (\eta \, U_T + \gamma (|V_T| - |W_T|))| \le C', \tag{3.11}$$

for some constant C' depending only on q_1, q_2 .

Remark 3.3. Note that $U_T(\overline{\xi}) = U_T(\xi)$, $V_T(\overline{\xi}) = -V_T(\xi)$ and $W_T(\overline{\xi}) = -W_T(\xi)$. As a consequence, V_T and W_T cannot be expressed as a function of $\omega \in \Omega$, but U_T , $|V_T|$ and $|W_T|$ can.

We now turn to the study of the statistics of the family $(X_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$. To this end, for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we set³⁰

$$q_T(\lambda) := \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E}\left(e^{\lambda \cdot X_T}\right).$$

³⁰Here $\lambda \cdot X$ denotes the Euclidean inner product on \mathbb{R}^3 .

Proposition 3.4.

(i) For all $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3$,

$$Q(\lambda) := \lim_{T \to \infty} q_T(\lambda) = \log \left(A_-(\lambda) + A_+(\lambda) \right), \tag{3.12}$$

with

$$A_{\pm}(\lambda) := (q_1 q_2 r_1 r_2)^{1/4} \left(e^{\pm (2\lambda_1 + \eta)} + e^{2\lambda_1 + \eta} \operatorname{sh}^2(\lambda_2 + \gamma) + e^{-(2\lambda_1 + \eta)} \operatorname{sh}^2(\lambda_3) \right)^{1/2}.$$

(ii) The function Q is real analytic on \mathbb{R}^3 . Its gradient and its Hessian matrix at $\lambda = 0$ are given by

$$\nabla Q(0) = \frac{1}{r_1 + r_2} \begin{bmatrix} r_1 - 4r_1r_2 + r_2 & r_2 - r_1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(3.13)

$$D^{2}Q(0) = \frac{4r_{1}r_{2}}{(r_{1}+r_{2})^{3}} \begin{bmatrix} 4(q_{1}r_{2}^{2}+q_{2}r_{1}^{2}) & 2(q_{1}-q_{2}) & 0\\ 2(q_{1}-q_{2}) & q_{1}+q_{2} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \frac{(r_{1}+r_{2})^{2}}{q_{1}+q_{2}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.14)

(iii) The family $(T^{-1}X_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfies the LDP with a good convex rate function I, given by the Legendre transform of Q. In particular, the following weak law of large numbers holds: for any $\epsilon > 0$, there exist constants $C, \delta > 0$ such that for all T,

$$\mathbb{Q}\left(\left\{\xi \mid \|T^{-1}X_T(\xi) - \nabla Q(0)\| > \epsilon\right\}\right) \le C \mathrm{e}^{-\delta T}.$$
(3.15)

(iv) The following central limit theorem holds: as $T \to \infty$, the random vector

$$\frac{X_T - T\nabla Q(0)}{\sqrt{T}} \tag{3.16}$$

converges in distribution to a centered Gaussian random vector in \mathbb{R}^3 whose covariance matrix is given by $D^2Q(0)$.

Proof. (i) Consider the following deformations of the generating matrix P

$$P_o(\lambda) := \begin{bmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} q_1 & e^{-\lambda_1 - \lambda_3} r_1 \\ e^{-\lambda_1 + \lambda_3} r_2 & e^{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2} q_2 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad P_e(\lambda) := \begin{bmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} q_1 & e^{-\lambda_1 + \lambda_3} r_1 \\ e^{-\lambda_1 - \lambda_3} r_2 & e^{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2} q_2 \end{bmatrix},$$

and set $P(\lambda) := P_o(\lambda)P_e(\lambda)$. By (3.2) and the definition of U_T, V_T, W_T , we have

$$q_T(\lambda) = \frac{1}{T} \log \left(\mathbf{p} P(\lambda)^{\lfloor \frac{T}{2} \rfloor} P_o(\lambda)^{T-2 \lfloor \frac{T}{2} \rfloor} \mathbf{1} \right), \tag{3.17}$$

where $\lfloor \frac{T}{2} \rfloor$ is the integer part of $\frac{T}{2}$. The eigenvalues of $P(\lambda)$ are

$$\kappa_{\pm}(\lambda) = (A_{+}(\lambda) \pm A_{-}(\lambda))^{2},$$

with $A_{\pm}(\lambda)$ as in the statement. For any $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^3$, the Perron–Frobenius theorem implies that the spectral projection corresponding to the dominant eigenvalue $\kappa_+(\lambda)$ has strictly positive entries. It follows that, as $T \to \infty$ through odd/even integers,

$$\mathbf{p}P(\lambda)^{\lfloor \frac{T}{2} \rfloor} P_o(\lambda)^{T-2\lfloor \frac{T}{2} \rfloor} \mathbf{1} = \kappa_+(\lambda)^{T/2} \left(C_{o/e}(\lambda) + o(1) \right), \tag{3.18}$$

where $C_{o/e}(\lambda) > 0$. Thus, by (3.17), the limit in (3.12) exists and equals $\log(\kappa_+(\lambda))/2$.

(ii) The functions A_{\pm} are clearly real analytic on \mathbb{R}^3 . Since

$$A_{-}(\lambda) + A_{+}(\lambda) \ge 2(q_1q_2r_1r_2)^{1/4},$$

the same is true of the function Q. The remaining statements follow from simple calculations.

(iii) Since Q is real analytic, the Gärtner–Ellis theorem applies, and the stated LDP follows. It is well known that Part (ii) yields (3.15); see for example [Ell85, Theorem II.6.3].

(iv) Finally, in order to obtain the CLT, we observe that the remainder on the right-hand side of (3.18) is locally uniform in $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$. Therefore, there exist a complex neighborhood $0 \in U \subset \mathbb{C}$ and a number $T_0 \ge 1$ such that q_T has an analytic continuation on U for each $T \ge T_0$ and

$$\sup_{T \ge T_0} \sup_{\lambda \in U} |q_T(\lambda)| < \infty.$$
(3.19)

It then follows from the version Bryc's theorem [Bry93] given in [JOPP12, Theorem A.8] that

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{T}}\left(X_T - \mathbb{E}(X_T)\right)$$

converges in distribution to a Gaussian random vector as in the statement. To obtain the CLT for (3.16), it remains to show that, for $T \to \infty$,³¹

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{T}}\left(T\nabla Q(0) - \mathbb{E}(X_T)\right) = \sqrt{T}\left(\nabla Q(0) - \nabla q_T(0)\right) \to 0.$$
(3.20)

By (3.19), Q admits an analytic continuation on U, and there is a neighborhood $0 \in U' \subset U$ on which the analytic continuation of q_T converges uniformly to Q (see for example [JOPP12, Appendix A.4]). Using again (3.18), we obtain that

$$\sup_{T \ge T_0} \sup_{\lambda \in U'} T |q_T(\lambda) - Q(\lambda)| < \infty,$$

and then (3.20) follows from Cauchy's integral formula.

3.4 Proof of Theorem 2.10, Parts (iii) and (iv)

These two parts of Theorem 2.10 concern the entropic pressure and the entropy production rate. In view of (3.5) and (3.11) the entropic pressure reads

$$e(\alpha) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{-\alpha(\eta U_T + \gamma(|V_T| - |W_T|))} \right), \tag{3.21}$$

where the expectation is with respect to the measure \mathbb{Q} .

We first need a lemma to deal with the absolute values in the exponent above (we shall use the lemma once for each absolute value).

 $^{^{31}}$ We note that (3.20) does not follow from (3.12) and (3.19) alone. Some estimate on the speed of convergence is required.

Lemma 3.5. Let $([X_T \ Y_T])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ be a family of random vectors, with $[X_T \ Y_T] \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $(T^{-1}[X_T \ Y_T])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfies the LDP with some convex rate function $I : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R} \to [0, +\infty]$. Then, $(T^{-1}[X_T \ |Y_T|])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ also satisfies the LDP with the rate function \overline{I} given by

$$\overline{I}(x,y) := \begin{cases} \min(I(x,y), I(x,-y)) & \text{if } y \ge 0; \\ +\infty & \text{if } y < 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.22)

Assume in addition that, for all $(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}$, the limit

$$q(\alpha,\beta) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\alpha \cdot X_T + \beta Y_T} \right)$$

exists, is finite and satisfies $q(\alpha, \beta_0 + \beta) = q(\alpha, \beta_0 - \beta)$ for some $\beta_0 \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, the rate function \overline{I} is the Legendre transform of the function

$$\overline{q}(\alpha,\beta) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\alpha \cdot X_T + \beta |Y_T|} \right) = \begin{cases} q(\alpha,\beta \operatorname{sign}(-\beta_0)) & \text{if } \beta \ge -|\beta_0|; \\ q(\alpha,\beta_0) & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

with the convention that sign(0) = 1. In particular, \overline{I} is convex.

Proof. The LDP for $(T^{-1}[X_T | Y_T |])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ with rate function \overline{I} is a direct consequence of the contraction principle. Turning to the second part of the lemma, since q is finite everywhere, we have $q = I^*$ by Varadhan's theorem.³² Then, since I is convex by assumption, we have

$$I(x,y) = q^{*}(x,y) = \beta_{0}y + h^{*}(x,y),$$

where $h(\alpha, \beta) = q(\alpha, \beta_0 + \beta)$. Since h is even in its second argument, so is h^* , and (3.22) reads

$$\overline{I}(x,y) = \begin{cases} h^*(x,y) - |\beta_0|y & \text{if } y \ge 0; \\ +\infty & \text{if } y < 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

 \overline{I} is obviously convex, since h^* is. Next, since

$$\limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\alpha \cdot X_T + \beta |Y_T|} \right) \le \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\alpha \cdot X_T + \beta Y_T} + e^{\alpha \cdot X_T - \beta Y_T} \right) \le \max(q(\alpha, \beta), q(\alpha, -\beta)) < \infty,$$

invoking again Varadhan's theorem, we obtain that the limit defining \overline{q} exists, is finite everywhere, and satisfies $\overline{q} = \overline{I}^*$. Thus, by (3.23) we have

$$\overline{q}(\alpha,\beta) = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^d\times\mathbb{R}_+} (\alpha\cdot x + \beta y - \overline{I}(x,y)) = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^d\times\mathbb{R}_+} (\alpha\cdot x + (\beta + |\beta_0|)y - h^*(x,y)).$$
(3.24)

Since h is convex, we have $h^{**} = h$. We consider the following two cases:

• If $\beta > -|\beta_0|$, then the supremum in (3.24) is actually a supremum over $y \in \mathbb{R}$, so that

$$\overline{q}(\alpha,\beta) = \sup_{(x,y)\in\mathbb{R}^d\times\mathbb{R}} (\alpha \cdot x + (\beta + |\beta_0|)y - h^*(x,y)) = h(\alpha,\beta + |\beta_0|)$$
$$= h(\alpha,\beta\operatorname{sign}(-\beta_0) - \beta_0) = q(\alpha,\beta\operatorname{sign}(-\beta_0)).$$

• If $\beta \leq -|\beta_0|$, the supremum in (3.24) is reached at y = 0 and we get

$$\overline{q}(\alpha,\beta) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^d} (\alpha \cdot x - h^*(x,0)) = \sup_{(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}} (\alpha \cdot x - h^*(x,y)) = h(\alpha,0) = q(\alpha,\beta_0).$$

This completes the proof.

The next proposition identifies the entropic pressure $e(\alpha)$.

 $^{^{32}}f^*$ denotes the Legendre transform of f.

Proposition 3.6. *For any* $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ *, one has*

$$e(\alpha) = Q(-\eta\alpha, -\gamma(\alpha \land 1), \gamma(\alpha \lor 0)).$$
(3.25)

Proof. We recall that, by Proposition 3.4, the family $(T^{-1}X_T)_{T\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfies the LDP with the convex rate function $I = Q^*$, the cumulant-generating function Q being given by (3.12). It is obvious from this formula that for fixed λ_1 , λ_2 , the map $\lambda_3 \mapsto Q(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ is even and reaches its minimum at $\lambda_3 = 0$. Thus, we obtain from Lemma 3.5 (with $\beta_0 = 0$) that the family $(T^{-1}[U_T \ V_T \ |W_T|])_{T\in\mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfies the LDP with a convex rate function and that

$$\overline{Q}(\lambda) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\lambda_1 U_T + \lambda_2 V_T + \lambda_3 |W_T|} \right) = \begin{cases} Q(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) & \text{if } \lambda_3 \ge 0; \\ Q(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, 0) & \text{if } \lambda_3 < 0. \end{cases}$$

It follows from the last formula and (3.12) that $\overline{Q}(\lambda_1, -\gamma + \lambda_2, \lambda_3) = \overline{Q}(\lambda_1, -\gamma - \lambda_2, \lambda_3)$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^3$. Thus, invoking Lemma 3.5 again, this time with $\beta_0 = -\gamma$, we conclude that $(T^{-1}[U_T |V_T| |W_T|])_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$ satisfies the LDP with a convex rate function and that

$$\overline{\overline{Q}}(\lambda) := \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\lambda_1 U_T + \lambda_2 |V_T| + \lambda_3 |W_T|} \right) = \begin{cases} \overline{Q}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3) & \text{if } \lambda_2 \ge -\gamma; \\ \overline{Q}(\lambda_1, -\gamma, \lambda_3) & \text{if } \lambda_2 < -\gamma. \end{cases}$$

From this and (3.21), we derive that

$$e(\alpha) = \overline{\overline{Q}}(-\eta\alpha, -\gamma\alpha, \gamma\alpha) = \begin{cases} Q(-\eta\alpha, -\gamma\alpha, 0) & \text{if } \alpha < 0; \\ Q(-\eta\alpha, -\gamma\alpha, \gamma\alpha) & \text{if } 0 \le \alpha \le 1; \\ Q(-\eta\alpha, -\gamma, \gamma\alpha) & \text{if } \alpha > 1, \end{cases}$$

which is (3.25).

We are now ready to complete the proofs of Parts (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 2.10. The function e is obviously real analytic on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0, 1\}$, since Q is real analytic on \mathbb{R}^3 . Moreover, using (3.25) and the expression (3.13) for $\nabla Q(0)$, we immediately see that

$$(\partial^{-}e)(0) = \nabla Q(0) \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} = \nabla Q(0) \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & \gamma \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} = (\partial^{+}e)(0),$$

since the last component of $\nabla Q(0)$ is zero. Thus, e is differentiable at $\alpha = 0$, and hence also at $\alpha = 1$ by the symmetry (1.13). In particular, we have

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) = -e'(0) = -\nabla Q(0) \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}}, \qquad (3.26)$$

which gives the formula in (iii). Since our assumptions exclude the case where $\mathbb{P} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$, Theorem 1.6 (iii) guarantees that $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) > 0$.

By Theorem 1.6 (v), e is convex. To show that it is strictly convex, it suffices, in view of (3.25), to observe that Q is strictly convex, and to recall that $\gamma > 0$ by assumption.

Finally, writing $H = D^2 Q(0)$ (recall (3.14)), we have

$$(\partial^+ e')(0) - (\partial^- e')(0) = \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & \gamma \end{bmatrix} H \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & \gamma \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}} - \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & 0 \end{bmatrix} H \begin{bmatrix} -\eta & -\gamma & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}},$$

which yields (2.7) and completes the proof of (iv).

3.5 Proof of Theorem 2.10, Part (v)

To derive the anomalous central limit theorem satisfied by $(\sigma_T)_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*}$, we consider the random variables

$$\frac{\widehat{\sigma}_T - T \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho)}{\sqrt{T}}$$
(3.27)

defined on (Ξ, \mathbb{Q}) , which have, by construction, the same law as the random variables in the left-hand side of (2.8) defined on (Ω, \mathbb{P}) . In view of (3.11), the random variables (3.27) and

$$\varsigma_T := \frac{\eta \, U_T + \gamma(|V_T| - |W_T|) - T \operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho)}{\sqrt{T}}$$

have the same limiting law (if any). We now show that the same is true for ς_T and

$$\varsigma'_T := \frac{\eta \, U_T + \gamma (V_T - |W_T|) - T \operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J}, \rho)}{\sqrt{T}}.$$

For this, it suffices to show that

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \mathbb{Q}(\{|V_T| \neq V_T\}) = 0.$$

By Part (iii) of Proposition 3.4 and Formula (3.13), we have

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \mathbb{Q}\left(\left\{ \left| \frac{1}{T} V_T - \frac{r_2 - r_1}{r_1 + r_2} \right| > \epsilon \right\} \right) = 0, \tag{3.28}$$

for any $\epsilon > 0$. Setting $\epsilon = \frac{r_2 - r_1}{r_1 + r_2} > 0$ (recall (3.1)), we find

$$\mathbb{Q}\left(\{|V_T| \neq V_T\}\right) = \mathbb{Q}\left(\{T^{-1}V_T < 0\}\right) \le \mathbb{Q}\left(\{|T^{-1}V_T - \epsilon| > \epsilon\}\right),$$

which converges to zero by (3.28).³³

Next, recalling the expression (3.26) for $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho)$, we can write

$$\varsigma_T' = \frac{\eta (U_T - T(\partial_1 Q)(0)) + \gamma (V_T - T(\partial_2 Q)(0) - |W_T|)}{\sqrt{T}}.$$

By Part (iv) of Proposition 3.4 and the continuous mapping theorem (applied to the function $(x, y, z) \mapsto \eta x + \gamma(y - |z|)$), we conclude that ς'_T converges in law to

$$\eta X_1 + \gamma (X_2 - |X_3|),$$

where $X =: [X_1 X_2 X_3]$ is a centered Gaussian random vector of covariance matrix $H := D^2 Q(0)$. The block-diagonal structure of H displayed in (3.14) implies that the third component of X is independent of the first two. Thus, (2.8) holds with

$$Z_1 = \eta X_1 + \gamma X_2, \qquad Z_2 = \gamma X_3,$$

which are independent, centered Gaussian random variables with variances given by

$$\operatorname{Var}(Z_1) = \begin{bmatrix} \eta & \gamma & 0 \end{bmatrix} H \begin{bmatrix} \eta & \gamma & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}}, \qquad \operatorname{Var}(Z_2) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \gamma \end{bmatrix} H \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \gamma \end{bmatrix}^{\mathsf{T}},$$

and Formula (3.14) yields the claimed expressions. Since $\gamma \neq 0$ by assumption, the strict positivity of these variances follows from the fact that H is positive definite. To see this, observe that the third diagonal element of H as well as the trace and determinant (compute it!) of its upper 2×2 block are strictly positive. The proof of Part (v) is complete.

³³Note that, since the third component of $\nabla Q(0)$ vanishes, we cannot get rid of the absolute value of W_T in the same way.

3.6 Proof of Theorem 2.10, Part (vi)

In this subsection, we show that the infinite-time fluctuation-dissipation relation does not hold for the Keep-Switch instrument. More precisely, we show that suitably defined currents follow a central limit theorem at equilibrium (defined by $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$) with covariance matrix D_{∞} , while the associated linear response coefficients L_{∞} do not verify the fluctuation-dissipation relation $L_{\infty} = \frac{1}{2}D_{\infty}$. The finite-time fluctuation-dissipation relation, however, is satisfied.

As mentioned in Remark 2.8, we have $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ iff $q_1 = r_1 = q_2 = r_2 = \frac{1}{2}$. We shall therefore parametrize the model by $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2) \in [-1/2, 1/2[\times]-1/2, 1/2[$, with

$$q_1 := \frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon_1, \quad q_2 := \frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon_2, \quad r_1 := \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon_1, \quad r_2 := \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon_2$$
 (3.29)

(we release the constraint (3.1) in this section). Equilibrium thus corresponds to $\varepsilon = 0$. We denote by $\mathbb{P}^{(\varepsilon)}$ the Keep–Switch PMP measure corresponding to ε . We write in the same way $\mathbb{E}^{(\varepsilon)}$, $ep^{(\varepsilon)} = ep^{(\varepsilon)}(\mathcal{J}^{(\varepsilon)}, \rho^{(\varepsilon)})$ and $\sigma_T^{(\varepsilon)}$ for the corresponding quantities. Viewing ε as a thermodynamic force, we define the corresponding current by

$$J_T^{(\varepsilon)} := \int_0^1 \left(\nabla_{\varepsilon} \sigma_T \right)^{(\lambda \varepsilon)} \mathrm{d}\lambda_z$$

which we view as a column vector here. With this definition, we have the *flux relation* (see [JPRB11, Definition 4.1])

$$\sigma_T^{(\varepsilon)} = \varepsilon \cdot J_T^{(\varepsilon)}. \tag{3.30}$$

Let $\Theta_T \colon \Omega_T \to \Omega_T$ denote reversal, *i.e.*,

$$\Theta_T(\omega_1,\omega_2,\ldots,\omega_T) := (\theta(\omega_T),\theta(\omega_{T-1}),\ldots,\theta(\omega_1)).$$

Since $\sigma_T \circ \Theta_T = -\sigma_T$, we obtain that

$$J_T^{(\varepsilon)} \circ \Theta_T = -J_T^{(\varepsilon)}. \tag{3.31}$$

The following observation will be useful below: denoting by S the involution of \mathbb{R}^2 given by $(x_1, x_2) \mapsto (x_2, x_1)$, one easily check that $\mathbb{P}^{(S\varepsilon)} = \mathbb{P}^{(\varepsilon)}$, which further implies $\sigma_T^{(S\varepsilon)} = \sigma_T^{(\varepsilon)}$ and

$$J_T^{(S\varepsilon)} = S J_T^{(\varepsilon)}. \tag{3.32}$$

Proposition 3.7. For any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, let $N_T \colon \Omega \to \mathbb{N}$ be the random variable counting the number of 'S' in $\omega_{\mathbb{I}_1,T\mathbb{I}}$. Then, one has

$$J_T = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} J_T^{(\varepsilon)} = 2(2N_T - T) \begin{bmatrix} 1\\1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.33)

Proof. Let $\omega \in \Omega$ and $\xi \in \Xi$ be such that $\omega = F(\xi)$. Substituting the relations (3.29) into (3.10) and expanding to first order in ε , we find

$$\sigma_T(\omega) = \widehat{\sigma}_T(\xi) = -2(n_{++} + n_{--} - n_{+-} - n_{-+})(\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2) + O(|\varepsilon|^2),$$

where $n_{ab} = n_{ab}(\xi_{[1,T+1]})$ (notice that the two hyperbolic cosines in (3.10) do not give any contribution at first order). The statement follows from the final observation that

$$n_{++} + n_{--} - n_{+-} - n_{-+}$$

counts the number of 'K' minus the number of 'S' in $\omega_{[\![1,T]\!]}$, and that the sum of these two numbers is T.

The next proposition concerns the fluctuations of J_T at equilibrium.

Proposition 3.8. For all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ we have $\mathbb{E}^{(0)}(J_T) = 0$ and

$$D_T = \mathbb{E}^{(0)} \left(\frac{J_T J_T^{\mathsf{T}}}{T} \right) = 4 \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Moreover, the weak limit, as $T \to \infty$, of $\frac{J_T}{\sqrt{T}}$ with respect to $\mathbb{P}^{(0)}$ exists and is a centered Gaussian random vector with covariance

$$D_{\infty} = 4 \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Proof. By Remark 2.7, $\mathbb{P}^{(0)}$ is the Bernoulli measure on Ω generated by Q(K) = 1/2. Thus, the random variable N_T in (3.33) has a binomial law of parameters $\frac{1}{2}$ and T, and the claims follow at once.

We now compute the linear response. For that purpose, we define the averaged currents

$$\overline{J}_T^{(\varepsilon)} := \frac{1}{T} \mathbb{E}^{(\varepsilon)}(J_T^{(\varepsilon)}), \qquad \overline{J}^{(\varepsilon)} := \lim_{T \to \infty} \overline{J}_T^{(\varepsilon)},$$

and the associated Onsager matrices

$$L_T := D_{\varepsilon} \overline{J}_T^{(\varepsilon)} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0}, \qquad L_{\infty} := D_{\varepsilon} \overline{J}^{(\varepsilon)} \Big|_{\varepsilon=0},$$

where $D_{\varepsilon}J := [\partial_{\varepsilon_i}J_i]_{i,i \in \{1,2\}}$ denotes the Jacobian matrix of the vector field J.

Proposition 3.9. We have

$$L_T = \frac{1}{2}D_T$$

for $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, but

$$L_{\infty} = \begin{bmatrix} 3 & 1\\ 1 & 3 \end{bmatrix} \neq \begin{bmatrix} 2 & 2\\ 2 & 2 \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{2}D_{\infty}.$$
(3.34)

Thus, the finite-time fluctuation-dissipation relation holds, but the infinite-time one is violated.

Proof. The assertion $L_T = \frac{1}{2}D_T$ is the usual finite-time fluctuation–dissipation theorem, which applies here thanks to the relations (3.30) and (3.31) (see for example [JPRB11, Section 4]). For the reader's convenience, we outline the proof. For ε small enough and $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}^2$, set

$$G_T(\varepsilon, \alpha) := \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E}^{(\varepsilon)} \left(e^{-\alpha \cdot J_T^{(\varepsilon)}} \right).$$

Since

$$\sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} \mathbb{P}^{(\varepsilon)}([\omega]) e^{-\alpha \cdot J_T^{(\varepsilon)}(\omega)} = \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}^{(\varepsilon)}([\omega]) e^{(\varepsilon - \alpha) \cdot J_T^{(\varepsilon)}(\omega)}$$
$$= \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}^{(\varepsilon)}([\Theta_T(\omega)]) e^{(\varepsilon - \alpha) \cdot J_T^{(\varepsilon)}(\Theta_T(\omega))}$$
$$= \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} \mathbb{P}^{(\varepsilon)}([\omega]) e^{-(\varepsilon - \alpha) \cdot J_T^{(\varepsilon)}(\omega)},$$

we obtain the celebrated Gallavotti symmetry

$$G_T(\varepsilon, \varepsilon - \alpha) = G_T(\varepsilon, \alpha).$$
 (3.35)

Starting with the identities

$$D_T = [\partial_{\alpha_i} \partial_{\alpha_j} G_T(\varepsilon, \alpha)]|_{\alpha = \varepsilon = 0}, \qquad L_T = -[\partial_{\varepsilon_j} \partial_{\alpha_i} G_T(\varepsilon, \alpha)]|_{\alpha = \varepsilon = 0},$$

the symmetry (3.35) implies that $L_T = \frac{1}{2}D_T$, as claimed.

We now prove (3.34). By the definition (1.11) of ep, we find

$$\varepsilon \cdot \overline{J}^{(\varepsilon)} = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \mathbb{E}^{(\varepsilon)}(\sigma_T^{(\varepsilon)}) = ep^{(\varepsilon)}.$$

Part (iii) of Theorem 2.10 yields

$$\varepsilon \cdot \overline{J}^{(\varepsilon)} = \varepsilon_1(3\varepsilon_1 + \varepsilon_2) + \varepsilon_2(3\varepsilon_2 + \varepsilon_1) + O(|\varepsilon|^3), \tag{3.36}$$

which, taking (3.32) into account,³⁴ implies (3.34).

We finish with a brief comment regarding the failure of the infinite-time fluctuation-dissipation relation. Its usual derivation (see for example [JPRB11, Section 5]) fails to apply here, because the limit

$$G(\varepsilon, \alpha) := \lim_{T \to \infty} G_T(\varepsilon, \alpha)$$

is not C^2 at (0,0). In fact, the discrepancy between $\lim_{T\to\infty} L_T$ and L_∞ comes from the hyperbolic cosines in (3.10). At fixed T, their contribution to $\sigma_T^{(\varepsilon)}$ is only $O(|\varepsilon|^2)$. However, since $\log \operatorname{ch}(x) \sim |x|$ when x is large (see (3.11)), the contribution of the hyperbolic cosines in (3.10) to $T^{-1}\sigma_T^{(\varepsilon)}$ in the limit $T \to \infty$ becomes $O(\varepsilon)$. Thus, the limit $T \to \infty$ and the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ (or the derivative with respect to ε) cannot be interchanged.

3.7 Proof of Theorem 2.26

Theorem 2.26 is proved in a very similar way to Theorem 2.10, and we only outline the main differences here. We use the notation in Theorem 2.26, and we recall, in particular, that γ , χ , η and δ were defined in (2.22)-(2.23). We also freely use the notation of the proof of Theorem 2.10, and in particular, we assume throughout that $F(\xi) = \omega$, where $\xi \in \Xi_{T+1}$ and $\omega \in \Omega_T$, or $\xi \in \Xi$ and $\omega \in \Omega$.

By recalling the expression (3.8) for $\mathbb{P}(F(\xi))$, and noting that $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}(F(\xi))$ is obtained in the same way with q_i, r_i replaced by $\widehat{q}_i, \widehat{r}_i$, we obtain that (3.10) is replaced by

$$\widehat{\sigma}_T = \frac{n_{++} + n_{--}}{2} \log \frac{q_1 q_2}{\widehat{q}_1 \widehat{q}_2} + \frac{n_{+-} + n_{-+}}{2} \log \frac{r_1 r_2}{\widehat{r}_1 \widehat{r}_2} + \log \left(\frac{\operatorname{ch}\left(\frac{n_{++} - n_{--}}{2} \log \frac{q_1}{q_2}\right)}{\operatorname{ch}\left(\frac{n_{++} - n_{--}}{2} \log \frac{\widehat{q}_1}{\widehat{q}_2}\right)} \right) + O(1)$$
$$= \delta T + \eta A_T + \chi |B_T| + O(1),$$

where we have used that $n_{+-} + n_{-+} = T - (n_{++} + n_{--})$, and where

$$A_T := n_{++} + n_{--}, \qquad B_T := n_{++} - n_{--},$$

recalling that $n_{ab} = n_{ab}(\xi_{[1,T+1]})$. Using this, (3.21) is replaced by

$$e(\alpha) = -\delta\alpha + \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{-\alpha(\eta A_T + \chi |B_T|)} \right).$$
(3.37)

³⁴The symmetry (3.32) allows to conveniently estimate $\overline{J}^{(\varepsilon)}$ in terms of $ep^{(\varepsilon)}$, but its role is not fundamental. One can, in principle, also obtain (3.34) by writing $J_T^{(\varepsilon)}$ in terms of the vector X_T introduced in Section 3.3 and then using the LDP that it obeys (with respect to $\mathbb{P}^{(\varepsilon)}$).

We introduce then

$$q_T(\lambda) := \frac{1}{T} \log \mathbb{E} \left(e^{\lambda_1 A_T + \lambda_2 B_T} \right) = \frac{1}{T} \log \left(\mathbf{p} P(\lambda)^T \mathbf{1} \right),$$

where

$$P(\lambda) := \begin{bmatrix} e^{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} q_1 & r_1 \\ r_2 & e^{\lambda_1 - \lambda_2} q_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

By computing the dominant eigenvalue $\kappa_+(\lambda)$ of $P(\lambda)$, we conclude that

$$Q(\lambda) := \lim_{T \to \infty} q_T(\lambda) = \log \kappa_+(\lambda)$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \log(q_1 q_2) + \lambda_1 + \log \left(\operatorname{ch}(\lambda_2 + \gamma) + \sqrt{\operatorname{sh}^2(\lambda_2 + \gamma) + \operatorname{e}^{-2(\lambda_1 + \rho)}} \right),$

where

$$\rho := \frac{1}{2} \log \left(\frac{q_1 q_2}{r_1 r_2} \right).$$

The gradient and Hessian matrix of Q at $\lambda = 0$ are given by

$$\nabla Q(0) = \frac{1}{r_1 + r_2} \begin{bmatrix} r_1 - 2r_1r_2 + r_2 & r_2 - r_1 \end{bmatrix},$$
$$D^2 Q(0) = \frac{4r_1r_2}{(r_1 + r_2)^3} \begin{bmatrix} q_1r_2^2 + q_2r_1^2 & r_2 - r_1 \\ r_2 - r_1 & q_1 + q_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Now observing that $\lambda_2 \mapsto Q(\lambda_1, \lambda_2)$ is even around $-\gamma$ and invoking Lemma 3.5, we deduce from (3.37) that³⁵

$$e(\alpha) = -\delta\alpha + Q(-\eta\alpha, -\operatorname{sign}(\gamma)(|\gamma| \wedge \alpha\chi)).$$
(3.38)

By computing -e'(0) we obtain the formula for $ep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ in Part (i) of Theorem 2.26.

We now prove Part (ii). By the generalization of Theorem 1.6 (iii) discussed at the end of Section 1.2, since $(\Omega, \phi, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})$ is ergodic, we have $ep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}) = 0$ iff $\mathbb{P} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}$. The equivalence with the remaining two conditions in Theorem 2.26 (ii) is then an easy exercise.

By (3.38), since Q is real analytic, we obtain that e is real analytic on \mathbb{R} if $\chi = 0$, and real analytic on $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{|\gamma|/\chi\}$ if $\chi \neq 0$. In the latter case, explicit computations show that e is differentiable at $\alpha = |\gamma|/\chi$ but not twice differentiable. Computing the jump in the second derivative gives

$$(\partial^+ e')(|\gamma|/\chi) - (\partial^- e')(|\gamma|/\chi) = -\chi|\chi|e^{\rho - \eta|\gamma|/\chi} \neq 0.$$

This proves Part (iii).

The random vectors $\begin{bmatrix} A_T & B_T \end{bmatrix}$ satisfy the LDP, the law of large numbers and the central limit theorem as in parts (iii) and (iv) of Proposition 3.4. In particular,

$$\frac{\begin{bmatrix} A_T & B_T \end{bmatrix} - T\nabla Q(0)}{\sqrt{T}}$$

converges in law towards a normal, centered random vector $\begin{bmatrix} X_1 & X_2 \end{bmatrix}$ with covariance matrix $D^2Q(0)$.

We now turn to the CLT for σ_T . By the estimates above, $(\sigma_T - Tep(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}))/\sqrt{T}$ has the same limiting distribution, if any, as

$$\frac{\delta T + \eta A_T + \chi |B_T| - T \exp(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}})}{\sqrt{T}} = \frac{\eta (A_T - T(\partial_1 Q)(0)) + \chi (|B_T| - T|(\partial_2 Q)(0)|)}{\sqrt{T}}.$$

³⁵Recall our convention sign(0) = 1.

If $\chi = 0$, then obviously this converges in law to $Z = \eta X_1$, whose variance is $\eta^2(\partial_1^2 Q)(0)$, which coincides with the formula given in Part (iv) of Theorem 2.26. If $\gamma \neq 0$, then $(\partial_2 Q)(0) \neq 0$, and using the same arguments as in Section 3.5, we obtain that $(\sigma_T - T \exp(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}))/\sqrt{T}$ has the same limiting distribution as

$$\frac{\eta(A_T - T(\partial_1 Q)(0)) + \operatorname{sign}(\gamma)\chi(B_T - T(\partial_2 Q)(0))}{\sqrt{T}},$$

which converges in distribution to $Z = \eta X_1 + \operatorname{sign}(\gamma)\chi X_2$, whose variance is again given by the formula for $\operatorname{Var}(Z)$ in Part (iv) of Theorem 2.26.

We now turn to Part (v), and for this we assume that $\chi \neq 0$ and $\gamma = 0$ (note that this implies that $\chi < 0$). We then have $(\partial_2 Q)(0) = 0$, and $(\sigma_T - T \exp(\mathbb{P}, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}))/\sqrt{T}$ has the same limiting distribution as

$$\frac{\eta(A_T - T(\partial_1 Q)(0)) + \chi|B_T|}{\sqrt{T}}$$

which converges in law to $Z_1 - |Z_2|$ with $Z_1 = \eta X_1$ and $Z_2 = \chi X_2$. This implies the statements of Part (v) and concludes the proof of Theorem 2.26.

4 Spin instruments

In this section we provide proofs of our results on the various spin instruments described in Sections 2.1.3 and 2.1.4.

4.1 XXZ-spin instruments

We start with the proofs of Theorems 2.11, 2.12, 2.13 and 2.14 pertaining to one- and two-time measurement protocols for XXZ-interaction.

4.1.1 One-time measurements

We first prove a slightly more general version of Theorem 2.11, replacing the spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ system S with a generic spin.

Let $\mathbf{S} := (S_x, S_y, S_z)$ be a family of operators on the finite-dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H} satisfying the commutation relations

$$[S_z, S_{\pm}] = \pm S_{\pm}, \qquad [S_+, S_-] = 2S_z,$$
(4.1)

where $S_{\pm} := S_x \pm iS_y$. Note that the family 2S provides a representation of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2)$. We do not assume this representation to be irreducible and, as a consequence, the map Φ of the instrument constructed below will not be irreducible in general.

The only changes compared to the setting of Section 2.1.3 concern the definition of the system Hamiltonian H_S in (2.9) and that of the system-probe interaction V in (2.10). The system Hamiltonian becomes $H_S := \omega S_z$ and the system-probe interaction is given by

$$V := \lambda \left(S_x \otimes \sigma_x + S_y \otimes \sigma_y \right) + \mu S_z \otimes \sigma_z.$$

In the following we identify $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p$ with $\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}$ so that the total Hamiltonian (2.11) reads, in block-matrix form,

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} (\omega + \mu)S_z + \frac{\epsilon}{2} & \lambda S_- \\ \lambda S_+ & (\omega - \mu)S_z - \frac{\epsilon}{2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.2)

The special case of Section 2.1.3 is recovered by setting $\mathbf{S} = \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z)$.

Lemma 4.1. Let

$$\Lambda_{\pm} := \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon - \omega) + \mu(S_z \pm \frac{1}{2}), \qquad \Omega_{\pm} := \sqrt{\Lambda_{\pm}^2 + \lambda^2 S_{\mp} S_{\pm}}.$$
(4.3)

The propagator $U := e^{-itH}$ is given by

$$U = e^{\frac{it\mu}{2}} \begin{bmatrix} e^{-\frac{it\omega}{2}}V_{++} & -ie^{-\frac{it\omega}{2}}V_{+-} \\ -ie^{\frac{it\omega}{2}}V_{-+} & e^{\frac{it\omega}{2}}V_{--} \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.4)

with

$$V_{\pm\pm} := \mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}t\omega S_z} \left(\cos(t\Omega_{\pm}) \mp \mathrm{i}\Lambda_{\pm} \frac{\sin(t\Omega_{\pm})}{\Omega_{\pm}} \right), \qquad V_{\pm\mp} := \lambda \mathrm{e}^{-\mathrm{i}t\omega S_z} \frac{\sin(t\Omega_{\pm})}{\Omega_{\pm}} S_{\mp}. \tag{4.5}$$

Proof. We write $H = H_0 + \lambda W$, where

$$H_0 := \begin{bmatrix} (\omega + \mu)S_z + \frac{\epsilon}{2} & 0\\ 0 & (\omega - \mu)S_z - \frac{\epsilon}{2} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad W := \begin{bmatrix} 0 & S_-\\ S_+ & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The interaction-picture propagator $\Gamma^t := e^{itH_0}e^{-itH}$ satisfies

$$i\partial_t \Gamma^t = \lambda e^{itH_0} W e^{-itH_0} \Gamma^t, \qquad \Gamma^0 = \mathbb{1}.$$
(4.6)

Invoking the commutation relations (4.1), one shows that for continuous functions $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$f(S_z)S_{\pm} = S_{\pm}f(S_z \pm 1), \quad f(\Lambda_{\mp})S_{\pm} = S_{\pm}f(\Lambda_{\pm}), \quad f(\Omega_{\mp})S_{\pm} = S_{\pm}f(\Omega_{\pm}),$$

which leads to

$$\mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}tH_0}W\mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{i}tH_0} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & \mathbf{e}^{\mathbf{i}t2\Lambda_+}S_-\\ \mathbf{e}^{-\mathbf{i}t2\Lambda_-}S_+ & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

One easily concludes that the solution of (4.6) is given by

$$\Gamma^{t} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{it\Lambda_{+}} \left(\cos(t\Omega_{+}) - i\Lambda_{+} \frac{\sin(t\Omega_{+})}{\Omega_{+}} \right) & -i\lambda e^{it\Lambda_{+}} \frac{\sin(t\Omega_{+})}{\Omega_{+}} S_{-} \\ -i\lambda e^{-it\Lambda_{-}} \frac{\sin(t\Omega_{-})}{\Omega_{-}} S_{+} & e^{-it\Lambda_{-}} \left(\cos(t\Omega_{-}) + i\Lambda_{-} \frac{\sin(t\Omega_{-})}{\Omega_{-}} \right) \end{bmatrix},$$

and computing $U = e^{-itH_0}\Gamma^t$ yields the result.

Lemma 4.1 gives that the one-time instrument (1.20) is given by

$$\Phi_{\pm}[X] = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) V_{\pm+}^* X V_{\pm+} + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \eta\right) V_{\pm-}^* X V_{\pm-}.$$
(4.7)

Recall that the probe state (2.12) can be written as

$$\rho_p = Z_p^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{-\beta_p H_p},$$

with $Z_p := \operatorname{tr} e^{-\beta_p H_p}$ and $\beta_p := \frac{2}{\epsilon} \operatorname{argth}(2\eta)$.

Lemma 4.2. The density matrix

$$\rho := Z_{\mathcal{S}}^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{-\beta_{\mathcal{S}} H_{\mathcal{S}}},$$

with $Z_{\mathcal{S}} := \operatorname{tr} e^{-\beta_{\mathcal{S}} H_{\mathcal{S}}}$ and $\beta_{\mathcal{S}} := \frac{\epsilon}{\omega} \beta_p$, satisfies

$$\Phi_{+}^{*}[\rho] = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right)\rho, \quad \Phi_{-}^{*}[\rho] = \left(\frac{1}{2} + \eta\right)\rho.$$
(4.8)

Proof. We will prove the first relation in (4.8). A similar computation yields the second one. Invoking again the commutation relations (4.1), we have

$$[S_z, S_{\pm}S_{\mp}] = 0, \qquad S_{-}\rho S_{+} = e^{-\beta_p \epsilon} S_{-}S_{+}\rho,$$

and it follows from (4.7) that

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{+}^{*}[\rho] &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) V_{++}\rho V_{++}^{*} + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \eta\right) V_{+-}\rho V_{+-}^{*} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) \left(\cos^{2}(t\Omega_{+}) + \Lambda_{+}^{2} \frac{\sin^{2}(t\Omega_{+})}{\Omega_{+}^{2}}\right) \rho + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) \lambda^{2} S_{-} S_{+} \frac{\sin^{2}(t\Omega_{+})}{\Omega_{+}^{2}} \rho \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) \left(\cos^{2}(t\Omega_{+}) + \frac{\Lambda_{+}^{2} + \lambda^{2} S_{-} S_{+}}{\Omega_{+}^{2}} \sin^{2}(t\Omega_{+})\right) \rho \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) \left(\cos^{2}(t\Omega_{+}) + \sin^{2}(t\Omega_{+})\right) \rho = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) \rho. \end{split}$$

The relations (4.8) give that $\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$ and

Theorem 4.3. The unraveling \mathbb{P} of $((\Phi_-, \Phi_+), \rho)$ is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function $Q(\pm) = \frac{1}{2} \mp \eta$.

Remark 4.4. If the representation **S** of the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2)$ is irreducible, then it is easy to show that \mathcal{H} has no non-trivial subspace left invariant by the family $(V_{ab})_{a,b\in\{-,+\}}$. It follows from [JPW14, Theorem 2.1] that Φ is irreducible, and hence that ρ is the only density matrix for which (**A**) holds. This applies, in particular, to the case $\mathbf{S} = \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z)$ considered in Section 2.1.3.

4.1.2 Two-time measurements with a thermal probe

In this section we consider the two-time measurement protocol for XXZ-spin interaction with thermal probes. We prove Theorem 2.12 and further properties of the corresponding instrument. In the case $\mathbf{S} = \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_x, \sigma_y, \sigma_z)$, the operators in (4.3) take the form

$$\Lambda_{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}\nu_{\pm}P_{\pm} + \frac{1}{2}(\epsilon - \omega)P_{\mp}, \qquad \Omega_{\pm}^2 = \frac{1}{4}\nu_{\pm}^2 P_{\pm} + \delta^2 P_{\mp},$$

where the projections P_{\pm} are given by (2.13), and

$$\nu_{\pm} := (\epsilon - \omega) \pm 2\mu, \qquad \delta := \sqrt{\left(\frac{\epsilon - \omega}{2}\right)^2 + \lambda^2}.$$

We deduce that (4.5) becomes

$$V_{\pm\pm} = e^{\mp it(\omega+\nu_{\pm})/2} P_{\pm} + e^{\pm it\omega/2} \left(\cos(t\delta) \mp i \frac{\epsilon - \omega}{2} \frac{\sin(t\delta)}{\delta} \right) P_{\mp},$$

$$V_{\mp\pm} = \lambda e^{\mp it\omega/2} \frac{\sin(t\delta)}{\delta} \sigma_{\pm},$$
(4.9)

where $\sigma_{\pm} := (\sigma_x \pm i\sigma_y)/2$.

Theorem 4.5.

(i) The instrument modeling the two-time measurement protocol for the XXZ-spin interaction with thermal probe is given by

$$\Phi_{\pm\pm}[X] := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\mp\beta_p\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta_p\epsilon/2)} V_{\pm\pm}^* X V_{\pm\pm},$$

$$\Phi_{\mp\pm}[X] := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\pm\beta_p\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta_p\epsilon/2)} V_{\pm\mp}^* X V_{\pm\mp}.$$
(4.10)

(ii) Φ is irreducible and

$$\rho := \rho_p = \frac{1}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta_p \epsilon/2)} \begin{bmatrix} \mathrm{e}^{-\beta_p \epsilon/2} & 0\\ 0 & \mathrm{e}^{\beta_p \epsilon/2} \end{bmatrix}$$

is the unique density matrix satisfying $\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$. In particular, all the conclusions of Theorem 1.7 hold.

(iii) $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ and $e \equiv 0$.

In the following, we set $s := \left(\frac{\lambda}{\delta}\sin(\delta t)\right)^2 \in [0, 1].$

(iv) The unraveling of $((\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \rho)$ is the PMP measure \mathbb{P} generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, where

$$M_{++} := p \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1-s \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M_{--} := (1-p) \begin{bmatrix} 1-s & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, M_{+-} := p \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ s & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M_{-+} := (1-p) \begin{bmatrix} 0 & s \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.11)

and $\mathbf{p} := [p \ 1 - p]$, with

$$p := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\beta_p \epsilon/2}}{2 \operatorname{ch}(\beta_p \epsilon/2)}.$$

- (v) For $s \in [0, 1[$, the measure \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs.
- (vi) If s = 0, that is if $\delta t \in \pi \mathbb{N}^*$, then \mathbb{P} is a Bernoulli measure.

(vii) If s = 1, that is if $\epsilon = \omega$ and $\lambda t \in \pi(\mathbb{N} + 1/2)$, then \mathbb{P} is a Markov measure.

Proof. Parts (i)–(ii) follow from elementary calculations and Remark 4.4. By Theorem 1.7 (iv) one has

$$ep(\mathcal{J},\rho) = \beta_p \epsilon \operatorname{tr}(\rho \Phi_{-+}[\mathbb{1}]) - \beta_p \epsilon \operatorname{tr}(\rho \Phi_{+-}[\mathbb{1}]) = 0.$$

Since e is real analytic on \mathbb{R} , convex, and e'(0) = e'(1) = 0, we have $e \equiv 0$, which gives (iii). To prove (iv), observe that the two-dimensional space of diagonal 2×2 matrices is invariant under

each map Φ_a . Expressing the restriction of these maps in the basis (P_+, P_-) yields the desired representation. Concerning (v), consider, for each $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, the sequence $\omega \in \Omega$ where $\omega_k = (+, +)$ for $k \neq T + 1$, $\omega_{T+1} = (-, +)$. Using (iv) one derives

$$\frac{\mathbb{P}_{2T+1}(\omega)}{\mathbb{P}_{T+1}(\omega)\mathbb{P}_T \circ \phi^{T+1}(\omega)} = \frac{(1-s)^T}{(1-p)(1-s)^T + p},$$

from which we conclude that

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sup_{S \in [1, T-1]} \sup_{\omega \in \text{supp } \mathbb{P}} \left| \log \frac{\mathbb{P}_T(\omega)}{\mathbb{P}_S(\omega) \mathbb{P}_{T-S}(\phi^S(\omega))} \right| \ge \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{1}{1-s} > 0,$$

and so, by Part (ii) of Theorem 1.14, the measure \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs. Parts (vi) and (vii) are obvious.

4.1.3 Two-time measurements with random thermal probes

We now turn to the proof of Theorem 2.13, using the notation of the corresponding paragraph of Section 1.4.2. For each $k \in [\![1, K]\!]$ we set $\mathcal{H}_k := \mathbb{C}^2$,

$$\rho_k := \frac{1}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta_k \epsilon/2)} \begin{bmatrix} \mathrm{e}^{-\beta_k \epsilon/2} & 0\\ 0 & \mathrm{e}^{\beta_k \epsilon/2} \end{bmatrix},$$

and the unitary U_k is given by (4.4, 4.9). However, it will be convenient to use the following representation of the alphabet

$$\mathcal{A} := \{ kuv \mid k \in [[1, K]] \text{ and } u, v \in \{-, +\} \}.$$

Theorem 4.6.

(i) The instrument modeling the two-time measurement for the XXZ-spin interaction with random thermal probe, is $\mathcal{J} := (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$, where

$$\Phi_{kuv} := w_k \Phi_{uv}^{(k)},$$

 $\Phi_{uv}^{(k)}$ being given by (4.10) with $\beta_p = \beta_k$.

(ii) $\Phi = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a$ is irreducible and the unique density matrix satisfying $\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$ is given by

$$\rho := \begin{bmatrix} p & 0\\ 0 & 1-p \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{where} \quad p := \sum_{k=1}^{K} w_k \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-\beta_k \epsilon/2}}{2 \operatorname{ch}(\beta_k \epsilon/2)}$$

In particular, all the conclusions of Theorem 1.7 hold.

(iii)

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) = \frac{s}{2} \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_k w_l \frac{(\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2 \operatorname{sh}((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_k + \beta_l)\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}$$

(iv) $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ if and only if s = 0 or $\beta_1 = \beta_2 = \cdots = \beta_K$.

(v)

$$e(\alpha) = \log\left[1 - \frac{s}{2}\left(1 - \sqrt{1 + \Delta(\alpha)}\right)\right],$$

where

$$\Delta(\alpha) := \sum_{k,l=1}^{K} w_k w_l \frac{\operatorname{ch}((1-2\alpha)(\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2) - \operatorname{ch}((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_k + \beta_l)\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_k - \beta_l)\epsilon/2)}.$$

(vi) The unraveling \mathbb{P} of the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$, where $\mathbf{p} := [p \ 1-p]$ and

$$M_{kuv} := w_k M_{uv}^{(\kappa)},$$

 $M_{uv}^{(k)}$ being given by (4.11) with $p := e^{-\beta_k \epsilon/2}/2 \operatorname{ch}(\beta_k \epsilon/2)$.

- (vii) For $s \in [0, 1[$ the measure \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs.
- (viii) If s = 0, that is if $\delta t \in \pi \mathbb{N}^*$, then \mathbb{P} is a Bernoulli measure.
- (ix) If s = 1, that is if $\epsilon = \omega$ and $\lambda t \in \pi(\mathbb{N} + 1/2)$, then \mathbb{P} is a Markov measure.

Proof. The proof of (vii) is the same as the proof of Part (v) of Theorem 4.5. The remaining parts follow from the identifications (1.32) and (1.33), and elementary computations that we omit. \Box

4.1.4 Two-time measurements with multi-thermal probes

In this section we study the general case of two-time measurements of XXZ-spin interaction with multi-thermal probes. In the end, we will specialize the discussion to the case $\omega = \epsilon$ and $\mu = 0$, which will provide a proof of Theorem 2.14.

By the well-known representation theory of $\mathfrak{su}(2)$, the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}_p and the associated tensor product of two spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ representations split into the direct sum of a one-dimensional singlet sector \mathcal{H}_0 carrying the trivial (spin-0) representation and a 3-dimensional triplet sector \mathcal{H}_1 carrying the spin-1 representation [Mes62, Sections XIII.26–27]. Denoting the latter by $\mathbf{S} := (S_x, S_y, S_z)$ and identifying $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p = \mathcal{H} \otimes (\mathcal{H}_0 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1)$ with $(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_0) \oplus (\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_1) = \mathcal{H} \oplus (\mathcal{H}_1 \oplus \mathcal{H}_1)$, we can rewrite the Hamiltonian in block-matrix form

$$H = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\frac{\omega}{2}\sigma_z}{(\epsilon + \mu)S_z + \frac{\omega}{2} & \sqrt{2}\lambda S_-}\\ \sqrt{2}\lambda S_+ & (\epsilon - \mu)S_z - \frac{\omega}{2} \end{bmatrix}$$

Comparison with (4.2) allows us to apply Lemma 4.1 to compute the unitary propagator

$$U = e^{-itH} = \begin{bmatrix} e^{-it\frac{\omega}{2}\sigma_z} & & \\ & U_{++} & U_{+-} \\ & U_{-+} & U_{--} \end{bmatrix}$$

An elementary calculation gives

$$U_{\pm\pm} := e^{\mp it(\frac{\omega}{2} + \epsilon \pm \mu)} \Pi_{\pm} + e^{it\frac{\mu \mp \epsilon}{2}} \left(\cos(t\delta_{\pm}) \mp i\frac{\nu_{\pm}}{\delta_{\pm}} \sin(t\delta_{\pm}) \right) \Pi_{0} + e^{it\frac{\mu \pm \epsilon}{2}} \left(\cos(t\delta_{\mp}) \mp i\frac{\nu_{\mp}}{\delta_{\mp}} \sin(t\delta_{\mp}) \right) \Pi_{\mp}, U_{\pm\mp} := -i\frac{\sqrt{2}\lambda}{\delta_{\pm}} e^{it\frac{\mu \mp \epsilon}{2}} \sin(t\delta_{\pm}) \Pi_{0} S_{\mp} - i\frac{\sqrt{2}\lambda}{\delta_{\mp}} e^{it\frac{\mu \pm \epsilon}{2}} \sin(t\delta_{\mp}) \Pi_{\mp} S_{\mp},$$

where $\Pi_{+/0/-}$ denote the spectral projections of S_z and

$$\nu_{\pm} \coloneqq \frac{1}{2} \left(\omega - \epsilon \pm \mu \right), \qquad \delta_{\pm} \coloneqq \sqrt{4\lambda^2 + \nu_{\pm}^2}.$$

To evaluate (1.22) and derive the expression of the instrument $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$, we need to express the projections $\mathbb{1} \otimes P_l$ as well as $X \otimes \mathbb{1}$ in the same basis, an elementary exercise which leads to

$$\mathbb{1} \otimes P_{++} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \Pi_{+} \\ \Pi_{+} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbb{1} \otimes P_{+-} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1} & |+\rangle \langle 0| & |-\rangle \langle 0| \\ |0\rangle \langle +| & \Pi_{0} \\ |0\rangle \langle -| & \Pi_{0} \end{bmatrix},$$

$$\mathbb{1} \otimes P_{-+} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1} & |-|+\rangle\langle 0| & -|-\rangle\langle 0| \\ -|0\rangle\langle +| & \Pi_0 \\ -|0\rangle\langle -| & \Pi_0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbb{1} \otimes P_{--} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & | \\ | & \Pi_- \\ | & \Pi_- \end{bmatrix},$$
$$X \otimes \mathbb{1} = \begin{bmatrix} X & | \\ | & X_{++} \mathbb{1} & X_{+-} \mathbb{1} \\ | & X_{-+} \mathbb{1} & X_{--} \mathbb{1} \end{bmatrix},$$

where $|0\rangle$ is the eigenvector of S_z corresponding to the eigenvalue 0, $|\pm\rangle$ the eigenvectors of σ_z , and X_{ij} the corresponding matrix elements of X.

Direct computations give that our two-time measurement process with multi-thermal probe is described by the instrument

$$\Phi_a: X \mapsto w_a V_a^* X V_a$$

where

$$V_{\pm\pm\pm\pm} := e^{\pm it(\frac{\omega+\epsilon\pm3\mu}{2})}P_{\pm} + \overline{a}_{\pm}P_{\mp}, \qquad V_{\pm\pm\mp\mp} := 0,$$

$$V_{+\pm\pm\mp} = V_{\pm\mp++}^* := b_{\pm}\sigma_{\pm}, \qquad V_{-\pm\mp} = V_{\pm\mp--}^* := b_{\pm}\sigma_{\pm},$$

$$V_{\pm\pm\pm\mp} := \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{-it\frac{\omega}{2}} + e^{it\frac{\epsilon-\mu}{2}}a_{\pm} \right) P_{\pm} + \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{it\frac{\omega}{2}} + e^{it\frac{\epsilon+\mu}{2}}a_{\pm} \right) P_{\pm},$$

$$V_{\pm\mp\pm\pm} := \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{-it\frac{\omega}{2}} - e^{it\frac{\epsilon-\mu}{2}}a_{\pm} \right) P_{\pm} + \frac{1}{2} \left(e^{it\frac{\omega}{2}} - e^{it\frac{\epsilon+\mu}{2}}a_{\pm} \right) P_{\pm},$$

with³⁶

$$a_{\pm} := \cos(t\delta_{\pm}) \mp i \frac{\nu_{\pm}}{\delta_{\pm}} \sin(t\delta_{\pm}), \qquad b_{\pm} := \frac{\sqrt{2\lambda}}{\delta_{\pm}} \sin(t\delta_{\pm}),$$

and, for $a = (a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4) \in \mathcal{A}$,

$$w_a := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-(\beta_1 a_1 + \beta_2 a_2)\epsilon/2}}{4 \mathrm{ch}(\beta_1 \epsilon/2) \mathrm{ch}(\beta_2 \epsilon/2)}$$

Since all Φ_a 's preserve the two-dimensional subspace of diagonal matrices, we can achieve a PMP representation $(M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ of the instrument \mathcal{J} in the same way as in the previous sections, with

$$\begin{split} M_{\pm\pm\pm\pm} &:= w_{\pm\pm} (P_{\pm} + |a_{\pm}|^2 P_{\mp}), \qquad M_{\pm\pm\mp\mp} := 0, \\ M_{++\pm\mp} &:= w_{++} b_+^2 \sigma_-, \qquad M_{\pm\mp--} := w_{\pm\mp} b_-^2 \sigma_-, \\ M_{--\pm\mp} &:= w_{--} b_-^2 \sigma_+, \qquad M_{\pm\mp++} := w_{\pm\mp} b_+^2 \sigma_+, \\ M_{\pm\mp\pm\mp} &:= \frac{w_{\pm\mp}}{4} \left(|1 + e^{it\nu_+} a_+|^2 P_+ + |1 + e^{-it\nu_-} a_-|^2 P_- \right), \\ M_{\pm\mp\mp\pm} &:= \frac{w_{\pm\mp}}{4} \left(|1 - e^{it\nu_+} a_+|^2 P_+ + |1 - e^{-it\nu_-} a_-|^2 P_- \right). \end{split}$$

The matrix corresponding to the map Φ is

$$M := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \pi_- & \pi_- \\ \pi_+ & 1 - \pi_+ \end{bmatrix}, \qquad \pi_{\pm} := 2w_{\pm\pm}b_{\pm}^2 + (w_{+-} + w_{-+})b_{\mp}^2.$$

In the trivial case³⁷ $\pi_+ = \pi_- = 0$, one has M = 1, any state ρ satisfies $\Phi^*[\rho] = \rho$, and the unraveling of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is a convex combination of two Bernoulli measures. In what follows, we shall

³⁶Note that $|a_{\pm}|^2 + 2b_{\pm}^2 = 1$.

³⁷This case only happens when $b_- = b_+ = 0$.

assume that π_{\pm} are not both zero, so that M and hence Φ are irreducible. The unique invariant state is

$$\rho := \frac{1}{\pi_{-} + \pi_{+}} \begin{bmatrix} \pi_{+} & 0\\ 0 & \pi_{-} \end{bmatrix},$$

and the unraveling \mathbb{P} of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$ with probability vector $\mathbf{p} := [\pi_+ \ \pi_-]/(\pi_+ + \pi_-)$.

Suppose that $\pi_+ \neq 0$, and for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ let $\omega \in \Omega$ be such that $\omega_k = ++++$ for $k \neq T+1$ and $\omega_{T+1} = +-++$. It follows that

$$\frac{\mathbb{P}_{2T+1}(\omega)}{\mathbb{P}_{T+1}(\omega)\mathbb{P}_{T}\circ\phi^{T+1}(\omega)} = \frac{1+\frac{\pi_{-}}{\pi_{+}}}{|a_{+}|^{-2T}+\frac{\pi_{-}}{\pi_{+}}},$$

and hence

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sup_{S \in [1, T-1]} \sup_{\omega \in \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{P}} \left| \log \frac{\mathbb{P}_T(\omega)}{\mathbb{P}_S(\omega) \mathbb{P}_{T-S}(\phi^S(\omega))} \right| \ge \log \frac{1}{|a_+|} > 0.$$

By Part (ii) of Theorem 1.14, the measure \mathbb{P} is not weak Gibbs. A completely similar argument holds when $\pi_{-} \neq 0$.

Another elementary calculation, starting with Formula (2.3), gives

$$\operatorname{ep}(\mathcal{J},\rho) = \frac{A}{2} \frac{\left((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)\operatorname{sh}\left((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)}{\operatorname{ch}\left((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right) + \operatorname{ch}\left((\beta_1 + \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)}$$

where

$$A := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-(\beta_1+\beta_2)\epsilon/2}b_+^2c_+^2 + \mathrm{ch}\left((\beta_1-\beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)\left(b_+^2c_-^2 + b_-^2c_+^2\right) + \mathrm{e}^{(\beta_1+\beta_2)\epsilon/2}b_-^2c_-^2}{\mathrm{e}^{-(\beta_1+\beta_2)\epsilon/2}b_+^2 + \mathrm{ch}\left((\beta_1-\beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)\left(b_+^2 + b_-^2\right) + \mathrm{e}^{(\beta_1+\beta_2)\epsilon/2}b_-^2},$$

with $c_{\pm}^2 := 2b_{\pm}^2 + |1 - e^{\pm it\nu_{\pm}}a_{\pm}|^2$. In particular, $ep(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = 0$ if and only if $\beta_1 = \beta_2$. Recalling (2.3) again, one easily computes the matrix $M(\alpha)$ and its largest eigenvalue which gives the entropic pressure

$$e(\alpha) = \log\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}M(\alpha) + \sqrt{\left(\frac{1}{2}\mathrm{tr}M(\alpha)\right)^2 - \det M(\alpha)}\right).$$

We shall not write the general expression of this function, but restrict ourselves to the special case $\epsilon = \omega$ and $\mu = 0$ considered in Theorem 2.14. Using the relations

$$a_{+} = a_{-} = \cos(2\lambda t), \qquad b_{+} = b_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin(2\lambda t), \qquad c_{+} = c_{-} = 2\sin(\lambda t),$$

we observe that $\pi_+ + \pi_- = \sin^2(2\lambda t)$ so that π_{\pm} are not both vanishing iff $\lambda t \notin \frac{\pi}{2}\mathbb{N}^*$. Moreover, an explicit evaluation of the previous formula gives

$$e(\alpha) = 2\log\left(\cos^2(\lambda t) + A(\alpha)\sin^2(\lambda t)\right),$$

with

$$A(\alpha) := \left(\frac{\operatorname{ch}\left((2\alpha - 1)(\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right) + \operatorname{ch}\left((\beta_1 + \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)}{\operatorname{ch}\left((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right) + \operatorname{ch}\left((\beta_1 + \beta_2)\epsilon/2\right)}\right)^{1/2}$$

Differentiation at $\alpha = 0$ further yields

$$ep(\mathcal{J},\rho) = 2\sin^2(\lambda t) \frac{((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2)\operatorname{sh}((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2)}{\operatorname{ch}((\beta_1 - \beta_2)\epsilon/2) + \operatorname{ch}((\beta_1 + \beta_2)\epsilon/2)}.$$

4.2 X00-spin instruments

This model has been described in Section 2.1.4. We shall again identify $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}_p$ with $\mathcal{H} \oplus \mathcal{H}$, so that the Hamiltonian (2.15) reads

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} \omega \sigma_z + \epsilon & \lambda \sigma_x \\ \lambda \sigma_x & \omega \sigma_z - \epsilon \end{bmatrix}.$$

It is a simple exercise to check that the associated propagator is given by

$$U := e^{-itH} = \begin{bmatrix} V_{++} & V_{+-} \\ V_{-+} & V_{--} \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.12)

where

$$V_{\pm\pm} := \cos\left(\Omega_{\pm}t/2\right) - \mathrm{i}(\omega\sigma_z \pm \epsilon)\Omega_{\pm}^{-1}\sin\left(\Omega_{\pm}t/2\right),$$

$$V_{\pm\mp} := -\mathrm{i}\lambda\Omega_{\pm}^{-1}\sin\left(\Omega_{\pm}t/2\right)\sigma_x,$$
(4.13)

and

$$\Omega_{\pm} := \left(\lambda^2 + (\omega \sigma_z \pm \epsilon)^2\right)^{1/2}.$$

4.2.1 One-time measurements

We prove Theorem 2.15. The instrument $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_-, \Phi_+)$ describing one-time measurements is given by

$$\Phi_{\pm}[X] := \left(\frac{1}{2} - \eta\right) V_{\pm+}^* X V_{\pm+} + \left(\frac{1}{2} + \eta\right) V_{\pm-}^* X V_{\pm-}$$

Both Φ_+ and Φ_- leave the two-dimensional space of diagonal matrices invariant. The matrices describing their action on this space are

$$M_{\pm} := \begin{bmatrix} \left(\frac{1}{2} \mp \eta\right) (1 - s_{\pm}) & \left(\frac{1}{2} \pm \eta\right) s_{\mp} \\ \left(\frac{1}{2} \pm \eta\right) s_{\pm} & \left(\frac{1}{2} \mp \eta\right) (1 - s_{\mp}) \end{bmatrix},$$
(4.14)

where s_{\pm} is given by (2.16). Note that, as the parameters $\epsilon, \omega, \lambda$ and t vary on $]0, \infty[$, the pair (s_{-}, s_{+}) takes all values in the set $[0, 1] \times [0, 1[$. Thus, for any Φ^* -invariant state ρ , the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) admits a PMP representation.

If $s_+ = s_- = 0$, then $M_{\pm} = (\frac{1}{2} \pm \eta)\mathbb{1}$, any state ρ is invariant under Φ^* , and the unraveling \mathbb{P} of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is the Bernoulli measure generated by the mass function $Q(\pm) = \frac{1}{2} \pm \eta$. In the opposite cases, an elementary calculation shows that the unique probability vector \mathbf{p} satisfying $\mathbf{p}(M_- + M_+) = \mathbf{p}$ is given by $\mathbf{p} = [p \ 1 - p]$ with p given by (2.17). In particular, the density matrix (2.18) is the unique state ρ for which the instrument (\mathcal{J}, ρ) satisfies Assumption (A). This yields Parts (i)–(iii). To prove Part (iv), observe that, in the special case $(s_-, s_+) = (1, 0)$, for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ one has

$$\mathbb{P}_T(--\cdots-) = \frac{1}{2} + \eta, \qquad \mathbb{P}_T(++\cdots++) = \frac{1}{2} - \eta$$

Parts (v)–(vi) follow by comparing (4.14) with (2.6), while Part (vii) follows from the fact that, for $\eta = 0$, the probability vector $\mathbf{p} = [1/2 \ 1/2]$ is invariant under both M_{\pm} . Part (viii) and the fact that Assumption (**C**) holds is a direct consequence of Lemma 2.2 (iii) and Theorem 1.6 (vi).

In view of Remark 1.2 and Theorem 1.6 (iii), in order to prove Part (ix) it suffices to show that, under the conditions $|\eta| \in [0, 1/2[$ and $s_{\pm} \in [0, 1[$, the identity $\mathbb{P}_T = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_T$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ implies

 $s_{\pm} = 1/2$. From the Perron–Frobenius theorem for matrices with strictly positive entries, we infer that the eigenvalues r_{\pm} and u_{\pm} of M_{\pm} satisfy $0 \le |u_{\pm}| < r_{\pm}$, the spectral projection associated to the dominant eigenvalue r_{\pm} having strictly positive entries. Writing the identity $\mathbf{p}M_{\pm}^{T}\mathbf{1} = \mathbf{p}M_{-}^{T}\mathbf{1}$, which holds for all $T \in \mathbb{N}$, in terms of the spectral representation of M_{\pm} yields

$$a_{+}r_{+}^{T} + (1 - a_{+})u_{+}^{T} = a_{-}r_{-}^{T} + (1 - a_{-})u_{-}^{T}$$
(4.15)

for some $a_{\pm} > 0$. Taking the logarithm on both sides of this identity, dividing by T and letting $T \to \infty$, we deduce $r_+ = r_- = r > 0$. Dividing both sides of (4.15) by r^T and letting again $T \to \infty$ gives $a_+ = a_- = a > 0$. If $a \neq 1$ then, considering again (4.15), $u_+ = u_-$ and hence

$$0 = tr(M_{-} - M_{+}) = 2\eta(2 - (s_{+} + s_{-})),$$

which contradicts our hypotheses. Thus, a = 1 and Relation (4.15) with T = 1 yields

$$r = \frac{1}{2} \pm \eta \left(1 - \frac{4s_+ s_-}{s_+ + s_-} \right)$$

i.e., r = 1/2 and $4s_+s_- = s_+ + s_-$. Inserting the last relation into $\mathbb{P}_3(+-+) = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_3(+-+)$ further yields

$$0 = \mathbf{p}(M_+M_-M_+ - M_-M_+M_-)\mathbf{1} = -2\eta^3 \left((s_+ + s_-)^2 - 3(s_+ + s_-) + 2 \right),$$

which implies $s_+ + s_- = 1 = 4s_+s_-$ and hence $s_{\pm} = 1/2$. Finally, to prove Part (x), set

$$W := \begin{bmatrix} (1+4\eta^2)(s_++s_-) - 4\eta(s_+-s_-) & -(1-4\eta^2)(s_++s_-) \\ -(1-4\eta^2)(s_++s_-) & (1+4\eta^2)(s_++s_-) + 4\eta(s_+-s_-) \end{bmatrix},$$

and, observing that

$$M_{\pm}^{\mathsf{T}} = W^{-1}M_{\pm}W, \qquad \mathbf{p}W = \frac{16\eta^2 s_{\pm}s_{-}}{s_{\pm} + s_{-}}\mathbf{1}^{\mathsf{T}}, \qquad \frac{16\eta^2 s_{\pm}s_{-}}{s_{\pm} + s_{-}}W^{-1}\mathbf{1} = \mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{T}},$$

we conclude that for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\omega \in \Omega$,

$$\mathbb{P}_{T}(\omega) = \mathbf{p}M_{\omega_{1}}\cdots M_{\omega_{T}}\mathbf{1} = \mathbf{p}WW^{-1}M_{\omega_{1}}W\cdots W^{-1}M_{\omega_{T}}WW^{-1}\mathbf{1}$$
$$= \mathbf{1}^{\mathsf{T}}M_{\omega_{1}}^{\mathsf{T}}\cdots M_{\omega_{T}}^{\mathsf{T}}\mathbf{p}^{\mathsf{T}} = \mathbf{p}M_{\omega_{T}}\cdots M_{\omega_{1}}\mathbf{1} = \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_{T}(\omega).$$

The proof of Theorem 2.15 is complete.

To conclude the discussion of the one-time measurements of the X00-spin system, we note that by Parts (v)–(vi) the failure of the fluctuation–dissipation relations for the Keep–Switch instrument discussed in Section 3.6 translates to the failure of these relations for the X00-spin instrument with pure probe state, *i.e.*, $|\eta| = 1/2$.

4.2.2 Two-time measurements with a thermal probe

We prove Theorem 2.18. One easily determines the two-time X00-spin instrument with thermal probe $\mathcal{J} = (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ to be

$$\Phi_{\pm\pm}[X] := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\mp\beta\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)} V_{\pm\pm}^* X V_{\pm\pm},$$

$$\Phi_{\mp\pm}[X] := \frac{\mathrm{e}^{\pm\beta\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)} V_{\pm\mp}^* X V_{\pm\mp},$$
(4.16)

where $V_{\pm\pm}$ and $V_{\pm\mp}$ are given by (4.13). Recall that s_{\pm} are given by (2.16). All the maps Φ_a leave the two-dimensional space of diagonal matrices invariant, and their action on this space is given by the matrices $(M_a)_{a\in\mathcal{A}}$, where

$$M_{\pm\pm} := \frac{e^{\mp\beta\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)} \begin{bmatrix} 1 - s_{\pm} & 0\\ 0 & 1 - s_{\mp} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad M_{\mp\pm} := \frac{e^{\pm\beta\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & s_{\mp}\\ s_{\pm} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.17)

Remark 4.7. Recalling the construction of the random thermal probes in Section 1.4.2 and observing that

$$\mathcal{K}_{\pm} = \left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 - s_{\pm} & 0\\ 0 & 1 - s_{\mp} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} 0 & s_{\pm}\\ s_{\mp} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right),$$

defines two pairs of Keep–Switch matrices, we conclude that the two-time X00-spin instrument can be viewed as a randomization of the Keep–Switch instruments defined by \mathcal{K}_+ and \mathcal{K}_- with respective weights $w_{\pm} := e^{\pm \beta \epsilon/2}/2 \operatorname{ch}(\beta \epsilon/2)$.

Consider first the special case $s_+ = s_- = 0$. Since $M_{\mp\pm} = 0$, $M_{\pm\pm}$ are both multiples of the identity, and $M := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a = 1$, any probability vector **p** is left-invariant with respect to M and the PMP measure generated by $((M_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}, \mathbf{p})$ is the Bernoulli measure concentrated on $\{--, ++\}^{\mathbb{N}^*} \subset \Omega$ and associated to the mass function $Q(\pm\pm) = e^{\pm\beta\epsilon/2}/2 \operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)$. This yields Part (i).

Excluding the preceding case, one easily deduces that the matrix M and hence the map Φ are irreducible. Setting $\eta := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{th}(\beta \epsilon/2)$, a simple calculation shows that $\mathbf{p} := [p \ 1 - p]$, with p given by (2.17), is the unique invariant probability vector for M. This settles Parts (ii)–(iii). Parts (iv) and (v) are easily established by applying Formulas (2.3).

If $s_{-} = s_{+} = 1/2$, direct calculation shows that \mathbb{P} is the Bernoulli measure on Ω generated by the mass function

$$Q(++) = Q(+-) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{e^{-\beta\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)}, \qquad Q(-+) = Q(--) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{e^{\beta\epsilon/2}}{2\operatorname{ch}(\beta\epsilon/2)}$$

In the opposite cases, given the connection with the Keep–Switch instrument mentioned in Remark 4.7, the proof of Part (vi) is the same as in the Keep–Switch case given in Section 3.1. This concludes the proof of Theorem 2.18.

4.2.3 Two-time measurements with random thermal probes

We prove Theorem 2.21. The setting and notation are the same as in Section 4.1.3, except that now each U_k is given by (4.12). It follows that the relevant instrument $\mathcal{J} := (\Phi_a)_{a \in \mathcal{A}}$ is given by

$$\Phi_{kuv} := w_k \Phi_{uv}^{(k)},$$

where the map $\Phi_{uv}^{(k)}$ is given by (4.16) with $\beta = \beta_k$. Its action on diagonal 2 × 2 matrices is described by $M_{kuv} := w_k M_{uv}^{(k)}$, $M_{uv}^{(k)}$ being given by (4.17) with $\beta = \beta_k$.

If $s_+ = s_- = 0$, then the argument of the previous section carries over, and we conclude that for any diagonal density matrix ρ , the unraveling of (\mathcal{J}, ρ) is the Bernoulli measure on $(\llbracket 1, K \rrbracket \times \{--, ++\})^{\mathbb{N}^*}$ generated by the mass function $Q(k \pm \pm) = w_k \frac{e^{\pm \beta_k \epsilon/2}}{2 \operatorname{ch}(\beta_k \epsilon/2)}$. This yields Part (i).

Assuming now that $s_+ + s_- > 0$, we again observe that $M := \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} M_a$ and hence the map Φ are irreducible. The unique left-invariant probability vector $\mathbf{p} := [p \ 1 - p]$ of M is easily seen to be given by (2.17) with η as in (2.19). The remaining parts of Theorem 2.21 are proved in a similar way to their counterparts of Theorem 2.18.

5 Rotational instruments

In this section we prove Theorem 2.32. We assume throughout that $\Delta \in \mathcal{I} := [0, 2[\setminus \mathbb{Q}.$

Concerning our assumptions, we note that since $\rho = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{1}$ and $\Phi[\mathbb{1}] = \sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}} \Phi_a[\mathbb{1}] = \mathbb{1}$, Assumption (A) holds. Moreover, for any $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$, one has

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega 3\nu]) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\omega} \circ \Phi_{3} \circ \Phi_{\nu}[\mathbb{1}]) = \frac{1}{12} \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\omega}[\mathbb{1}]) \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\nu}[\mathbb{1}]) = \frac{1}{3} \mathbb{P}([\omega]) \mathbb{P}([\nu]),$$
(5.1)

and similarly for $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$ (recall that $\theta(3) = 3$). Thus, Assumption (C) holds with $\tau = 1$. Since $\Phi_1^2 = 0$, we have $\mathbb{P}([\omega]) = 0$ whenever $\omega \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ contains the string 11. In particular,

$$\mathbb{P}([11]) = 0 \tag{5.2}$$

shows that $\tau = 1$ is the smallest integer one can take in Assumption (C). We will now prove that, for $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\Omega_T^+ := \operatorname{supp} \mathbb{P}_T = \{ \omega \in \Omega_T \mid \mathbb{P}([\omega]) > 0 \}$$
(5.3)

consists of all the words in Ω_T that do not contain the string 11. In particular, in view of the choice of the involution θ , Assumption (**B**) follows from (5.3).

Before we prove (5.3), we make the following additional observations.

First, since $\Phi_2 \geq \frac{1}{2}\Phi_3$, it follows from (5.1) that for $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$,

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega 2\nu]) \ge \frac{1}{2} \mathbb{P}([\omega 3\nu]) = \frac{1}{6} \mathbb{P}([\omega]) \mathbb{P}([\nu]).$$
(5.4)

Moreover, for all $T, T' \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\omega \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$,

$$\mathbb{P}([0^T \omega 0^{T'}]) = 3^{-T-T'} \mathbb{P}([\omega]).$$
(5.5)

Next, denoting by (e_1, e_2) the canonical basis of \mathbb{C}^2 and noting that $V = |e_2\rangle\langle e_1|$, we find that for $\omega, \nu \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$,

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega 1\nu]) = \frac{1}{24} \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\omega}[|e_2\rangle\langle e_1|\Phi_{\nu}[\mathbb{1}]e_1\rangle\langle e_2|]) = \frac{1}{24}\langle e_1|\Phi_{\nu}[\mathbb{1}]e_1\rangle\operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{\omega}[|e_2\rangle\langle e_2|])$$

= 6tr($\Phi_{1\nu}[\mathbb{1}]$)tr($\Phi_{\omega 1}[\mathbb{1}]$) = 24 $\mathbb{P}([\omega 1])\mathbb{P}([1\nu])$. (5.6)

Finally, the central identity in this section is that, for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\mathbb{P}([10^{T}1]) = 2^{-1} \operatorname{tr}(\Phi_{1} \circ \Phi_{0}^{T} \circ \Phi_{1}[\mathbb{1}])$$

= $(288)^{-1} 3^{-T} \operatorname{tr}(|e_{2}\rangle\langle e_{1}|R_{T\Delta}e_{2}\rangle\langle e_{2}|R_{T\Delta}^{\mathsf{T}}e_{1}\rangle\langle e_{2}|)$
= $(288)^{-1} 3^{-T} \sin^{2}(T\pi\Delta).$ (5.7)

The assumption $\Delta \in \mathcal{I}$ guarantees that $\sin^2(T\pi\Delta) > 0$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$.

We now return to the proof of (5.3). We have already seen that if $\omega \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$ contains the string 11, then $\mathbb{P}([\omega]) = 0$. It remains to prove the converse. To this end, suppose, by contradiction, that there is $\omega_0 \in \Omega_{\text{fin}}$, not containing 11, such that $\mathbb{P}([\omega_0]) = 0$. From (5.1) and (5.4), we deduce that ω_0 contains a subword $\xi \in \{0, 1\}^m$ for some $m \ge 1$ such that $\mathbb{P}([\xi]) = 0$. Using then (5.5), we further see that ξ can be taken of the form

$$\xi = 10^{n_1} 10^{n_2} 1 \cdots 10^{n_r} 1,$$

for some $r \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $n_1, \ldots, n_r \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Using now (5.6), we conclude that there must be $i \in [\![1, r]\!]$ such that $\mathbb{P}([10^{n_i}1]) = 0$, which contradicts (5.7). We have thus established (5.3), and the proof of Part (i) of Theorem 2.32 is complete.

It should be clear from the previous discussion that the strings $101, 1001, 10001, \ldots$ play an important role. In order to enumerate them, we introduce the following notation.

Definition 5.1. Given $\omega \in \Omega_T$, let $r \in \mathbb{N}$ be maximal such that there exist $\ell_1 < \ell_2 < \cdots < \ell_r$ and $n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_r \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that $\omega_{\llbracket \ell_i, \ell_i + n_i + 1 \rrbracket} = 10^{n_i} 1$, $i \in \llbracket 1, r \rrbracket$. We write then $N_{\omega} = (n_1, n_2, \ldots, n_r)$. If ω contains no subword of the kind $10^n 1$ with $n \ge 1$, then r = 0 and $N_{\omega} = ()$.

For example, if $\omega = 1031001000103210100010$, we have $N_{\omega} = (2, 3, 1, 3)$ (corresponding to the length of the strings of zeroes underlined).

Let $\ell(x) := \min_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} |x - p|$. It is then immediate that

$$\ell(T\Delta) \le |\sin(T\pi\Delta)| = |\sin(\pi\ell(T\Delta))| \le \pi\ell(T\Delta).$$
(5.8)

Lemma 5.2. There is a constant C > 0, depending on Δ only, such that for any $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\omega \in \Omega_T^+$,

$$\mathbb{P}([\omega]) \ge e^{-CT} \prod_{i=1}^{r} \sin^2(n_i \pi \Delta) \ge e^{-CT} \prod_{i=1}^{r} (\ell(n_i \Delta))^2,$$

with $(n_1, \ldots, n_r) = N_{\omega}$ (when r = 0, the products above are taken to be 1).

Proof. The second inequality follows from (5.8). We now prove the first one. An easy induction argument relying on (5.1) and (5.4) shows that it suffices to prove the result in the case where ω contains only 0's and 1's. And in that case, the result immediately follows from (5.5), (5.6) and (5.7).

Part (ii) of Theorem 2.32 is the contents of

Proposition 5.3. For Lebesgue-almost all $\Delta \in \mathcal{I}$, we have $e(\alpha) < \infty$ for all $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof. First assume that Δ has the following property: there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\ell(T\Delta) \ge C \mathrm{e}^{-T}.\tag{5.9}$$

Then, by Lemma 5.2, since $\sum_{i=1}^{r} n_i < T$, there exists C' > 0 such that $|\sigma_T(\omega)| \leq C'T$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\omega \in \Omega_T^+$, so that $e(\alpha) \leq C' |\alpha|$.

We now give a direct proof that (5.9) is satisfied for almost all Δ (this is of course well known, since in particular (5.9) holds for all Diophantine numbers Δ). Denote by λ the normalized Lebesgue measure on [0, 2] and consider the sets $A_T := \{\Delta \in [0, 2] \mid \ell(T\Delta) < e^{-T}\}$ with $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Then $\lambda(A_T) \leq 2e^{-T}$ so that $\sum_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*} \lambda(A_T) < \infty$. By the Borel–Cantelli lemma there is a set $E \subset [0, 2]$ with $\lambda(E) = 1$ such that any $\Delta \in E$ belongs at most to a finite number of A_T 's. Since clearly $E \subset \mathcal{I}$, any $\Delta \in E$ satisfies $\ell(T\Delta) > 0$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, and thus also (5.9) for some C > 0. The proof is complete.

We now prove Parts (iii) and (iv) of Theorem 2.32. Part (iii) follows from Propositions 5.4 and 5.6 below, and Part (iv) follows from Propositions 5.4 and 5.5.

Let $\Gamma \colon \mathbb{N}^* \to [1,\infty[$ be an increasing function such that

$$\lim_{T \to \infty} \Gamma(T) = +\infty, \qquad \sup_{T \in \mathbb{N}^*} T e^{-\Gamma(T)} < \infty$$

(we shall consider the cases $\Gamma(T) = T^2$ and $\Gamma(T) = e^{T^2}$ below). We prove in Lemma A.2 (with $\psi = e^{-\Gamma}$) that there exists a dense set $I_{\Gamma} \subset [0, 2]$ such that for all $\Delta \in I_{\Gamma}$,

$$0 < \liminf_{T \to \infty} \ell(T\Delta) e^{\Gamma(T)} < \infty.$$
(5.10)

Note in particular that (5.10) implies that Δ is irrational, so that $I_{\Gamma} \subset \mathcal{I}$.

We make the convention that c > 0 is a constant depending on Δ and Γ only, which can be different each time it appears.

For further reference, we note that if $\Delta \in I_{\Gamma}$, then for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\log \ell(T\Delta) \ge -\Gamma(T) - c, \tag{5.11}$$

and there exists a sequence $T_i \to \infty$ such that

$$\log \ell(T_i \Delta) \le -\Gamma(T_i) + c. \tag{5.12}$$

Proposition 5.4. Assume that Γ is such that $\lim_{T\to\infty} T^{-1}\Gamma(T) = \infty$ and that $\Delta \in I_{\Gamma}$. Then $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ for all $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$.

Proof. By the symmetry (1.13), it is enough to prove the result for $\alpha > 1$. By (5.7), (5.8) and (5.4), we have

$$\mathbb{P}([10^T 1]) \le e^{-cT}(\ell(T\Delta))^2, \qquad \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([10^T 1]) = \mathbb{P}([12^T 1]) \ge e^{-cT}.$$
(5.13)

As a consequence, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{T+2}\log\sum_{\omega\in\Omega_{T+2}^+} e^{(1-\alpha)\log\mathbb{P}([\omega])+\alpha\log\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega])} \ge \frac{1}{T+2}\log e^{(1-\alpha)\log\mathbb{P}([10^T1])+\alpha\log\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([10^T1])} \\\ge \frac{(1-\alpha)(-cT+2\log\ell(T\Delta))-cT\alpha}{T+2}.$$

By our assumption on Γ , the right-hand side diverges along the sequence T_i of (5.12), and hence the proof is complete.

By (1.14), we have

$$(\partial^- e)(1) = -(\partial^+ e)(0) = \exp(\mathcal{J}, \rho) = -h_\phi(\mathbb{P}) - \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T^+} \mathbb{P}([\omega]) \log \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]).$$

(Recall that the Kolmogorov–Sinai entropy satisfies $h_{\phi}(\mathbb{P}) \in [0, \log 4]$, since $|\mathcal{A}| = 4$.) For later convenience, we note that the above can also be expressed as

$$(\partial^{-}e)(1) = -(\partial^{+}e)(0) = -h_{\phi}(\mathbb{P}) - \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_{T}^{+}} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]) \log \mathbb{P}([\omega]).$$
(5.14)

Proposition 5.5. Let $\Gamma(T) = e^{T^2}$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and let $\Delta \in I_{\Gamma}$. Then $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ for all $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$, and $(\partial^- e)(1) = -(\partial^+ e)(0) = +\infty$.

Proof. By Proposition 5.4, $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ when $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$. Moreover, by (5.14) and (5.13), we find

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial^- e)(1) &\geq -\log 4 - \liminf_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T+2} \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([10^T 1]) \log \mathbb{P}([10^T 1]) \\ &\geq -\log 4 - \liminf_{T \to \infty} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-cT}}{T+2} \log(\ell(T\Delta)). \end{aligned}$$

In view of (5.12), and by our choice of Γ , we conclude that $(\partial^- e)(1) = +\infty$.

Proposition 5.6. Let $\Gamma(T) = T^2$ for all $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and let $\Delta \in I_{\Gamma}$. Then $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ for all $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$, and $(\partial^- e)(1) = -(\partial^+ e)(0) < \infty$.

Proof. We have by Proposition 5.4 that $e(\alpha) = +\infty$ for all $\alpha \notin [0, 1]$. We prove here that $(\partial^- e)(1) < \infty$. For $\omega \in \Omega_T$, let $N_\omega = (n_1, \ldots, n_r)$, and note that if $\omega \in \Omega_T^+$, then

$$-\log \mathbb{P}([\omega]) \le cT + 2\sum_{i=1}^{r} \Gamma(n_i),$$

as a consequence of Lemma 5.2 and (5.11). From this and (5.14), we obtain

$$(\partial^{-}e)(1) \le c + 2 \limsup_{T \to \infty} \frac{u_T}{T},$$
(5.15)

where, for $T \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we have set

$$u_T := \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} f_T(\omega) \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]), \qquad f_T(\omega) := \sum_{i=1}^r \Gamma(n_i)$$
(5.16)

(recall that Assumption (**B**) holds, so that $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]) = 0$ when $\omega \in \Omega_T \setminus \Omega_T^+$).

We thus need to show that u_T increases at most linearly. For $T \ge 3$ and $n \in [\![1, T - 2]\!]$, consider the sets

$$A_{T,n} := \{ \omega \in \Omega_T \mid \omega_{\llbracket 1, n+2 \rrbracket} = 10^n 1 \},$$

and let

$$A_{T,0} := \Omega_T \setminus \bigcup_{n=1}^{T-2} A_{T,n}$$

We observe that for all $T \geq 3$, $n \in [0, T-2]$ and $\omega \in A_{T,n}$,

$$f_T(\omega) = \Gamma(n) + f_{T-1}(\omega_{[2,T]}), \qquad (5.17)$$

with the convention $\Gamma(0) = 0$. Since for $T \ge 3$ the family $(A_{T,n})_{n \in [0, T-2]}$ is a partition of Ω_T , we find, using the invariance of $\widehat{\mathbb{P}}$,

$$u_T = \sum_{n=0}^{T-2} \sum_{\omega \in A_{T,n}} f_T(\omega) \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]),$$
$$u_{T-1} = \sum_{\omega \in \Omega_T} f_{T-1}(\omega_{\llbracket 2,T \rrbracket}) \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]) = \sum_{n=0}^{T-2} \sum_{\omega \in A_{T,n}} f_{T-1}(\omega_{\llbracket 2,T \rrbracket}) \widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]).$$

Thus, using (5.17) and recalling that $\Gamma(0) = 0$, we find, for $T \ge 3$,

$$u_T - u_{T-1} = \sum_{n=1}^{T-2} \sum_{\omega \in A_{T,n}} \Gamma(n)\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([\omega]) = \sum_{n=1}^{T-2} \Gamma(n)\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([10^n 1]) \le \sum_{n=1}^{T-2} \Gamma(n)3^{-n-2} \le c,$$

where the next-to-last inequality relies on

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}}([10^n 1]) = \mathbb{P}([12^n 1]) \le \mathbb{P}([13^n 1]) \le \mathbb{P}([3^{n+2}]) = \frac{1}{2}3^{-n-2}.$$

The right-hand side of (5.15) is thus finite, which completes the proof.

A Continued fractions

In this appendix we prove Lemma A.2, which was used in the last section. To this end, we start with a brief summary of some properties of continued fractions (see for example [Khi64, Bur00] for more details).

Let $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{Z}$ be such that $a_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$.³⁸ Define

$$[a_0; a_1] := a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1}, \quad [a_0; a_1, a_2] = a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2}},$$

and, more generally, for $i \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$[a_0; a_1, \dots, a_i] := a_0 + \frac{1}{a_1 + \frac{1}{a_2 + \frac{1}{a_3 + \dots + \frac{1}{a_{i-1} + \frac{1}{a_i}}}}}.$$

It is well known that the limit

$$[a_0; a_1, a_2, \dots] := \lim_{i \to \infty} [a_0; a_1, \dots, a_i]$$

exists and is irrational. There is a bijection between the sequences $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $a_n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and the irrational numbers. Moreover, for each $\zeta \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Q}$, we have

$$\zeta = [a_0; a_1, a_2, \dots], \tag{A.1}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_0 &:= \zeta, & a_0 &:= \lfloor \zeta_0 \rfloor, \\ \zeta_{i+1} &:= \frac{1}{\zeta_i - a_i}, & a_{i+1} &:= \lfloor \zeta_{i+1} \rfloor, & i \in \mathbb{N} \end{aligned}$$

The right-hand side of (A.1) is called the *continued fraction expansion* of ζ , and this expansion is unique.

For $i \in \mathbb{N}^*$, let $p_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $q_i \in \mathbb{N}^*$ be such that the fraction

$$\frac{p_i}{q_i} = [a_0; a_1, \dots, a_i]$$
 (A.2)

is irreducible, and let $p_{-1} := 1$, $q_{-1} := 0$, $p_0 := a_0$ and $q_0 := 1$. We then have for $i \in \mathbb{N}^*$,

$$\begin{bmatrix} p_i & p_{i-1} \\ q_i & q_{i-1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} p_{i-1} & p_{i-2} \\ q_{i-1} & q_{i-2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_i & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix},$$
(A.3)

and, in particular, $q_{i+1} > q_i$. It is also well known that if ζ is given by (A.1) (so that $\zeta = \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{p_i}{q_i}$), then

$$\frac{p_0}{q_0} < \frac{p_2}{q_2} < \frac{p_4}{q_4} < \dots < \zeta < \dots < \frac{p_5}{q_5} < \frac{p_3}{q_3} < \frac{p_1}{q_1},\tag{A.4}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2q_{i+1}} \le |q_i\zeta - p_i| \le \frac{1}{q_{i+1}}, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N}.$$
(A.5)

We recall here the best approximation property (see for example [Bur00, Theorem 5.9]).

³⁸We recall the convention chosen in Section 1.2 about \mathbb{N} (which includes 0) and \mathbb{N}^* (which does not).

Lemma A.1. Fix $i \in \mathbb{N}$, and let $(p,q) \in (\mathbb{Z} \times [\![1,q_{i+1}]\!]) \setminus \{(p_i,q_i), (p_{i+1},q_{i+1})\}$. Then

$$|\zeta q - p| > |\zeta q_i - p_i|. \tag{A.6}$$

Proof. Let $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$ be such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} p_{i+1} & p_i \\ q_{i+1} & q_i \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} x \\ y \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} p \\ q \end{bmatrix}.$$

Such $x, y \in \mathbb{Z}$ exist, as the determinant of the matrix here is ± 1 by (A.3). We consider two cases. First, if x = 0 then $(p, q) = (yp_i, yq_i)$. Clearly y > 0, since $q, q_i > 0$, and in fact the condition $(p, q) \neq (p_i, q_i)$ implies that $y \ge 2$. The result is then obvious, since then $|\zeta q - p| \ge 2|\zeta q_i - p_i|$. We now assume that $x \neq 0$. The condition

$$q = xq_{i+1} + yq_i \in [\![1, q_{i+1}]\!] \tag{A.7}$$

implies that xy < 0. Indeed, clearly (A.7) implies that $xy \le 0$, and if we had y = 0, then by (A.7) we would find x = 1, which contradicts the condition $(p,q) \ne (p_{i+1}, q_{i+1})$. This shows that xy < 0.

Since also $(\zeta q_{i+1} - p_{i+1})(\zeta q_i - p_i) < 0$ by (A.4), we conclude that $x(\zeta q_{i+1} - p_{i+1})$ and $y(\zeta q_i - p_i)$ have the same sign. But then,

$$\begin{aligned} |\zeta q - p| &= |x(\zeta q_{i+1} - p_{i+1}) + y(\zeta q_i - p_i)| \\ &= |x||\zeta q_{i+1} - p_{i+1}| + |y||\zeta q_i - p_i| > |\zeta q_i - p_i|, \end{aligned}$$

which completes the proof.

Let $\ell(x) := \min_{p \in \mathbb{Z}} |x - p|$ as in Section 5. Let $i \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Since $q_{i+1} > q_i$, Lemma A.1 applies to the pairs (p, q_i) for all $p \neq p_i$, from which we conclude that³⁹

$$\ell(\zeta q_i) = |\zeta q_i - p_i|. \tag{A.8}$$

In addition, for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, applying Lemma A.1 to all pairs $(p,q) \in (\mathbb{Z} \times \llbracket 1, q_{i+1} - 1 \rrbracket) \setminus \{(p_i, q_i)\}$ shows that

$$\ell(\zeta q) \ge |\zeta q_i - p_i|, \qquad q \in [\![1, q_{i+1} - 1]\!].$$
 (A.9)

Lemma A.2. Let $\psi \colon \mathbb{N}^* \to [0,1]$ be a decreasing function such that $\sup_{q \in \mathbb{N}^*} q\psi(q) < \infty$. Then, there exists a dense subset $U \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that for all $\zeta \in U$,

$$0 < \liminf_{q \to \infty} \frac{\ell(q\zeta)}{\psi(q)} < \infty.$$
(A.10)

Proof. Fix any open interval $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ and fix $x \in I \setminus \mathbb{Q}$. Let $(\hat{a}_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ be such that $x = [\hat{a}_0; \hat{a}_1, \hat{a}_2, \ldots]$, and let \hat{p}_i, \hat{q}_i be as in (A.2) with (a_i) replaced by (\hat{a}_i) . Then, since $x = \lim_{i \to \infty} \frac{\hat{p}_i}{\hat{q}_i}$, one can choose N large enough so that $\frac{\hat{p}_{N-1}}{\hat{q}_{N-1}} \in I$ and $\frac{\hat{p}_N}{\hat{q}_N} \in I$. We then consider $\zeta = [a_0; a_1, a_2, \ldots]$, where $a_i = \hat{a}_i$ for $i \leq N$, and $a_{i+1} = \min\{n \in \mathbb{N} \mid nq_i\psi(q_i) \geq 1\}$ for $i \geq N$. Then, since $p_i = \hat{p}_i$ and $q_i = \hat{q}_i$ for $i \leq N$, and by (A.4), we obtain that $\zeta \in I$. It remains to show that ζ satisfies (A.10). For all $i \geq N$, we have by (A.8), (A.5) and (A.3) that

$$\ell(\zeta q_i) = |\zeta q_i - p_i| \le \frac{1}{q_{i+1}} \le \frac{1}{a_{i+1}q_i} \le \psi(q_i),$$

³⁹Note that (A.8) does not hold for i = 0 in general, because we may have $q_1 = q_0 = 1$ (for example if $\zeta = \pi/4$) and so Lemma A.1 may not apply to all pairs $(p, q_i), p \neq p_i$.

so that the second inequality in (A.10) holds. Moreover, by (A.9), (A.5) and (A.3), we have for all $i \ge N$ and all $q \in [\![q_i, q_{i+1} - 1]\!]$ that

$$\ell(\zeta q) \ge |\zeta q_i - p_i| \ge \frac{1}{2q_{i+1}} \ge \frac{1}{2(a_{i+1} + 1)q_i} \ge \frac{1}{2(\frac{1}{q_i\psi(q_i)} + 2)q_i}$$
$$= \frac{\psi(q_i)}{2(1 + 2q_i\psi(q_i))} \ge C^{-1}\psi(q_i) \ge C^{-1}\psi(q),$$

where $C = 2(1 + 2 \sup_{q \in \mathbb{N}} q\psi(q))$. This establishes the first inequality in (A.10), hence the proof is complete.

References

- [ABL64] AHARONOV, Y., BERGMANN, P. G. and LEBOWITZ, J. L. : Time symmetry in the quantum process of measurement. Phys. Rev. **134**, B1410 (1964).
- [Bar11] BARREIRA, L. : *Thermodynamic Formalism and Applications to Dimension Theory*. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2011.
- [BB91] BARCHIELLI, A. and BELAVKIN, V. P. : Measurements continuous in time and a posteriori states in quantum mechanics. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **24**, 1495–1514 (1991).
- [BB11] BAUER, M. and BERNARD, D. : Convergence of repeated quantum nondemolition measurements and wave-function collapse. Phys. Rev. A **84**, 044103 (2011).
- [BB20] BOUGRON, J.-F. and BRUNEAU, L. : Linear response theory and entropic fluctuations in repeated interaction quantum systems. J. Stat. Phys. **181**, 1636–1677 (2020).
- [BBB13] BAUER, M., BENOIST, T. and BERNARD, D. : Repeated quantum non-demolition measurements: convergence and continuous time limit. Ann. H. Poincaré 14, 639–679 (2013).
- [BBFF20] BALLESTEROS, M., BENOIST, T., FRAAS, M. and FRÖHLICH, J. : The appearance of particle tracks in detectors. arXiv preprint (2020), arXiv:2007.00785.
- [BBT15] BAUER, M., BERNARD, D. and TILLOY, A. : Computing the rates of measurementinduced quantum jumps. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **48**, 25FT02 (2015).
- [BBT16] BAUER, M., BERNARD, D. and TILLOY, A. : Zooming in on quantum trajectories. J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **49**, 10LT01 (2016).
- [BCC⁺18] BERNARDIN, C., CHETRITE, R., CHHAIBI, R., NAJNUDEL, J. and PELLEGRINI, C. : Spiking and collapsing in large noise limits of SDEs. arXiv preprint (2018), arXiv:1810.05629.
- [BCF⁺18] BALLESTEROS, M., CRAWFORD, N., FRAAS, M., FRÖHLICH, J. and SCHUBNEL, B. : Non-demolition measurements of observables with general spectra. In *Mathematical Problems in Quantum Physics*, Contemp. Math., vol. 717, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2018, p. 241–256.
- [BCF⁺19] BALLESTEROS, M., CRAWFORD, N., FRAAS, M., FRÖHLICH, J. and SCHUBNEL, B. : Perturbation theory for weak measurements in quantum mechanics, systems with finite-dimensional state space. Ann. H. Poincaré 20, 299–335 (2019).

- [BCJ⁺a] BENOIST, T., CUNEO, N., JAKOBSON, D., JAKŠIĆ, V. and PILLET, C.-A. : Statistical mechanics of repeated quantum measurement processes. In preparation.
- [BCJ⁺b] BENOIST, T., CUNEO, N., JAKŠIĆ, V., PAUTRAT, Y. and PILLET, C.-A. : On the nature of the quantum detailed balance condition. In preparation.
- [Bel89] BELAVKIN, V. P. : A new wave equation for a continuous nondemolition measurement. Phys. Lett. A **140**, 355–358 (1989).
- [BFFS16] BALLESTEROS, M., FRAAS, M., FRÖHLICH, J. and SCHUBNEL, B. : Indirect acquisition of information in quantum mechanics. J. Stat. Phys. **162**, 924–958 (2016).
- [BFPP19] BENOIST, T., FRAAS, M., PAUTRAT, Y. and PELLEGRINI, C. : Invariant measure for quantum trajectories. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields **174**, 307–334 (2019).
- [BG09] BARCHIELLI, A. and GREGORATTI, M. : *Quantum Trajectories and Measurements in Continuous Time: The Diffusive Case*. Springer Science, 2009.
- [BH95] BARCHIELLI, A. and HOLEVO, A. S. : Constructing quantum measurement processes via classical stochastic calculus. Stoch. Process. Appl. **58**, 293–317 (1995).
- [BJM14] BRUNEAU, L., JOYE, A. and MERKLI, M. : Repeated interactions in open quantum systems. J. Math. Phys. 55, 075204 (2014).
- [BJPP18] BENOIST, T., JAKŠIĆ, V., PAUTRAT, Y. and PILLET, C.-A. : On entropy production of repeated quantum measurements I. General theory. Commun. Math. Phys. 357, 77–123 (2018).
- [Bla57] BLACKWELL, D. : The entropy of functions of finite state Markov chains. In Transactions of the first Prague Conference on Information Theory, Statistical Decision Functions, Random Processes, Publishing House of the Czechoslovak Academy of Sciences, 1957, p. 13–20.
- [Boh51] BOHM, D.: Quantum Theory. Prentice Hall, New York, 1951.
- [BP66] BAUM, L. E. and PETRIE, T. : Statistical inference for probabilistic functions of finite state Markov chains. Ann. Math. Stat. **37**, 1554–1563 (1966).
- [Bry93] BRYC, W. : A remark on the connection between the large deviation principle and the central limit theorem. Stat. & Prob. Lett. **18**, 253–256 (1993).
- [Bur00] BURGER, E. B. : *Exploring the Number Jungle: A Journey into Diophantine Analysis*. Student Mathematical Library, vol. 8, Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS), 2000.
- [BV21] BERGHOUT, S. and VERBITSKIY, E. : On regularity of functions of Markov chains. arXiv preprint (2021), arXiv:2101.00608.
- [BVHJ07] BOUTEN, L., VAN HANDEL, R. and JAMES, M. R. : An introduction to quantum filtering. SIAM J. Control Optim. 46, 2199–2241 (2007).
- [Car10] CARLEN, E. : Trace inequalities and quantum entropy: an introductory course. In Entropy and the Quantum (Ueltschi, D. and Sims, R., eds.), AMS, Providence, Rhode Island, 2010, p. 73–140.

- [CJPS19] CUNEO, N., JAKŠIĆ, V., PILLET, C.-A. and SHIRIKYAN, A. : Large deviations and fluctuation theorem for selectively decoupled measures on shift spaces. Rev. Math. Phys. 31, 1950036 (2019).
- [Com09] COMMAN, H. : Strengthened large deviations for rational maps and full shifts, with unified proof. Nonlinearity **22**, 1413–1429 (2009).
- [Cro08] CROOKS, G. E. : Quantum operation time reversal. Phys. Rev. A 77, 034101 (2008).
- [CTDL77] COHEN-TANNOUDJI, C., DIU, B. and LALOE, F. : *Quantum Mechanics I.* Hermann, Paris, and John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1977.
- [Cun20] CUNEO, N. : Additive, almost additive and asymptotically additive potential sequences are equivalent. Commun. Math. Phys. **377**, 2579–2595 (2020).
- [Dav76] DAVIES, E. B.: Quantum Theory of Open Systems. Academic Press, 1976.
- [DZ98] DEMBO, A. and ZEITOUNI, O. : *Large Deviations Techniques and Applications*. Springer, New York, 1998.
- [EHK78] EVANS, D. E. and HØEGH-KROHN, R. : Spectral properties of positive maps on C*-algebras. J. London Math. Soc. 2, 345–355 (1978).
- [Ell85] ELLIS, R. S. : *Entropy, Large Deviations and Statistical Mechanics*. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 271, Springer, Berlin, 1985.
- [EM02] EPHRAIM, Y. and MERHAV, N. : Hidden Markov processes. IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory **48**, 1518–1569 (2002).
- [Fen09] FENG, D.-J. : Lyapunov exponents for products of matrices and multifractal analysis. Part II: General matrices. Israel J. Math. **170**, 355–394 (2009).
- [FGH19] FRAAS, M., GRAF, G. M. and HÄNGGLI, L. : Indirect measurements of a harmonic oscillator. Ann. H. Poincaré 20, 2937–2970 (2019).
- [FL02] FENG, D.-J. and LAU, K.-S. : The pressure function for products of non-negative matrices. Math. Res. Lett. 9, 363–378 (2002).
- [FNS92] FANNES, M., NACHTERGAELE, B. and SLEGERS, L. : Functions of Markov processes and algebraic measures. Rev. Math. Phys. 4, 39–64 (1992).
- [Har13] HAROCHE, S.: Nobel lecture: Controlling photons in a box and exploring the quantum to classical boundary. Rev. Mod. Phys. **85**, 1083–1102 (2013).
- [HJPR17] HANSON, E. P., JOYE, A., PAUTRAT, Y. and RAQUÉPAS, R. : Landauer's principle in repeated interaction systems. Commun. Math. Phys. **349**, 285–327 (2017).
- [HJPR18] _____: Landauer's principle for trajectories of repeated interaction systems. Ann. H. Poincaré **19**, 1939–1991 (2018).
- [Hol03] HOLEVO, A. S. : *Statistical Structure of Quantum Theory*. vol. 67, Springer Science & Business Media, 2003.
- [HR06] HAROCHE, S. and RAIMOND, J.-M. : *Exploring the Quantum: Atoms, Cavities, and Photons*. Oxford Graduate Texts, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2006.

- [JOPP12] JAKŠIĆ, V., OGATA, Y., PAUTRAT, Y. and PILLET, C.-A. : Entropic fluctuations in quantum statistical mechanics – an introduction. In *Quantum Theory from Small* to Large Scales (Fröhlich, J., Salmhofer, M., Mastropietro, V., de Roeck, W. and Cugliandolo, L., eds.), Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2012.
- [JOPS12] JAKŠIĆ, V., OGATA, Y., PILLET, C.-A. and SEIRINGER, R. : Quantum hypothesis testing and non-equilibrium statistical mechanics. Rev. Math. Phys. 24, 1230002 (2012).
- [JPRB11] JAKŠIĆ, V., PILLET, C.-A. and REY-BELLET, L. : Entropic fluctuations in statistical mechanics: I. Classical dynamical systems. Nonlinearity **24**, 699–763 (2011).
- [JPW14] JAKŠIĆ, V., PILLET, C.-A. and WESTRICH, M. : Entropic fluctuations of quantum dynamical semigroups. J. Stat. Phys. **154**, 153–187 (2014).
- [JSS08] JACQUET, P., SEROUSSI, G. and SZPANKOWSKI, W. : On the entropy of a hidden Markov process. Theoret. Comput. Sci. **395**, 203–219 (2008).
- [Kat95] KATO, T. : *Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators*. Classics in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1995.
- [Khi64] KHINCHIN, A.: Continued Fractions. University of Chicago Press, 1964.
- [KM04] KÜMMERER, B. and MAASSEN, H. : A pathwise ergodic theorem for quantum trajectories. J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **37**, 11889 (2004).
- [Kra83] KRAUS, K.: States, Effects, and Operations: Fundamental Notions of Quantum Theory. vol. 190, Lecture Notes in Physics, no. 190190, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1983.
- [Leb93] LEBOWITZ, J. L. : Macroscopic laws, microscopic dynamics, time's arrow and Boltzmann's entropy. Physica A **194**, 1–27 (1993).
- [LMVV98] LÖRINCZI, J., MAES, C. and VANDE VELDE, K. : Transformations of Gibbs measures. Probab. Theory Relat. Fields 112, 121–147 (1998).
- [Mes62] MESSIAH, A.: Quantum Mechanics II. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1962.
- [MK06] MAASSEN, H. and KÜMMERER, B. : Purification of quantum trajectories. In IMS Lecture Notes Monogr. Ser., vol. 48, Inst. Math. Statist., Beachwood, OH, 2006, p. 252–261.
- [MPW11] MARCUS, B., PETERSEN, K. and WEISSMAN, T. (eds.): Entropy of Hidden Markov Processes and Connections to Dynamical Systems: Papers from the Banff International Research Station Workshop. London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011.
- [Oza84] OZAWA, M. : Quantum measuring processes of continuous observables. J. Math. Phys. **25**, 79–87 (1984).
- [PS18] PFISTER, C.-E. and SULLIVAN, W. G. : Weak Gibbs measures and large deviations. Nonlinearity **31**, 49–53 (2018).
- [Rue04] RUELLE, D.: *Thermodynamic Formalism. The Mathematical Structure of Equilibrium Statistical Mechanics.* Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004.

- [Tak79] TAKESAKI, M. : Theory of Operator Algebras I. Springer, Berlin, 1979.
- [vEFS93] VAN ENTER, A. C. D., FERNÁNDEZ, R. and SOKAL, A. D. : Regularity properties and pathologies of position-space renormalization-group transformations: scope and limitations of Gibbsian theory. J. Stat. Phys. 72, 879–1167 (1993).
- [Ver11] VERBITSKIY, E. : Thermodynamic of hidden Markov processes. In Entropy of Hidden Markov Processes and Connections to Dynamical Systems: Papers from the Banff International Research Station Workshop (Marcus, B., Petersen, K. and Weissman, T., eds.), London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011, p. 258–272.
- [Ver16] _____: Thermodynamics of the binary symmetric channel. Pac. J. Math. Ind. 8:2, (2016).
- [vN55] VON NEUMANN, J. : *Mathematical Foundations of Quantum Mechanics*. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1955.
- [Wal82] WALTERS, P. : *An Introduction to Ergodic Theory*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 79, Springer, Berlin, 1982.
- [Wal86] _____: Relative pressure, relative equilibrium states, compensation function and many-to-one codes between subshifts. Trans. AMS **296**, 1–31 (1986).
- [Wig63] WIGNER, E. P. : The problem of measurement. Am. J. Phys. 31, 6–15 (1963).
- [Win13] WINELAND, D. J. : Nobel lecture: Superposition, entanglement, and raising Schrödinger's cat. Rev. Mod. Phys. **85**, 1103–1114 (2013).
- [Yur02] YURI, M. : Weak Gibbs measures and the local product structure. Ergod. Theory Dyn. Syst. 22, 1933–1955 (2002).